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Amarin Corporation plc
INTRODUCTION
This document comprises the Annual Report and Accounts of Amarin Corporation plc (NASDAQ: AMRN) for the year ended
31 December 2021, in accordance with UK requirements.
As used in this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise indicates, the terms “Group”, “Amarin”, “we”, “us” and “our”
refer to Amarin Corporation plc and its wholly-owned subsidiary companies. Also, as used in this Annual Report, unless the
context otherwise indicates the term “Company” refers to Amarin Corporation plc, the parent company of the Group; Amarin
Neuroscience Limited may be referred to herein as “Amarin Neuroscience”; and Ester Neurosciences Limited may be referred
to herein as “Ester Neurosciences” or “Ester”.
In this Annual Report, references to “pounds sterling,” “£” or “GBP£” are to UK currency; references to “US Dollars”, “$”
or “US$” are to U.S. currency; references to “euro” or “€” are to Euro currency; references to “Swiss franc” or “CHF” are
to Swiss currency and references to “New Israeli Shekel”, “NIS” or “shekel” are to Israeli currency.

STRATEGIC REPORT
Principal activities
Amarin Corporation plc is a public limited company with its stock market listing in the United States (“U.S.”) on the
NASDAQ Global Market. Amarin was originally incorporated in England and Wales as a private limited company on 1 March
1989 under the Companies Act 1985, and re-registered in England as a public limited company on 19 March 1993.
We are a biopharmaceutical company with expertise in omega-3 fatty acids and lipid science focused on the
commercialization and development of therapeutics to improve cardiovascular health and reduce cardiovascular risk.
Our registered office is One New Change, London, EC4M 9AF, England. Our principal executive offices are located at 77
Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Block C, Grand Canal Docklands, Dublin 2, Ireland. Our primary office for our European market
access team, opened in December 2020, is located at Spaces Grafenauweg 8, Zug CH-6300, Switzerland. Our primary office
in the United States is located at 440 Route 22, Bridgewater, NJ 08807.

Review of business
We are a pharmaceutical company focused on the commercialization and development of therapeutics to improve
cardiovascular, or CV, health and reduce CV risk. Our lead product, VASCEPA® (icosapent ethyl) was first approved by the
United States Food and Drug Administration, or U.S. FDA, for use as an adjunct to diet to reduce triglyceride, or TG, levels
in adult patients with severe (≥500 mg/dL) hypertriglyceridemia, or the MARINE indication. We launched VASCEPA in the
United States, or U.S., in January 2013. On 13 December 2019 the U.S. FDA approved an indication and label expansion for
VASCEPA based on the landmark results of our cardiovascular outcomes trial, REDUCE-IT®, or Reduction of Cardiovascular
Events with EPA – Intervention Trial. VASCEPA is the first and only drug approved by the U.S. FDA as an adjunct to
maximally tolerated statin therapy for reducing persistent cardiovascular risk in select high risk-patients, or the REDUCE-IT
indication. On 26 March 2021, the European Commission, or EC, granted approval of the marketing authorization application
in the European Union, or the EU, for VAZKEPA, hereinafter along with the U.S. brand name VASCEPA, collectively
referred to as VASCEPA, which is the first and only EC approved therapy to reduce cardiovascular risk in high-risk statintreated patients with elevated TG levels. On 13 September 2021, we launched VAZKEPA in Germany, representing our first
European launch. On 22 April 2021, we announced that we received marketing authorization from the Medicines and
Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, for VAZKEPA in England, Wales and Scotland to reduce cardiovascular
risk through MHRA’s new ‘reliance’ route following the end of the Brexit transition period. On 25 March 2022, Amarin
received its first national reimbursement in a European country with official confirmation that the Swedish Dental and
Pharmaceutical Benefits Agency, or TLV, approved VAZKEPA for national reimbursement in Sweden.
VASCEPA is currently available by prescription in the U.S., Germany, Canada, Lebanon and the United Arab Emirates.
We are responsible for supplying VASCEPA to all markets in which the branded product is sold, either to and through our
collaborations with third-party companies or by us. Subject to commercial launches in additional countries within Europe and
approval in China, we will be responsible for supplying products to those markets as well. We are not responsible for providing
any generic company with drug product. Geographies outside the United States in which VASCEPA is sold and under
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
Review of business (continued)
regulatory review are not subject to the U.S. patent litigation and judgment described below. No similar litigation involving
potential generic version of VASCEPA is pending outside the United States.
United States
We commenced the commercial launch of VASCEPA in the United States in January 2013 based on the MARINE
indication for VASCEPA. In October 2016, in addition to the original 1-gram capsule size for VASCEPA, we introduced a
smaller 0.5-gram capsule size. The U.S. FDA-approved dosing for VASCEPA continues to be 4 grams per day, and as
expected, the majority of new and existing patients taking VASCEPA continue to be prescribed the 1-gram size VASCEPA
capsule. VASCEPA is sold principally to a limited number of major wholesalers, as well as selected regional wholesalers and
mail order pharmacy providers, or collectively, our distributors or our customers, most of whom in turn resell VASCEPA to
retail pharmacies for subsequent resale to patients and healthcare providers. We employ various medical affairs and marketing
personnel to support our commercialization of VASCEPA.
On 30 March 2020, following conclusion of a trial in late January 2020, the U.S. District Court for the District of
Nevada, or the Nevada Court, issued a ruling in favor of two generic drug companies, Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, Inc., or Dr.
Reddy’s, and Hikma Pharmaceuticals USA Inc., or Hikma, and certain of their affiliates, or, collectively, the Defendants, that
declared as invalid several of our patents covering the MARINE indication for use to reduce severely high triglyceride levels.
We sought appeals of the Nevada Court judgment up to the United States Supreme Court, but we were unsuccessful. Most
recently, on 18 June 2021, we were notified that our petition for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was
denied.
On 22 May 2020, Hikma received U.S. FDA approval to market its generic versions of VASCEPA for the MARINE
indication of VASCEPA as an adjunct to diet to reduce TG levels in adult patients with severe (≥500 mg/dL)
hypertriglyceridemia. In November 2020, Hikma launched their generic version of VASCEPA on a limited scale. On 30
November 2020 we filed a patent infringement lawsuit against Hikma for making, selling, offering to sell and importing
generic icosapent ethyl capsules in and into the United States in a manner that we allege has induced the infringement of
patents covering the use of VASCEPA to reduce specified cardiovascular risk. The earlier abbreviated new drug application,
or ANDA, litigation did not pertain to our patents covering cardiovascular risk reduction. On 25 January 2021 we expanded
the scope of the patent infringement lawsuit to include a health care insurance provider, Health Net, LLC. On 4 January 2022,
the district court hearing the case granted Hikma's motion to dismiss. We intend to appeal the decision of the district court
when permitted and also intend to continue to vigorously pursue our ongoing litigation with Health Net, LLC, but cannot
predict the outcome or the impact on our business.
On 10 August 2020, Dr. Reddy's received U.S. FDA approval to market its generic version for the MARINE indication
of VASCEPA. In June 2021, Dr. Reddy’s launched its generic version of VASCEPA with labeling that is substantially similar
to labeling of the Hikma generic product. On 11 September 2020, Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.'s, or Teva's, ANDA was
approved by the U.S. FDA and on 30 June 2021, Apotex, Inc.'s, or Apotex's, ANDA was approved by the U.S. FDA. In
January 2022, Apotex launched its generic version of VASCEPA with labeling that is substantially consistent with the labeling
of the Hikma and Dr. Reddy's generic product, not the cardiovascular risk reduction indication.
We are responsible for supplying VASCEPA to all markets in which the branded product is sold, including Canada,
Lebanon and the United Arab Emirates where the drug is promoted and sold via collaborations with third-party companies
that compensate us for such supply, and in the United States and Germany where the drug is promoted and sold by us. Subject
to commercial launches in additional countries within Europe and approval in China, we will be responsible for supplying
products to those markets as well. We are not responsible for providing any generic company with drug product. Geographies
outside the United States in which VASCEPA is sold and under regulatory review are not subject to this U.S. patent litigation
and judgment. No similar litigation involving potential generic versions of VASCEPA is pending outside the United States.
We have continued to monitor the effect of COVID-19 and its impact on patient visits to doctors. Our level and type of
promotion has varied during the pandemic based on the determination of whether the cost was justified in light of COVID19's impact at a given time. We anticipate that at-risk patients will increasingly resume visiting their doctors for non-urgent
medical care after they are vaccinated for COVID-19, however, we cannot accurately predict when this resumption in visits
to doctors will occur and, because many patients have multiple medical issues, we cannot predict the degree to which
3
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Review of business (continued)
United States (continued)
healthcare professionals will be proactive in seeking to reduce cardiovascular risk in at-risk patients when these patients
resume visiting their doctors. The timing is likely to vary by geography. In September 2021, to accelerate growth of
VASCEPA in the United States, we announced our Go-to-Market strategy that contains three key strategic priorities:
•

Expanding healthcare provider engagement: Our omnichannel approach which is designed to enhance our reach
to healthcare professionals, and aims to target a far greater number of the almost 700,000 statin prescribers
through high frequency, and tailored messaging regarding the significant benefits of VASCEPA for CV risk
reduction. We plan to optimize our U.S. field force and focus on the most productive territories. As a result, we
reduced our U.S. field force to approximately 300 sales representatives who will remain a critical part of the
commercial strategy going forward.

•

Enhancing managed care access: We continue working with payers in an effort to enhance our managed care
position and further remove barriers to VASCEPA prescriptions to ensure that patients in need of CV risk
reduction receive proper therapy. Importantly, several large Commercial and Medicare Part D payers currently
cover VASCEPA as the exclusive icosapent ethyl product due to its lower net cost compared to generic icosapent
ethyl.

•

Optimizing VASCEPA prescriptions for CV risk reduction: Branded VASCEPA remains the only available U.S.
FDA approved icosapent ethyl medication for CV risk reduction. To prevent improper generic substitution for
this indication, we continue to aggressively educate critical stakeholders in the prescribing continuum to ensure
proper fulfillment at each step. Additionally, we continue to evaluate various innovative solutions designed to
better manage prescriptions for CV risk reduction.

As a result of our Go-to-Market strategy and our omnichannel approach, which we launched in the fourth quarter, we
digitally approached a significant number of physicians across numerous digital channels. In addition, on 1 November 2021,
we partnered with BlinkRx to provide patients an enhanced digital prescription fulfillment channel.
As COVID-19 protocols ease and ordinary course activities continue to resume, we will continue to adjust our
promotional initiatives accordingly, including pursuit of increased face-to-face interactions with healthcare professionals and
expanding various forms of physician and direct-to-patient promotion.
Europe
In December 2019, we announced that the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, validated the marketing authorization
application seeking approval for VAZKEPA. The validation confirmed the submission was sufficiently complete for the EMA
to begin its review. In August 2020, we announced our plans to launch VAZKEPA in major markets in Europe through our
own European sales and marketing team. Such an approach allows us to retain substantially all of the economic potential of
VAZKEPA in Europe and helps ensure that VAZKEPA would get the highest level of priority and focus. On 28 January
2021, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP, of the EMA adopted a positive opinion,
recommending that a marketing authorization be granted to icosapent ethyl in the EU for the reduction of risk of
cardiovascular events in patients at high cardiovascular risk, under the brand name VAZKEPA. On 26 March 2021, the EC
granted approval of the marketing authorization application in the EU.
In Europe, launch of VAZKEPA in individual countries is gated by timing of achieving product reimbursement on a
country-by-country basis as is typical for new drugs. In seeking market access, we have filed ten dossiers in European
countries, including in all of the largest countries in Europe, and expect to file additional dossiers in Europe and select other
parts of the world in the first half of 2022. In most European countries, securing product reimbursement is a requisite to
launching. In certain countries, such as Denmark, individual patient reimbursement is allowed prior to national, general
organization reimbursement. In all countries, securing adequate reimbursement is a requisite for commercial success of any
therapeutic. The time required to secure reimbursement tends to vary from country to country and cannot be reliably
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Review of business (continued)
Europe (continued)
predicted at this time. While we believe that we have strong arguments regarding the cost effectiveness of VAZKEPA, the
success of such reimbursement negotiations could have significant impact on the assessment of the commercial opportunity
of VAZKEPA in Europe. On 25 March 2022 Amarin received its first national reimbursement in an European country with
official confirmation that the TLV approved VAZKEPA for national reimbursement in Sweden.
On 1 September 2021 VAZKEPA was made available in Germany and was included in the country's electronic
prescribing system as of 1 October 2021. The commercial launch in Germany was accompanied by a scientific conference in
Berlin titled, “New therapeutic strategies for residual CV risk management,” which highlighted the scientific underpinnings
and clinical benefits of VASCEPA/VAZKEPA in reducing cardiovascular risk. We are building a digitally native commercial
model balancing optimally digital and face-to-face approach for more impact and cost efficiency, which will also be utilized
as other countries throughout Europe are launched.
In order to launch impactfully in other countries throughout Europe we are building a core team of experienced
professionals and a highly capable commercial team involved with pre-launch planning and other commercial preparation
activities and are leveraging third-party relationships for various support activities. In Europe, patients at high risk for
cardiovascular disease tend, in contrast to the United States, to be treated more often by specialists, such as cardiologists
rather than by physicians who are general practitioners. Privacy laws and other factors impact the availability of data to inform
European commercial operations at an individual physician level. Generally, less data is available and at reduced frequencies
as compared to the United States. However, this greater concentration of at-risk patients being treated by specialists in Europe
should allow for more efficient promotion in Europe than in the United States. In Europe, VAZKEPA has the benefit of ten
years of market protection, and we have been issued a patent that expires in 2033 with additional pending applications that
could extend exclusivity into 2039.
Rest of World
China
In February 2015, we announced an exclusive agreement with Eddingpharm (Asia) Macao Commercial Offshore
Limited, or Edding, to develop and commercialize VASCEPA capsules in what we refer to as the China Territory, consisting
of the territories of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan, for uses that are currently commercialized and under
development by us in the United States. Edding, with our support, conducted a clinical trial of VASCEPA in China, which
evaluated the effect of VASCEPA on patients with very high triglyceride levels (≥500 mg/dL). In November 2020, we
announced statistically significant topline positive results from this Phase 3 clinical trial of VASCEPA conducted by Edding.
The study, which investigated VASCEPA as a treatment for patients with very high triglycerides (≥500 mg/dL), met its
primary efficacy endpoint as defined in the clinical trial protocol and demonstrated a safety profile similar to placebo.
Importantly, the VASCEPA 4 gram per day dose in this study appeared to be well-tolerated with a safety profile similar to
placebo. There were no treatment-related serious adverse events in this study. On 9 February 2021, we announced that the
regulatory review processes in Mainland China and Hong Kong have commenced. The National Medical Products
Administration, or NMPA, has accepted for review the new drug application for VASCEPA, submitted by Edding, based on
the results from the Phase 3 clinical trial and the results from our prior studies of VASCEPA. We expect to receive a decision
from the NMPA in Mainland China in the second half of 2022. On 23 February 2022 the Hong Kong Department of Health
completed their evaluation and approved the use of VASCEPA under the REDUCE-IT indication.
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Middle East and North Africa (MENA)
In March 2016, we entered into an agreement with Biologix FZCo, or Biologix, to register and commercialize
VASCEPA in several Middle Eastern and North African countries. Biologix obtained approval of VASCEPA under the
MARINE and REDUCE-IT indications, and subsequently launched commercially, in the following countries:
Country

Lebanon
United Arab Emirates
Qatar
Bahrain
Kuwait
Saudi Arabia

MARINE

March 2018
July 2018
December 2019
April 2021
December 2021
March 2022

REDUCE-IT

August 2021
October 2021
April 2021

Launch Date

June 2018
February 2019
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

Canada
In September 2017, we entered into an agreement with HLS Therapeutics Inc., or HLS, to register, commercialize and
distribute VASCEPA in Canada. In March 2019, HLS received formal confirmation from Health Canada that the Canadian
regulatory authority has granted priority review status for the upcoming New Drug Submission, which was filed in April
2019, for VASCEPA. In December 2019, HLS received formal confirmation from Health Canada that the Canadian regulatory
authority granted approval for VASCEPA to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events (cardiovascular death, non-fatal
myocardial infarction, non-fatal stroke, coronary revascularization or hospitalization for unstable angina) in statin-treated
patients with elevated triglycerides, who are at high risk of cardiovascular events due to: established cardiovascular disease,
or diabetes, and at least one other cardiovascular risk factor. In January 2020 HLS obtained a regulatory exclusivity
designation and launched commercially in February 2020. In July 2020, the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in
Health recommended that VASCEPA be reimbursed by participating public drug plans for statin-treated patients with
established cardiovascular diseases and elevated triglycerides. HLS also received notification by the Patented Medical Prices
Review Board that, further to its review, VASCEPA’s price did not trigger the investigation criteria for excessive pricing.
Coverage of patients with established cardiovascular disease represents a substantial portion of VASCEPA’s approved label
in Canada. VASCEPA has the benefit of data protection afforded through Health Canada until the end of 2027, in addition to
separate patent protection with expiration dates that could extend into 2039.
Other
We plan to continue to assess other potential partnership opportunities for VASCEPA with partners outside of the
United States and Europe with the intention of partnering in all other international markets. Our plan is to file three waves of
regulatory submissions for approval of VASCEPA in 20 additional countries in order to ensure that patients in the top 50
cardiometabolic markets worldwide can benefit from VASCEPA. We have initiated the first wave of regulatory filings in
2022 and have obtained acceptances of VASCEPA for regulatory reviews in Australia, Israel and New Zealand.
Impact of COVID-19
As of 31 December 2021, according to U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or CDC, data, approximately
60% of the U.S. population has been fully vaccinated, which does not include a booster shot, and approximately 75% of the
U.S. population has received at least one dose of a vaccine. While according to CDC data, the population's vaccination rate
has increased, the number of new cases increased at the end of 2021 and into early 2022, driven by the Omicron variant.
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Our ability to directly promote VASCEPA to healthcare professionals has been limited due to appropriate social
distancing practices associated with COVID-19 and by patients electing to forego visiting their doctors for non-urgent medical
examinations and/or choosing to not get blood tests which the results of these tests provide useful information to the treatment
of cardiovascular risk. These limitations have had a significant impact on slowing VASCEPA prescription and revenue
growth. Although some of these restrictions were lifted throughout parts of 2021, in light of the increase in cases in the fourth
quarter of 2021 due to the Omicron variant and despite the prevalence of the vaccines, many restrictions have been put back
in place and access remains variable and challenging due to COVID-19. While COVID-19 continues to impact our promotion
of VASCEPA, we have seen signs of improvement in access to face-to-face interactions with healthcare providers.
In the United States, prior to the recent surge at the end of 2021, at-risk patients increasingly resumed visiting their
doctors for non-urgent medical care after they are vaccinated for COVID-19 and we anticipate that to continue when the
current surge in cases decreases. We continued to adjust our promotional initiatives throughout 2021 and plan to adjust
throughout 2022, including pursuing increased face-to-face interactions with health care professionals and expanding various
forms of direct-to-patient promotion based on COVID-19 protocols that are in place.
In Europe, the rapid spread of the Omicron variant throughout Europe has led to a significant increase in COVID-19
related patients for healthcare professionals and hospitals. This has limited our access to and ability to directly promote
VAZKEPA to healthcare professionals. We continue to explore other avenues, including digital, to reach and engage
healthcare professionals despite the current restrictions and challenges.
Thus far, while COVID-19 has created some added logistical challenges regarding supply deliveries, these challenges
have been manageable and COVID-19 has not materially impacted our ability to secure and deliver supply of VASCEPA. In
addition, thus far, COVID-19 is not known to have significantly impacted ongoing clinical trials of VASCEPA.
The extent to which COVID-19 impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future
developments, which, despite progress in vaccination efforts, are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence,
including the duration of the outbreak, new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19, such as new
strains of the virus, including the Delta and Omicron variants and any future variants that may emerge, which may impact
rates of infection and vaccination efforts, developments or perceptions regarding the safety of vaccines and the extent and
effectiveness of actions to contain COVID-19 or treat its impact, including vaccination campaigns and lockdown measures,
among others. We are actively monitoring the situation and evaluating the pandemic's effect on patients, distributors,
customers and our employees, as well as on our operations and the operations of our business partners and communities. We
may take precautionary and preemptive or reactive actions that we determine are in the best interests of our business. We
cannot predict the effects that such actions may have on our business or on our financial results, in particular with respect to
demand for or access to VASCEPA.

Financial review
The Group views revenues and cash management as two of its most significant key performance indicators. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Groups revenues decreased to $583.2 million from $614.1 million in the year ended 31
December 2020. This decrease was driven primarily by volume of VASCEPA sales to our customers in the United States,
which was adversely impacted by generic availability in the U.S., as well as timing of sales outside the U.S. Cash inflows
(outflows) from operations increased from a cash outflow of $23.6 million in the year ended 31 December 2020 to a cash
inflow of $53.0 million in the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily as a result of a decrease in product sales as well as
due to costs associated with our expansion into Europe.
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, we reported income before tax of $14.0 million and
loss before tax of $24.8 million, respectively. This increase in income before tax for the year ended 31 December 2021, as
compared to the prior year period, is primarily due to a disciplined expense management program as well as the results of the
implementation of our go-to-market strategy.
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Research and development expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 totaled $29.3 million versus $39.3 million
in the prior year. The share-based payment expense included within research and development totaled $4.3 million and $6.9
million for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively. Research and development expense, excluding noncash charges for share-based compensation expense for the year ended 31 December 2021, decreased by $7.4 million. The
decrease in research and development expense excluding non-cash charges for share-based compensation expense was
primarily driven by a reduction in costs relating to the study to further analyze samples collected from REDUCE-IT patients
as well as the support of various publications and scientific presentations relating to REDUCE-IT. There was also a decrease
in the fees to support international regulatory review of VASCEPA, particularly in Europe, qualification of new suppliers,
including increasing capacity capabilities, and fees for sites used for the manufacture of product used in the REDUCE-IT
clinical outcomes study. In the prior year we also exercised certain rights under our strategic collaboration agreement with
Mochida, resulting in payments of $1.0 million in each of January 2020 and December 2020, respectively.
General and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 totaled $418.0 million versus $467.2 million
in the prior year. General and administrative expenses include share-based payment expense of $28.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, versus $43.6 million in the prior year. General and administrative expense, excluding non-cash
compensation charges for stock compensation, for the year ended 31 December 2021 decreased by $33.7 million, primarily
due to reduction in costs associated with our Go-to-Market strategy resulting in decreased promotional initiatives, reduced
travel and a decrease in our sales force as well as a decrease in promotional activities and direct-to-consumer promotion as a
result of the impact of COVID-19 and our focus on improving the profitability of our operations in the United States The
decrease was offset by an increase in personnel and related costs, predominantly associated with preparing for and
commencing our expansion into Europe.
We are investing in building an appropriate foundation for the successful launch of VAZKEPA throughout Europe,
advancing regulatory filings internationally and continuing our orchestrated omnichannel engagement for VASCEPA in the
U.S. As a result, we will continue to evaluate all of our spending commitments and priorities as well as adjust our level of
education and promotional activities based on various factors, including the impact of COVID-19 and U.S. generic
competition.
The Group had cash and cash equivalents of $223.4 million as of 31 December 2021, representing an increase of
$32.5 million from the cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2020 of $190.9 million. The increase was primarily due
to the proceeds from the maturity of our investment-grade interest bearing instruments as well as the maturity of our royaltybearing instrument with CPPIB in late 2022. This is partially offset by our purchase of securities during 2021 as well as lower
product sales in addition to costs associated with our expansion into Europe.
We believe that our cash and cash equivalents of $223.4 million as of 31 December 2021, together with our short-term
investments of $234.7 million as of 31 December 2021, will be sufficient to fund our projected operations for at least twelve
months and is adequate to achieve positive cash flow from VASCEPA based on our current plans. Inventories on-hand as of
31 December 2021 of $234.7 million are expected to be sufficient to cover the Group’s near-term supply requirements. As
of 31 December 2021, the Group had a retained deficit of $1.3 billion.

New Accounting Standards
The accounting policies during this financial year, and details of the impact of the adoption of new accounting standards
in future financial years, are set out in the Significant Accounting Policies.
During the financial year the group did not adopt new accounting standards.
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Non-Financial Reporting Information Statement
The Companies Act 2006 requires the Company to disclose certain non-financial reporting information within the annual
report and accounts. Accordingly, the disclosures required in the Company’s non-financial information statement can be
found on the following pages in the Strategic report:
•
•
•
•
•

Information on our approach to human rights (page 54)
Information on social matters (page 54)
Information on our Environment Policy (page 53)
Information on our employees (page 54)
Information on diversity (page 54)

Principal risks and uncertainties
Risks Related to the Commercialization and Development of VASCEPA
We are substantially dependent upon VASCEPA (icosapent ethyl), its commercialization in the United States and its
development, launch and commercialization in Europe and other major markets. In the United States, VASCEPA is facing
increasing competition from generic versions of the drug. In Europe, VAZKEPA launched in Germany following approval
from the central regulatory authority and we are in the process of obtaining relevant pricing approvals in various
countries; however, we may not be successful in obtaining such approvals in a timely manner or at all and even if
successfully obtained, we may not be successful in commercializing VAZKEPA in Europe or elsewhere.
The success of our company depends on our ability to successfully commercialize our only product, VASCEPA
(icosapent ethyl) capsules, in major markets globally. In recent years and currently, much of our financial results and revenue
has been dependent on our ability to execute our development and commercial strategy for VASCEPA in the United States.
Generic version of VASCEPA launched in the United States in November 2020, June 2021 and January 2022. We expect that
VASCEPA could face more competition from generic companies in the United States in the near term in light of the patent
litigation rulings against us, applicable only in this territory. Increasing sales of generic versions of VASCEPA could continue
to have a material and adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations in the United States. We implemented a Goto-Market strategy in an effort to optimize provider engagement and drive demand of VASCEPA in the United States by
shifting reliance on sales force interactions with healthcare professionals to providing managed care and prescription access
through an omnichannel platform, and, in connection with this initiative, we reduced our U.S. field force to approximately
300 sales representatives. Although we believe this initiative will provide greater access to VASCEPA and ultimately result
in an improved expense structure, such efforts are costly to implement, could impact employee morale and make hiring and
retaining talented personnel more challenging, and may not result in all or any of the benefits we anticipate.
We continue our development efforts to support commercialization of VASCEPA in major markets outside the United
States. In March 2021 we announced that the European Commission, or the EC, approved the marketing authorization
application for icosapent ethyl, under the brand name VAZKEPA, hereafter along with VASCEPA, collectively referred to
as VASCEPA, to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events in high-risk, statin-treated adult patients who have elevated
triglycerides (≥150 mg/dL) and either established cardiovascular disease or diabetes and at least one additional cardiovascular
risk factor. In September 2021, we launched VAZKEPA in Germany, representing our first European launch. In March 2022,
we received national reimbursement for VAZKEPA in Sweden, representing our first national reimbursement in a European
country. We are in the process of further obtaining pricing and reimbursement approvals for VAZKEPA in relevant
jurisdictions in Europe. This process is conducted on a country-by-country basis and is time-consuming and complex. On 25
March 2022, Amarin received its first national reimbursement in a European country with official confirmation that the
Swedish Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits Agency (TLV) approved VAZKEPA for national reimbursement in Sweden.
We may not be successful in obtaining such approvals in a timely manner with acceptable terms, or in additional countries.
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Risks Related to the Commercialization and Development of VASCEPA (continued)
Our expansion and development of VASCEPA outside the United States is generally not subject to the adverse patent
ruling in the United States. Development outside the United States is primarily based on the second indication approval for
VASCEPA in the United States. That second indication, which we believe has significantly more value potential, is for use
of the drug in the reduction of cardiovascular risk in select high-risk patients.
We have been developing VAZKEPA on our own in Europe for the approved cardiovascular risk reduction indication
and are exploring possible strategic collaborations in smaller markets within Europe and in other major markets. We currently
have multiple partners for the development and commercialization of VASCEPA in select geographies and intend to assess
potential partners to commercialize VASCEPA in other parts of the world. For example, we have strategic collaborations for
the development and commercialization of VASCEPA in Canada, the Middle East and Greater China. However, we cannot
make any guarantees as to the success of these efforts or that our beliefs about the value potential are accurate, and if
commercialization plans for VASCEPA do not meet expectations in major markets such as the United States and Europe, our
business and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
The development and commercial time cycle for VASCEPA or other products that we may develop from our research
and development efforts could result in delays in our ability to achieve commercial success. For example, it took over a decade
of preceding product development before we received marketing approval for VAZKEPA in March 2021 from the EC.
Likewise, if we seek to diversify our development programs or product offerings through licensing or acquisitions, such
transactions are also time-consuming, may be dilutive to existing shareholdings, and can be disruptive to operations. These
transactions may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. These dynamics can restrict our ability to respond rapidly to
adverse business conditions for VASCEPA. If development of, or demand for, VASCEPA does not meet expectations, we
may not have the ability to effectively shift our resources to the development of alternative products, or do so in a timely
manner, without suffering material adverse effects on our business. As a result, the lack of alternative markets and products
we develop could constrain our ability to generate revenues and achieve profitability.
In the United States, we face increasing competition from generic drug companies in the near term and our revenues
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
On 30 March 2020, following conclusion of a trial in late January 2020, the U.S. District Court for the District of
Nevada, or the Nevada Court, issued a ruling in favor of two generic drug companies, Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories, Inc., or Dr.
Reddy’s, and Hikma Pharmaceuticals USA Inc., or Hikma, (formerly known as West-Ward), and certain of their affiliates,
or, collectively, the Defendants, that declared as invalid several patents of ours protecting the first U.S. FDA-approved use of
our drug, for use to reduce severely high triglyceride levels, which is known as the MARINE indication. We sought appeals
of the Nevada Court judgment up to the United States Supreme Court, but, we were unsuccessful.
In November 2020, Hikma launched its generic version of VASCEPA on a limited scale and with a label that reflects
the MARINE indication, and revised labeling based on the results of the REDUCE-IT trial. On 30 November 2020, we filed
a patent infringement lawsuit against a Hikma affiliate for making, selling, offering to sell and importing generic icosapent
ethyl capsules in and into the United States in a manner that we allege has induced the infringement of patents covering the
use of VASCEPA to reduce specified cardiovascular risk. On 25 January 2021 we expanded the scope of this patent
infringement lawsuit to include a health care insurance provider, Health Net, LLC. On 4 January 2022, the district court
hearing the case granted Hikma's motion to dismiss. We intend to appeal the decision of the district court when permitted and
also intend to continue to vigorously pursue our ongoing litigation with Health Net, LLC, but cannot predict the outcome or
the impact on our business.
In June 2021, Dr. Reddy's launched its generic version of VASCEPA with labeling that is substantially similar to
labeling of the Hikma generic product. In addition to ANDAs approved for Hikma and Dr. Reddy’s, on 11 September 2020,
Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc’s., or Teva’s, ANDA was approved by the U.S. FDA. On 30 June 2021, Apotex Inc.'s, or
Apotex's, ANDA was approved by the U.S. FDA. In January 2022, Apotex launched its generic version of VASCEPA with
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labeling that is substantially consistent with the labeling of the Hikma and Dr. Reddy's generic product, not the cardiovascular
risk reduction indication.
The rulings of the Nevada Court and related appeal losses detailed above could permit each of Teva and Apotex to
launch a generic version of VASCEPA under certain circumstances pursuant to their respective settlement agreement with
us. For example, Teva and Apotex settlement agreements permit such companies to launch their generic version of VASCEPA
under royalty-free licenses from us given that our petition for en banc Federal Circuit review was not granted, after issuance
of the Federal Circuit mandate on 12 November 2020. Each generic launch is subject to procurement of adequate product
supply.
Generally, once a generic version of a drug is available in the market, the generic version is typically used in many U.S.
states to fill a prescription for any use of the drug, subject, to state reimbursement laws. Although, in our case, use of generic
versions of VASCEPA, whether with primarily a MARINE indication label or REDUCE-IT indication label, could be further
subject to the potential for patent infringement under certain case law and subject to certain Teva and Apotex settlement
agreement terms, we currently face generic competition from Hikma’s and Dr. Reddy's generic versions of VASCEPA in the
United States, and could face increased competition from these or additional generic entrants in the near term, which could
have a material and adverse impact on our revenues and our results of operations. There can be no assurance that we will be
successful in preventing use of generic versions of VASCEPA in indications for which they have not been approved by U.S.
FDA, even if such use is determined to infringe certain of our patent claims.
Although we continue to believe that VASCEPA is difficult to manufacture and that building capacity to manufacture
VASCEPA would be time-consuming and expensive for generic companies, such as Hikma, Dr. Reddy and Apotex, we do
not have direct visibility into the supply levels of any of the generic companies and we rely on our own experience together
with information from third parties, which information may not be reliable. As such, generic companies could potentially find
or develop sources of qualified VASCEPA supply that are not known to us and that are more efficient or less expensive than
our sources. Furthermore, generic companies could potentially convince our suppliers to prioritize supply to the generic
companies ahead of any applicable contractual commitments to supply us. While we anticipate that our suppliers will honor
their commitments to us, if generic competitors are successful in gaining an advantage in the supply chain, manufacturing
and supply with respect to VASCEPA will suffer and consequentially VASCEPA prescriptions will likely decrease. In
addition, we may need to litigate with such suppliers to protect our rights, which can be costly and distracting to management.
Such circumstances could have a material and adverse impact on our revenues and results of operations directly in the United
States and potentially outside of the United States as well if supply costs and availability are affected or promotion and
education programs reduced.
We have limited experience as a company in commercializing VASCEPA outside of the United States and may be
unsuccessful in developing sales internationally.
While we have been working internally and with partners to support efforts toward approvals and commercialization
outside the United States in light of the REDUCE-IT results and the recent EC approval of VAZKEPA, we may be
unsuccessful in expanding our global footprint. For example, we plan to launch VAZKEPA on our own in the most
commercially significant markets in Europe and launched VAZKEPA in Germany, representing our first European launch.
The commercial launch of a new pharmaceutical product is a complex and resource heavy undertaking for a company to
manage, and we have no prior experience as a company operating a commercial-stage pharmaceutical business in Europe.
Given the amount of time and resources, including capital, needed to support regulatory and commercial efforts aimed at
international expansion, if we are unsuccessful or delayed in generating revenues overseas, our results of operations could be
materially and adversely impacted.
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Factors that could inhibit our efforts to successfully commercialize VASCEPA include:
•

the impact of the expiration of regulatory exclusivities and entry into the market of additional generic versions of
VASCEPA;

•

our inability to attract and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel, particularly in
light of our recent reduction in force;

•

our inability to adequately train our sales and marketing personnel and our inability to adequately monitor
compliance with applicable regulatory and other legal requirements;

•

the inability of our new sales personnel, to obtain access to or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to
prescribe VASCEPA;

•

if our Go-to-Market strategy and omnichannel approach does not provide improved managed care and
prescription access, or if healthcare providers are reluctant or delayed in shifting to the omnichannel platform;

•

regulators may impose restrictions on VASCEPA’s conditions for use, distribution or marketing, and may impose
ongoing requirements for post-market surveillance, post-approval studies or clinical trials, which may be costly
or result in label or other use restrictions;

•

complexities and challenges in connection with pricing and reimbursement, including our ability to secure
adequate reimbursement coverage, which in Europe is almost exclusively covered through public national
funding, and not individual private insurance companies;

•

if we have overestimated the addressable market or are unable to convince healthcare providers to prescribe, or
if patients are unwilling to use, VASCEPA;

•

the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive
disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines;

•

an inability by us or our partners to obtain regulatory and marketing approval or establish marketing channels in
foreign jurisdictions;

•

unforeseen costs and expenses associated with operating a new independent sales and marketing organization;
and

•

the continued impact from COVID-19 on healthcare providers, patients and personnel which may vary
considerably from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, as well as on local restrictions and practices, including the
complexities of having to understand and navigate multiple sets of protocols and the accessibility and rates of
vaccinations in various geographies.

If we experience one or more of the setbacks described above, we may not be able to pursue international regulatory
and commercial efforts in a cost effective manner, or at all, which could cause our stock price to decline.
Our ability to generate meaningful revenues outside of the United States may be limited, including due to the strict
price controls and reimbursement limitations imposed by payors outside of the United States.
Our ability to generate meaningful revenues of VASCEPA outside of the United States is dependent on the availability
and extent of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors. In many markets around the world, these payors, including
government health systems, private health insurers and other organizations, remain focused on reducing the cost of healthcare,
and their efforts have intensified as a result of rising healthcare costs and economic challenges. Drugs remain heavily
scrutinized for cost containment. As a result, payors are becoming more restrictive regarding the use of biopharmaceutical
products and scrutinizing the prices of these products while requiring a higher level of clinical evidence to support the benefits
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such products bring to patients and the broader healthcare system. These pressures are intensified where our products are
subject to competition, including from biosimilars.
In many countries outside the United States, government-sponsored healthcare systems are the primary payors for drugs.
With increasing budgetary constraints and differing views on or challenges in valuing medicines, governments and payors in
many countries are applying a variety of measures to exert downward price pressure. These measures can include mandatory
price controls, price referencing, therapeutic-reference pricing, increases in mandates, incentives for generic substitution and
biosimilar usage and government-mandated price cuts. In this regard, many countries have health technology assessment
organizations that use formal economic metrics such as cost-effectiveness to determine prices, coverage and reimbursement
of new therapies; and these organizations are expanding in established and emerging markets. Many countries also limit
coverage to populations narrower than the regulatory agency approved product label or impose volume caps to limit
utilization. We expect that countries will continue to take aggressive actions to seek to reduce expenditures on drugs.
Similarly, fiscal constraints may also affect the extent to which countries are willing to approve new and innovative therapies
and/or allow access to new technologies.
The dynamics and developments discussed above serve to create pressure on the pricing and potential usage of our
products and the industry. Given the diverse interests in play among payors, biopharmaceutical manufacturers, policy makers,
healthcare providers and independent organizations, if and whether the parties involved can achieve alignment on the matters
discussed above remains unclear and the outcome of any such alignment is difficult to predict. We are committed to working
with the entire healthcare community to ensure continued innovation and to facilitate patient access to needed medicines;
however, if reimbursement of VASCEPA is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory
levels, our ability to successfully commercialize VASCEPA outside of the United States may be harmed, which could have a
material and negative impact on our overall business.
Government and commercial payor actions outside the United States have affected and will continue to affect access
to and sales of our products
Outside the United States, we expect countries will continue to take actions to reduce their drug expenditures.
International reference pricing, or IRP, has been widely used by many countries outside the United States to control costs
based on an external benchmark of a product’s price in other countries. IRP policies can change quickly and frequently and
may not reflect differences in the burden of disease, indications, market structures, or affordability differences across countries
or regions. In addition, countries may refuse to reimburse or may restrict the reimbursed population for a product when their
national health technology assessments do not consider a medicine to demonstrate sufficient clinical benefit beyond existing
therapies or to meet certain cost effectiveness thresholds. Some countries also allow additional rebates or discounts to be
negotiated. The outcome of such negotiations can be uncertain and could become publicly disclosed in the future. Some
countries decide on reimbursement between potentially competing products through national or regional tenders that often
result in one product receiving most or all of the sales in that country or region. Thus, there can be no certainty that we will
negotiate satisfactory reimbursement or pricing rates in markets outside the United States in a timely manner, or at all, or even
if we are successful in obtaining satisfactory coverage and reimbursement, we may be unsuccessful in sustaining such
coverage and reimbursement, or could face challenges as to the timeliness or certainty of payment by payors to physicians
and other providers, which would have a material and adverse impact on our commercialization efforts outside of the United
States. Furthermore, despite having skilled and experienced individuals deployed in such efforts, we as an organization have
limited experience in navigating the pricing and reimbursement regimes, outside of the United States, which foreign regimes
are varied and complex, which might hinder our effectiveness in establishing satisfactory pricing, coverage and
reimbursement levels in a timely manner or at all.
Factors outside of our control may make it more difficult for VASCEPA to achieve market acceptance by physicians,
patients, healthcare payors and others in the medical community at levels sufficient to meet our expectations for
commercial success.
In January 2013, we launched VASCEPA based on the U.S. FDA approval of our MARINE indication, for use as an
adjunct to diet to reduce triglyceride levels in adult patients with severe (TG >500 mg/dL) hypertriglyceridemia. Guidelines
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for the management of very high triglyceride levels suggest that the primary goal of reducing triglyceride levels in this patient
population is reduction in the risk of acute pancreatitis. A secondary goal for this patient population is to reduce cardiovascular
risk. The effect of VASCEPA on the risk for pancreatitis in patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia has not been determined
and our U.S. FDA-approved labeling and promotional efforts state this fact.
In September 2018, we announced topline results from the REDUCE-IT®, or Reduction of Cardiovascular Events with
EPA—Intervention Trial cardiovascular outcomes study of VASCEPA. In November 2018, we announced the primary results
of our REDUCE-IT cardiovascular outcomes study confirming 25% relative risk reduction for the topline primary endpoint
result with multiple robust demonstrations of efficacy, including 20% reduction in cardiovascular death. REDUCE-IT was a
multinational, prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study, enrollment for which started in November
2011. REDUCE-IT investigated the effects of VASCEPA on CV risk in statin-treated adults with well-controlled LDL-C 41100 mg/dL (median baseline LDL-C: 75 mg/dL) and other CV risk factors, including persistent elevated TG 150-499 mg/dL
(median baseline TG: 216 mg/dL). REDUCE-IT topline results showed the trial met its primary endpoint demonstrating an
approximately 25% relative risk reduction, to a high degree of statistical significance (p<0.001), in MACE in the intent-totreat patient population with use of VASCEPA 4 grams day as compared to placebo. MACE events were defined as a
composite of cardiovascular death, nonfatal myocardial infarction (MI), nonfatal stroke, coronary revascularization, or
unstable angina requiring hospitalization. This result was supported by robust demonstrations of efficacy across multiple
secondary endpoints. VASCEPA was well tolerated in REDUCE-IT with a safety profile generally consistent with clinical
experience associated with omega-3 fatty acids and current U.S. FDA-approved labeling.
In December 2019, the U.S. FDA approved another indication and label expansion for VASCEPA as an adjunct to
statin therapy to reduce the risk of MACE events in adult patients with elevated TG levels (≥150 mg/dL) and established
cardiovascular disease or diabetes mellitus and two or more additional risk factors for cardiovascular disease.
Despite U.S. FDA approval for this indication and expanded label for VASCEPA, we may not meet expectations for
market acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payors and others in the medical community for this approved use,
especially in light of our unsuccessful appeals efforts. If VASCEPA does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we
may not generate product revenues sufficient to become profitable on an ongoing basis. The degree of market acceptance of
VASCEPA for its approved indications and uses or otherwise will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

the impact of and outcome of pending patent litigation;

•

the commercialization and pricing of any current or potential generic versions of VASCEPA;

•

the perceived efficacy and safety of VASCEPA by prescribing healthcare professionals and patients, as compared
to no treatment and as compared to alternative treatments in various at-risk patient populations;

•

peer review of different elements of REDUCE-IT results over time;

•

continued review and analysis of the results of REDUCE-IT by regulatory authorities internationally;

•

our ability to offer VASCEPA for sale at competitive prices;

•

convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

•

the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

•

the scope, effectiveness and strength of product education, marketing and distribution support, including our sales
and marketing team and the success of our omnichannel platform;

•

publicity concerning VASCEPA or competing products;

•

our ability to continually promote VASCEPA in the United States consistent with and outside of U.S. FDAapproved labeling and the related perception thereof;

•

sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement for VASCEPA and its prescribed uses, on-label and off-label;
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•

natural disasters, including pandemics such as COVID-19 and political unrest that could inhibit our ability to
promote VASCEPA regionally and that could negatively affect product demand by creating obstacles for patients
to seek treatment and fill prescriptions;

•

new policies or laws affecting VASCEPA sales, such as state and federal efforts to affect drug pricing and provide
or remove healthcare coverage that includes reimbursement for prescription drugs; and

•

the actual and perceived efficacy of the product and the prevalence and severity of any side effects and warnings
in VASCEPA’s approved labeling internationally.

For example, two major factors that affect market use of prescription drugs are their perceived cost-effectiveness and
the breadth of their use among different patient populations, both on-label and off-label. In October 2019, the Institute for
Clinical and Economic Review, or ICER, released its final evidence report regarding clinical effectiveness and economic
impacts on VASCEPA. The conclusion from the report is that VASCEPA easily met even the most stringent “commonly
cited thresholds for cost-effectiveness and therefore represent(s) a high long-term value for money,” based on the
organization’s value assessment framework. As part of the public meeting held by ICER analyzing REDUCE-IT data, the
ICER review committee discussed whether, based on REDUCE-IT, VASCEPA should be considered for use in patients as
an add-on to statin therapy generally, and not just in patients with persistent elevated triglyceride levels after statin therapy,
which ICER defined as triglyceride levels of at least 135 mg/dL. Use as an add-on to statin therapy generally represents a
larger patient population than studied in REDUCE-IT and larger than covered by U.S. FDA-approved labeling. By contrast,
U.S. FDA-approved labeling for VASCEPA reflects limitations such as use in patients with persistent elevated triglyceride
levels defined as triglyceride levels of at least 150 mg/dL after statin therapy and specific criteria designed to ensure the
patient populations approved for use had sufficiently high degrees of CV risk. While the clinical judgment of prescribing
physicians is the most important factor that determines the breadth of a drug’s use in the United States and often results in
prescriptions in patient populations that go beyond U.S. FDA labeling, U.S. FDA-approved labeling that is more closely tied
to the patient population studied in a clinical trial could limit use generally and could make reimbursement more difficult.
The continued scale, scope and duration of business interruptions caused by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic are
uncertain as the impact of the pandemic continues to cause negative effects on our business.
The global spread of COVID-19, has created significant volatility, uncertainty and disruption in healthcare, social,
supply and economic infrastructures. The extent to which the coronavirus pandemic will continue to impact our business,
operations and financial results will depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to accurately predict or
plan around, including:
•

the duration, volatility and scope of the pandemic and the efficacy of recovery efforts;

•

governmental, business and individuals’ actions that have been and continue to be taken in response to the
pandemic;

•

the impact of the pandemic on economic and political activity and actions taken in response;

•

the effect on patients, healthcare providers and business partners, including patients’ ability to access supplies of
VASCEPA and the willingness of patients to visit doctors for non-urgent medical examination or to visit labs for
blood tests to assess biomarkers such as lipid levels;

•

our ability to commercialize VASCEPA, including as a result of ongoing travel restrictions, social distancing and
other containment measures or the restoration of such measures;

•

the enrolment or monitoring of patients in clinical trials, particularly at clinical trial sites located in highly
impacted jurisdictions and jurisdictions where vaccination rates are low;
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•

the ability to access, secure and otherwise obtain and deliver sufficient and timely commercial or clinical supplies
of VASCEPA at reasonable prices and sufficient to meet demand if the production capabilities of suppliers is
disrupted;

•

disruptions in regulatory oversight and actions if regulators and industry professionals continue to expend
significant and unexpected resources addressing COVID-19;

•

the availability of coverage and reimbursement from government and health administration authorities, private
health insurers and other third-party payors if the system continues to be overly strained;

•

the ability of regulators to complete inspections and reviews of operations and applications, respectively, in a
timely manner; and

•

any further, prolonged or reinstated closures of our and our partners’ offices, operations and facilities impeding
our ability to work together as a company and with our business and healthcare partners.

To comply with travel restrictions, social distancing, quarantines and other containment measures implemented in
various geographies, in March 2020, we suspended field based face-to-face interactions. Although by the end of summer of
2020, substantially all of our field force personnel had the ability to resume face-to-face customer interactions, in a manner
consistent with state and local guidance, limitations on such interactions have been imposed. As variants emerge and as
vaccine protocols develop, face-to-face interactions are challenging for us to predict and the number of patient visits to
doctors’ offices and patients undergoing blood testing remains down considerably from pre-COVID-19 levels. In September
2021, to optimize provider engagement and drive demand for VASCEPA in the United States and to counteract the changing
engagement dynamics, including those introduced as a result of COVID-19, we announced our Go-to-Market strategy which
incorporates omnichannel communications with healthcare providers. The circumstances surrounding COVID-19 vary
geographically and vary over time, with continued risk of resurgences in COVID-19 cases, and reinstitution of protocols, in
various geographies and as the efficacy of the vaccine on various strains remains uncertain. While we have supplemented our
face-to-face interactions with virtual outreach and our omnichannel platform, these efforts may not be as impactful as
traditional, in-person interactions. Specifically, access to healthcare professionals through the internet or other channels, may
not be as productive as in-person interactions.
Although we have a geographically diversified supply chain for VASCEPA and believe we have sufficient inventory
on hand at pharmacies throughout the United States and other markets where it is approved for sale, and at various stages of
manufacturing with our suppliers, the global spread of the pandemic and containment measures has been unprecedented and
could have a negative impact on the availability of VASCEPA at various points in our supply chain, including limiting the
ability of new suppliers to be inspected, which would have a material and adverse effect on our business. Since the beginning
of the COVID-19 pandemic, three vaccines for COVID-19 have received Emergency Use Authorization by the U.S. FDA
and two of those later received marketing approval. Additional vaccines may be authorized or approved in the future. The
ongoing demand for vaccines, including boosters, and potential for manufacturing facilities and materials to be commandeered
under the Defense Production Act of 1950, or equivalent foreign legislation, may make it more difficult to obtain materials
or manufacturing slots for the products needed for our commercial product, which could lead to issues with our commercial
supply.
The disruptions associated with the coronavirus pandemic could also delay the timing of a determination on our ability
to seek legal remedies as travel, operational resources and personnel are disrupted or slow to resume pre-pandemic levels,
with respect to our efforts and capabilities, as well as those of our advisors and the courts. The disruptions associated with the
coronavirus pandemic could delay the potential timing of subsequent steps for the launch of commercialization of VAZKEPA
in Europe, including plans to hire additional employees in Europe. Additionally, COVID-19 has already and could continue
to limit our ability to have access with healthcare professionals to help educate them regarding VAZKEPA so that they are
more likely to prescribe it to their at-risk patients. And, similar to our experience in the United States, the effects of COVID19 and social distancing considerations may reduce the frequency at which at-risk patients seek non-urgent preventative
medical care.
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As with any cardiovascular outcomes trial, over time further data assessment related to REDUCE-IT by international
regulatory authorities or otherwise could yield additional useful information to inform greater understanding of study
outcome. If the additional data or related interpretations do not meet expectations, the perception of REDUCE-IT results
and VASCEPA revenue potential may suffer and our stock price may decline.
In December 2019, the U.S. FDA approved another indication and label expansion for VASCEPA as an adjunct to
statin therapy to reduce the risk of MACE events in adult patients with elevated TG levels (≥150 mg/dL) and established
cardiovascular disease or diabetes mellitus and two or more additional risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Even though
U.S. FDA has approved VASCEPA for this expanded label and indication based on the REDUCE-IT results, additional data
assessment by international regulatory authorities or otherwise could yield additional useful information to inform greater
understanding of study outcome. Generally, trial data assessment sufficient to convey a complete picture of trial outcome can
take years to complete and publish. When new data are assessed and released or presented it could exceed, match or may not
meet investor expectations.
In addition, the same set of data can sometimes be interpreted to reach different conclusions, as when Health Canada
approved an indication based on REDUCE-IT data that was different in certain respects than that approved by U.S. FDA and
by the EC in Europe. It is possible the scope of subsequent regulatory approvals, if any, could likewise differ based on the
same data. Conflicting interpretations of data, or new data, could impact public and medical community perception of the
totality of the efficacy and safety data from REDUCE-IT.
Regulatory authorities and medical guideline committees outside of the United States and Europe may consider the
following additional factors, which could lead to evaluations of the totality of the efficacy and safety data from REDUCE-IT
that differ from those of the U.S. FDA or the EC:
•

the magnitude of the treatment benefit and related risks on the primary composite endpoint, its components,
secondary endpoints and the primary and secondary risk prevention cohorts;

•

consideration of which components of the composite or secondary endpoints have the most clinical significance;

•

the consistency of the primary and secondary outcomes;

•

the consistency of findings across cohorts and important subgroups;

•

safety considerations and risk/benefit considerations (such as those related to adverse events, including bleeding
and atrial fibrillation generally and in different sub-populations);

•

consideration of REDUCE-IT results in the context of other clinical studies;

•

consideration of the cumulative effect of VASCEPA in studied patients; and

•

study conduct and data quality, integrity and consistency, including aspects such as analyses regarding the placebo
used in REDUCE-IT and other studies of VASCEPA and its impact, if any, on the reliability of clinical data.

If regulatory authorities and medical guideline committees outside of the United States and Europe draw conclusions
that differ from those of the U.S. FDA or the EC, the U.S. FDA or the EC could reevaluate its conclusions as to the safety
and efficacy of VASCEPA. Likewise, if additional data or analyses released from time to time do not meet expectations, the
perception of REDUCE-IT results and the perceived and actual value of VASCEPA may suffer. In these instances our revenue
and business could suffer and our stock price could significantly decline.
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Ongoing clinical trials or new clinical data involving VASCEPA and similar moderate-to-high doses of
eicosapentaenoic acid or icosapent ethyl could influence public perception of VASCEPA’s clinical profile and the
commercial and regulatory prospects of VASCEPA.
Ongoing trials of moderate-to-high doses of VASCEPA and icosapent ethyl, or a similar eicosapentaenoic acid product
could provide further information on the effects of VASCEPA and its commercial and regulatory prospects.
For example, the Randomized Trial for Evaluation in Secondary Prevention Efficacy of Combination Therapy–Statin
and EPA (RESPECT-EPA; UMIN Clinical Trials Registry number, UMIN000012069) is a study examining Japanese patients
with chronic coronary artery disease receiving LDL-C lowering treatment by statin therapy. Patients will be randomized to
either a control group (standard treatment) or EPA group (standard treatment plus 1.8 grams day of eicosapentaenoic acid),
to examine the effects of a different formulation of icosapent ethyl than VASCEPA on the incidence of cardiovascular events.
The relationship between the ratio of EPA to arachidonic acid and incidence of events will also be examined. Results from
this study are expected in the second half of 2022, though the study and results are not under the Company's control and may
be delayed as a result of COVID-19 impacts.
In November 2020, we announced statistically significant topline results from a Phase 3 clinical trial of VASCEPA,
conducted by our partner in China, Eddingpharm (Asia) Macao Commercial Offshore Limited, or Edding, which investigated
VASCEPA as a treatment for patients with very high triglycerides (≥500 mg/dL). Even though such results are similar to the
results of the MARINE study, additional clinical development efforts may be necessary in this market to demonstrate the
effectiveness of VASCEPA in reducing major adverse cardiovascular events in Chinese patients with persistent
cardiovascular risk.
We have also funded investigational studies on the use of VASCEPA in the setting of COVID-19 infection. On 12
December 2020, we announced at the National Lipid Association Scientific Sessions 2020 positive clinical results from the
CardioLink-9 Trial, the first results of a study of VASCEPA in COVID-19 infected outpatients. Results from the investigator
sponsored study in Argentina called PREPARE-IT-1 were presented by the lead trial investigator at the European Society of
Cardiology on 29 August 2021 and the results did not meet the primary and/or other endpoints studied. Results from the
investigator sponsored study in Argentina called PREPARE-IT-2 were presented by the lead trial investigator at the American
Heart Association Scientific Sessions in November 2021 and the results did not meet the primary and/or other endpoints
studied. Results from the other investigational study, called MITIGATE, is expected during 2022.
If the outcomes of one or more of these studies do not meet expectations, the perception of existing clinical results of
VASCEPA, such as MARINE or REDUCE-IT, or the perceived clinical profile and commercial value of VASCEPA and its
regulatory status may suffer. If this occurs our revenue and business could suffer and our stock price could significantly
decline.
Our current and planned commercialization efforts, including our implemented Go-to-Market strategy, may not be
successful in increasing sales of VASCEPA in the United States and developing sales internationally.
If we are not successful in maintaining a sales force that is rightsized for our efforts to market and sell VASCEPA in
the United States, including in light of our Go-to-Market strategy, including our omnichannel approach and reduced sales
force, our anticipated revenues or our expenses could be materially and negatively affected, and we may not obtain
profitability, may need to cut back on research and development activities or implement other cost-containment measures, or
we may need to raise additional funding that could result in substantial dilution or impose considerable restrictions on our
business.
Given the dynamics related to COVID-19, we cannot predict when we will be able to substantially resume and sustain
our business efforts, or how those efforts will be impacted in the long term. While we have supplemented traditional face-toface interactions with virtual outreach, including our omnichannel platform, these efforts may not be as successful as inperson interactions. Specifically, access to healthcare professionals through digital or other channels, may not be as productive
as in-person interactions in promoting use of VASCEPA. We continued to adjust our promotional initiatives, including
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pursuing increased face-to-face interactions with health care professionals and expanding various forms of direct-to-patient
promotion based on COVID-19 protocols that are in place. Such efforts are costly and there can be no assurance that they will
result in an increase in VASCEPA prescriptions and sales in the near future, or at all.
Our promotion and supply of VASCEPA is subject to regulatory scrutiny and associated risk.
The federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, has been interpreted by the U.S. FDA and the U.S. government
to make it illegal for pharmaceutical companies to promote their U.S. FDA-approved products for uses that have not been
approved by the U.S. FDA. Companies that market drugs for off-label uses or indications have been subject to related costly
litigation, criminal penalties and civil liability under the FDCA and the FCA. However, case law over the last several years
has called into question the extent to which government in the United States, including the U.S. FDA, can, and is willing to
seek to, prevent truthful and non-misleading speech related to off-label uses of U.S. FDA-approved products such as
VASCEPA.
In May 2015, we and a group of independent physicians filed a lawsuit against the U.S. FDA seeking a federal court
declaration that would permit us and our agents to promote to healthcare professionals the use of VASCEPA in the ANCHOR
population and promote on the potential of VASCEPA to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease so long as the promotion
is truthful and non-misleading. This use of VASCEPA at issue reflected recognized medical practice at the time but was not
approved by the U.S. FDA and was thus not covered by then U.S. FDA-approved labeling for the drug. Promotion of an offlabel use has generally been considered by the U.S. FDA to be illegal under the FDCA. The lawsuit, captioned Amarin
Pharma, Inc., et al. v. Food & Drug Administration, et al., 119 F. Supp. 3d 196 (S.D.N.Y. 2015), was filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York. In the lawsuit, we contended principally that U.S. FDA regulations
limiting off-label promotion of truthful and non-misleading information are unconstitutional under the freedom of speech
clause of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution as applied in the case of our proposed promotion of VASCEPA. The
physicians in the suit regularly treated patients at risk of cardiovascular disease and, as the complaint contended, have First
Amendment rights to receive truthful and non-misleading information from Amarin. The suit was based on the principle that
better informed physicians make better treatment decisions for their patients. The U.S. FDA opposed this lawsuit but did not
dispute the veracity of the subject ANCHOR clinical trial data (the safety data from which was already and currently is in
U.S. FDA-approved labeling of VASCEPA) or the peer-reviewed research related to VASCEPA and the potential for
cardiovascular risk reduction.
In August 2015, we were granted preliminary relief in this lawsuit through the court’s declaratory judgment that
confirmed we may engage in truthful and non-misleading speech promoting the off-label use of VASCEPA to healthcare
professionals, i.e., to treat patients with persistently high triglycerides, and that such speech may not form the basis of a
misbranding action under the FDCA. In August 2015, we began to communicate promotional information beyond the
MARINE indication to healthcare professionals in the United States as permitted by this court declaration. The U.S. FDA did
not appeal the court’s ruling. In March 2016, we settled this litigation under terms by which the U.S. FDA and the U.S.
government agreed to be bound by the conclusions from the federal court order that we may engage in truthful and nonmisleading speech promoting the off-label use of VASCEPA and that certain statements and disclosures that we proposed to
make to healthcare professionals were truthful and non-misleading. As part of the settlement, given, as expressed in the court’s
opinion, that the dynamic nature of science and medicine is that knowledge is ever-advancing and that a statement that is fair
and balanced one day may become incomplete or otherwise misleading in the future as new studies are done and new data is
acquired, we agreed that we bear the responsibility to ensure that our communications regarding off-label use of VASCEPA
remain truthful and non-misleading, consistent with the federal court ruling.
While we believe we are now permitted under applicable law to more broadly promote VASCEPA, the U.S. FDAapproved labeling for VASCEPA did not change as a result of this litigation and settlement, and neither government nor other
third-party coverage or reimbursement to pay for the off-label use of VASCEPA promoted under the court declaration was
required. In addition to claims classically considered to be on-label based on our expanded label for VASCEPA based on the
REDUCE-IT results, we proactively communicate information related to VASCEPA in a manner that we believe is truthful
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and non-misleading and thus protected under the freedom of speech clause of the First Amendment to the United States
Constitution.
Promotional activities in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries generally are subject to considerable
regulatory scrutiny and, even though we have the benefit of a final settlement in this litigation, our efforts may be subject to
enhanced scrutiny to ensure that our promotion remains within the scope covered by the settlement. For example, under the
settlement, we remain responsible for ensuring our speech is truthful and non-misleading, which is subject to a considerable
amount of judgment. We, the U.S. FDA, the U.S. government, our competitors and other interested parties may not agree on
the truthfulness and non-misleading nature of our promotional materials. Federal and state governments or agencies may also
seek to find other means to prevent our promotion of unapproved truthful and non-misleading information about VASCEPA.
In June 2020, we received a civil investigative demand, or CID, from the U.S. Department of Justice, or the DOJ,
informing us that the DOJ is investigating whether aspects of our promotional speaker programs and copayment waiver
program during the period from 1 January 2015 to the present violated the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute and the U.S. Civil
False Claims Act, or the FCA, in relation to the sale and marketing of VASCEPA by us and our previous co-marketing partner,
Kowa Pharmaceuticals America, Inc., or Kowa America. Similarly, in March 2021, the United States Federal Trade
Commission, or the FTC, issued a CID to us in connection with the FTC’s investigation of whether we have engaged in, or
are engaging in, anticompetitive practices or unfair methods of competition relating to VASCEPA. The New York State
attorney general similarly issued a subpoena to us regarding the same subject matter on which the FTC CID is focused. The
inquiries require us to produce documents and answer written questions, or interrogatories, relevant to specified time periods.
We are cooperating with the government. We cannot predict when these investigations will be resolved, the outcome of the
investigations or their potential impact on our business. Such investigations can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect
and disrupt our business. If the government determines that we have violated the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, the FCA or
antitrust regulations, we could be subject to significant civil and criminal fines and penalties.
If our promotional activities or other operations are found to be in violation of any law or governmental regulation
through existing or new interpretations, we may be subject to prolonged litigation, penalties, including civil and criminal
penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Also, if governmental parties or our
competitors view our claims as misleading or false, we could be subject to liability based on fair competition-based statutes,
such as the Lanham Act. Any allegations that our promotional activities are not truthful or misleading, even allegations
without merit, could cause reputational harm and adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of
operations.
We may not be able to compete effectively against our competitors’ pharmaceutical products. Further, results of
trials for similar or competing products could have a negative impact on the perceived safety and efficacy of VASCEPA,
which could have a materially adverse impact on sales of VASCEPA.
The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are highly competitive. There are many pharmaceutical companies,
biotechnology companies, public and private universities and research organizations actively engaged in the research and
development of products that may be similar to our product. It is probable that the number of companies seeking to develop
products and therapies similar to VASCEPA will increase. Many of these and other existing or potential competitors may
have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than we do and may be better equipped to develop,
manufacture and market products. These companies may develop and introduce products and processes competitive with,
more efficient than or superior to ours. In addition, other technologies or products may be developed that have an entirely
different approach or means of accomplishing the intended purposes of our products, which might render our technology and
products noncompetitive or obsolete.
Our competitors include large, well-established pharmaceutical and generic companies, specialty and generic
pharmaceutical sales and marketing companies, and specialized cardiovascular treatment companies. With generic versions
of VASCEPA launched in the U.S. by Hikma in November 2020, Dr. Reddy's in June 2021 and Apotex in January 2022, and
with the potential for further generic versions being launched, it may not be viable for us to continue to invest in market
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education to grow the market and our ability to maintain current promotional efforts and attract favorable commercial terms
in several aspects of our business will likely be adversely affected as we face increased generic competition, or if we launch
our own generic version of VASCEPA.
Woodward Pharma Services LLC currently sells Lovaza®, which it acquired from GlaxoSmithKline plc in the third
quarter of 2021. Lovaza® a prescription-only omega-3 fatty acid indicated for patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia, was
approved by the U.S. FDA in 2004 and has been on the market in the United States since 2005. Multiple generic versions of
Lovaza are available in the United States. Other large companies with competitive products include AbbVie, Inc., which
currently sells Tricor® and Trilipix® for the treatment of severe hypertriglyceridemia and Niaspan®, which is primarily used
to raise high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, or HDL-C, but is also used to lower triglycerides. Multiple generic versions of
Tricor, Trilipix and Niaspan are also available in the United States. We compete with these drugs, and in particular, multiple
low-cost generic versions of these drugs, in our U.S. FDA-approved indicated uses, even though such products do not have
U.S. FDA approval to reduce CV risk on top of statin therapy.
In addition, in April 2014, Omtryg (omega-3-acid ethyl esters A) capsules, a free fatty acid form of omega-3 (comprised
of 50% EPA and 40% DHA), developed by Trygg Pharma AS, received U.S. FDA approval for severe hypertriglyceridemia.
Omtryg has not been commercially launched, but could launch at any time.
AstraZeneca conducted a long-term outcomes study to assess Statin Residual Risk Reduction With EpaNova in HiGh
Cardiovascular Risk PatienTs With Hypertriglyceridemia, or STRENGTH. The study was a randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled (corn oil), parallel group design that is believed to have enrolled approximately 13,000 patients with
hypertriglyceridemia and low HDL and high risk for cardiovascular disease randomized 1:1 to either corn oil plus statin or
Epanova plus statin, once daily. On 13 January 2020 following the recommendation of an independent Data Monitoring
Committee, AstraZeneca decided to close the STRENGTH trial due to its low likelihood of demonstrating benefit to patients
with mixed dyslipidemia who are at increased risk of cardiovascular disease. Full data from the STRENGTH trial was
presented at the AHA's Scientific Sessions in November 2020, confirming that Epanova failed to meet the primary endpoint
of CV risk reduction, and published in Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA) in December 2020. In addition,
in March 2017, Kowa Research Institute (a subsidiary of the Japanese company Kowa Co., Ltd) initiated a Phase 3
cardiovascular outcomes trial titled PROMINENT examining the effect of pemafibrate (experimental name K-877) in
reducing cardiovascular events in type 2 diabetic patients with hypertriglyceridemia. In April 2022, Kowa Research Institute
announced the decision to not continue the PROMINENT study as the primary endpoint was unlikely to be met.
During 2018, two outcomes studies were completed of omega-3 mixtures which both failed to achieve their primary
endpoints of cardiovascular risk reduction and two meta-analyses were published showing that omega-3 mixtures of are not
effective in lowering cardiovascular risk. Results of these failed outcomes studies, as described below and analysis, while not
done with VASCEPA, may negatively affect sales of VASCEPA if omega-3 mixtures are broadly viewed as ineffective.
For example, results of one of these two studies, the VITamin D and OmegA-3 TriaL, or VITAL, as announced
immediately before the presentation of REDUCE-IT results at the 2018 Scientific Sessions of the AHA on 10 November
2018, failed to achieve its primary endpoint of lowering cardiovascular events. VITAL was an NIH funded randomized
double-blind, placebo-controlled, 2x2 factorial trial of 2000 IU per day of vitamin D3 and 1 gram per day of omega-3 fatty
acid mixture supplementation (Lovaza) for the primary prevention of cancer and cardiovascular disease in a nationwide USA
cohort of 25,874 adults not selected for elevated cardiovascular or cancer risk.
Likewise, in 2018, results from the other outcome study, A Study of Cardiovascular Events iN Diabetes (ASCEND)
trial were released and showed negligible results for omega-3 fatty acid mixtures 1 gram daily. ASCEND was a British Heart
Foundation funded 2x2 factorial design, randomized study to assess whether aspirin 100 mg daily versus placebo and
separately, omega-3 fatty acid mixtures 1 gram daily versus placebo, reduce the risk of cardiovascular events in a nationwide
United Kingdom, or UK, cohort of over 15,000 individuals with diabetes who do not have ASCVD.
In a meta-analysis, presented in 2018 by the Cochrane Foundation and separately as published in JAMA, additional
omega-3 studies were evaluated. Similar to the VITAL and ASCEND studies, most of the studies in these omega-3 metaanalyses were of omega-3 mixtures, including DHA, and most were studies of relatively low doses of omega-3 as is associated
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with dietary supplementation and/or they studied relatively low risk patient populations. The exception was the JELIS study,
conducted in Japan, of highly pure EPA which showed a positive outcome benefit but had significant limitations in its
application to a wider population. The negative results from such omega-3 mixture studies could create misleading
impressions about the use of omega-3s generally, including VASCEPA, despite REDUCE-IT positive results and the highlypure and stable EPA active ingredient in VASCEPA and its higher dose regimen.
More recently, in 2020, an additional Nordic trial known as OMEMI failed to demonstrate a reduction in cardiovascular
events with an omega-3 fatty acid mixture. OMEMI, an investigator-initiated, multi-center, randomized clinical trial, was
designed to evaluate the effects of daily treatment with omega-3 fatty acids compared with placebo among elderly patients
(age 70-82) with recent myocardial infarction. Patients received 1.8 g omega-3 fatty acids (930 mg EPA and 660 mg DH) or
placebo (corn oil) daily added to standard of care. Results presented in November 2020 at the AHA’s Scientific Sessions
showed no significant differences in cardiovascular events between the treatment groups for the composite primary endpoint
(non-fatal MI, unscheduled revascularization, stroke, hospitalization for heart failure or all-cause mortality), nor for the
individual component of this endpoint after 2 years.
Matinas BioPharma, Inc., or Matinas, is developing an omega-3-based therapeutic (MAT9001 also known as
LYPDISO) for the treatment of severe hypertriglyceridemia and mixed dyslipidemia. In the fourth quarter of 2014 Matinas
filed an IND with the U.S. FDA to conduct a human study in the treatment of severe hypertriglyceridemia and, in June 2015,
the company announced topline results for its head-to-head comparative short duration pharmacokinetic and
pharmacodynamic study of LYPDISO versus VASCEPA in patients under conditions inconsistent with the U.S. FDAapproved label for VASCEPA and presented results based on biomarker modification without outcomes data. In September
2017, Matinas announced that it will be seeking a partner company to develop and commercialize LYPDISO In March 2019,
Matinas announced that net proceeds from a public offering of common stock would be used for development activities for
LYPDISO In March 2020, Matinas announced that it completed the clinical dosing for a comparative clinical bridging
bioavailability study and the in-life portion of a 90-day comparative toxicology study in the first quarter of 2020. Both studies
were conducted to support a planned 505(b)(2) registration pathway. In March, Matinas also initiated an additional Phase 2
head-to-head pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study, ENHANCE-IT, against VASCEPA in patients with elevated
triglycerides (150-499 mg/dL), while the study was paused in the first quarter of 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
enrollment resumed in June and was completed in August 2020. In the first quarter of 2021, Matinas announced topline results
from the ENHANCE-IT study, stating that LYPDISO, or MAT9001, did not meet statistical significance over VASCEPA on
the primary endpoint of percent change from baseline to end of treatment in triglycerides in the PD population. A key
secondary endpoint in ENHANCE-IT was the measurement of eicosapentaenoic acid levels in the blood, which is regarded
as a key surrogate marker in determining cardiovascular risk reduction. In ENHANCE-IT, plasma EPA concentrations were
significantly higher with LYPDISO versus VASCEPA, with a 46% relative percentage increase in the change from baseline
EPA level versus VASCEPA. Matinas has announced that the results from ENHANCE-IT suggest potential for LYPDISO as
a drug for cardiovascular risk reduction and announced that it is pursuing external partnerships to further develop LYPDISO
for cardiovascular outcomes indication. As a result, Matinas no longer plans to pursue an indication for the treatment of severe
HTG, instead focusing on the broader cardiovascular risk reduction indication.
In June 2018, NeuroBo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously named Gemphire Therapeutics) announced positive topline
results from a Phase 2b trial, or INDIGO-1, of its drug candidate, Gemcabene, in patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia.
Gemcabene is an oral, once-daily pill for a number of hypercholesterolemic populations and severe hypertriglyceridemia. In
August 2018, the U.S. FDA requested that Gemphire conduct an additional long-term toxicity study before commencing any
further clinical testing, thereby effectively placing Gemcabene on clinical hold. In March 2020 NeuroBo announced the
completion of the requested studies, and in May 2020 the company announced that it received written communication from
the U.S. FDA that the clinical development program for Gemcabene remains on partial clinical hold for severe HTG. In June
2019, Gemphire announced top-line clinical results from a Phase 2 trial in Familial Partial Lipodystrophy (FPL)/NASH in
which Gemcabene safely met the primary endpoint in a sub-set of patients. Phase 3 studies for homozygous familial
(hypercholesterolemia, or HoFH), heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia, or HeFH, and non-familial
hypercholesterolemia in ASCVD patients are planned. NeuroBO is currently assessing Gemcabene as an acute treatment for
COVID-19.
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Afimmune Ltd. has an oral, small molecule drug candidate, epeleuton (DS-102), in development for a number of
conditions of the liver, lung, and metabolic system, including hypertriglyceridemia and cardiovascular risk reduction, Phase
2 clinical trials are currently ongoing for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, or NAFLD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease,
or COPD, and planned for hypertriglyceridemia and Type 2 diabetes (TRIAGE), in the United States. In November 2019,
Afimmune Ltd. announced positive results from an exploratory Phase 2 study of epeleuton in patients with NAFLD in which
the molecule decreased triglycerides, improved glycemic control, and decreased markers of inflammation. In August 2020,
Afimmune reported Ph2a study results of epeleuton in patients with NAFLD. Although epeleuton failed to meet the primary
endpoint to demonstrate effects on liver enzyme elevation, it demonstrated significant reduction of triglycerides, HbA1c and
potential for CV risk reduction. In September 2020, Afimmune announced the start of TRIglyceride And Glucose control
with Epeleuton in Metabolic Syndrome Patients, or TRIAGE, a Phase IIb study of epeleuton in patients with high triglycerides
and type 2 diabetes to assess the safety and efficacy of orally administered epeleuton capsules vs placebo in the treatment of
hypertriglyceridemia and type 2 diabetes. Results are expected in the third quarter of 2022.
Based on prior communications from the U.S. FDA, including communications in connection with its review of the
ANCHOR indication for VASCEPA, it is our understanding that the U.S. FDA is not prepared to approve any therapy for
treatment of cardiovascular risk based on biomarker modification without cardiovascular outcomes study data, with the
potential exception of therapies which lower LDL-cholesterol, depending on the circumstances. In particular, it is our
understanding that the U.S. FDA is not prepared to approve any therapy based primarily on data demonstrating lowering of
triglyceride levels. In our view, this position from the U.S. FDA did not change based on the REDUCE-IT study particularly
in light of significant independence of the positive benefit demonstrated in the REDUCE-IT study from triglyceride levels
and benefit from the REDUCE-IT study supporting that the positive effects of VASCEPA are unique to VASCEPA and
extend beyond triglyceride reduction. If the U.S. FDA were to change this position, it could potentially have a negative impact
on us by making it easier for other products to achieve a cardiovascular risk reduction indication without the need in advance
to conduct a long and expensive cardiovascular outcomes study.
VASCEPA also faces competition from dietary supplement manufacturers marketing omega-3 products as nutritional
supplements. Such products are classified as food, not as prescription drugs or over-the-counter drugs, by the U.S. FDA in
the United States. Most regulatory regimes outside the United States are similar in this regard. Some of the promoters of such
products have greater resources than us and are not restricted to the same standards as are prescription drugs with respect to
promotional claims or manufacturing quality, consistency and subsequent product stability. Although we have taken
successful legal action against supplement manufacturers attempting to use the REDUCE-IT results to promote their products,
we cannot be sure physicians and pharmacists will view the U.S. FDA-approved, prescription-only status, and EPA-only
purity and stability of VASCEPA or U.S. FDA’s stringent regulatory oversight, as significant advantages versus omega-3
dietary supplements regardless of clinical study results and other scientific data.
Although VASCEPA is currently the only drug that is approved for cardiovascular risk reduction in Europe in the atrisk patient population studied in REDUCE-IT, and there is currently no other direct competition for Canada and the Middle
East, consistent with the U.S., our competitors include large, well-established and experienced pharmaceutical companies,
specialty and generic pharmaceutical companies, marketing companies, and specialized cardiovascular treatment companies
and we have no experience as a company self-commercializing a product outside of the United States.
Recent CV outcomes trials and meta-analyses with low and high dose omega-3 fatty acid mixtures containing DHA
have not shown substantial benefit in patients receiving contemporary medical therapy, including statins. Due to failed low
dose omega-3 CV outcomes trials, the European regulatory authorities have concluded that omega-3 fatty acid medicines
(specifically Lovaza®/Omacor®) at a dose of 1-gram per day are not effective in preventing further events for patients who
have had a heart attack. The STRENGTH trial of an omega-3 mixture studied at 4-grams per day also failed to demonstrate
cardiovascular benefit.
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As generic company competitors seek to compete with copies of VASCEPA in the United States and elsewhere we
could face additional challenges to our patents and additional patent litigation.
The FDCA, as amended by the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, as amended, or the
Hatch-Waxman Amendments, permits the U.S. FDA to approve ANDAs for generic versions of brand name drugs like
VASCEPA. We refer to the process of generic drug applications as the “ANDA process.” The ANDA process permits
competitor companies to obtain marketing approval for a drug product with the same active ingredient, dosage form, strength,
route of administration, and labeling as the approved brand name drug, but without having to conduct and submit clinical
studies to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed generic product. In place of such clinical studies, an ANDA
applicant needs to submit data demonstrating that its product is bioequivalent to the brand name product, usually based on
pharmacokinetic studies.
As an alternate path to U.S. FDA approval for modifications of products previously approved by the U.S. FDA, an
applicant may submit a new drug application, or NDA, under Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA (enacted as part of the HatchWaxman Amendments). This statutory provision permits the filing of an NDA where at least some of the information required
for approval comes from studies not conducted by or for the applicant and for which the applicant has not obtained a right of
reference from the owner of the data. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit the applicant to rely upon the U.S. FDA
findings of safety and effectiveness of a drug that has obtained U.S. FDA approval based on preclinical or clinical studies
conducted by others. In addition to relying on U.S. FDA prior findings of safety and effectiveness for a referenced drug
product, the U.S. FDA may require companies to perform additional preclinical or clinical studies to support approval of the
modification to the referenced product.
If an application for a generic version of a branded product or a Section 505(b)(2) application relies on a prior U.S.
FDA finding of safety and effectiveness of a previously-approved product including an alternative strength thereof, the
applicant is required to certify to the U.S. FDA concerning any patents listed for the referenced product in the U.S. FDA
publication called “Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” otherwise known as the “Orange
Book.” Specifically, the applicant must certify in the application that:
•

there is no patent information listed for the reference drug;

•

the listed patent has expired for the reference drug;

•

the listed patent for the reference drug has not expired, but will expire on a particular date and approval is sought
after patent expiration; or

•

the listed patent for the reference drug is invalid, unenforceable, or will not be infringed by the manufacture, use
or sale of the product for which the ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA is submitted.

The Hatch-Waxman Amendments require an applicant for a drug product that relies, in whole or in part, on the U.S.
FDA’s prior approval of VASCEPA, to notify us of its application, a “paragraph IV” notice, if the applicant is seeking to
market its product prior to the expiration of the patents that both claim VASCEPA and are listed in the Orange Book. A bona
fide paragraph IV notice may not be given under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments until after the generic company receives
from the U.S. FDA an acknowledgement letter stating that its ANDA is sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review.
The paragraph IV notice is required to contain a detailed factual and legal statement explaining the basis for the
applicant’s opinion that the proposed product does not infringe our patents, that the relevant patents are invalid, or both. After
receipt of a valid notice, the branded product manufacturer has the option of bringing a patent infringement suit in federal
district court against any generic company seeking approval for its product within 45 days from the date of receipt of each
notice. If such a suit is commenced within this 45-day period, the Hatch-Waxman Amendments provide for a 30-month stay
on U.S. FDA’s ability to give final approval to the proposed generic product, which period begins on the date the paragraph
IV notice is received. Generally, during a period of time in which generic applications may be submitted for a branded product
based on a product’s regulatory exclusivity status, if no patents are listed in the Orange Book before the date on which a
complete ANDA application for a product (excluding an amendment or supplement to the application) is submitted, an ANDA
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application could be approved by U.S. FDA without regard to a stay. For products entitled to five-year exclusivity status, the
Hatch-Waxman Amendments provide that an ANDA application may be submitted after four years following U.S. FDA
approval of the branded product if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement to a patent listed in the
Orange Book. In such a case, the 30-month stay runs from the end of the five-year exclusivity period. Statutory stays may be
shortened or lengthened if either party fails to cooperate in the litigation and it may be terminated if the court decides the case
in less than 30 months. If the litigation is resolved in favor of the ANDA applicant before the expiration of the 30-month
period, the stay will be immediately lifted and the U.S. FDA’s review of the application may be completed. Such litigation is
often time-consuming and costly, and may result in generic competition if such patents are not upheld or if the generic
competitor is found not to infringe such patents.
In addition to the ANDA patent litigation described above, we could face patent litigation related to the patents filed in
the Orange Book related to the REDUCE-IT study. A three-year period of exclusivity under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments
is generally granted for a drug product that contains an active moiety that has been previously approved, such as when the
application contains reports of new clinical investigations (other than bioavailability studies) conducted by the sponsor that
were essential to approval of the application. Accordingly, we received three-year exclusivity in connection with the approval
of our sNDA for REDUCE-IT study results. Such three-year exclusivity protection precludes, unless otherwise agreed, the
U.S. FDA from approving a marketing application for an ANDA, a product candidate that the U.S. FDA views as having the
same conditions of approval as VASCEPA (for example, the same indication and/or other conditions of use), or a 505(b)(2)
NDA submitted to the U.S. FDA with VASCEPA as the reference product until 13 December 2022, three years from the date
of U.S. FDA approval of the REDUCE-IT sNDA. While this three-year exclusivity would generally prevent such an approval
based on our REDUCE-IT indication during such time, it does not preclude tentative or final approval of an ANDA based on
our MARINE indication. The U.S. FDA may accept and commence review of such REDUCE-IT-related applications during
the three-year exclusivity period. Such three-year exclusivity grant does not prevent a company from challenging the validity
of REDUCE-IT patents during such period. This three-year form of exclusivity may also not prevent the U.S. FDA from
approving an NDA that relies only on its own data to support the change or innovation. Regulatory exclusivity is in addition
to exclusivity afforded by issued patents related to VASCEPA.
We may also face challenges to the validity of our patents through a procedure known as inter partes review. Inter partes
review is a trial proceeding conducted through the Patent Trial and Appeal Board, of the USPTO. Such a proceeding could
be introduced against us within the statutory one-year window triggered by service of a complaint for infringement related to
an ANDA filing or at any time by an entity not served with a complaint. Such proceedings may review the patentability of
one or more claims in a patent on specified substantive grounds such as allegations that a claim is obvious on the basis of
certain prior art.
We intend to vigorously enforce our intellectual property rights relating to VASCEPA, but we cannot predict the
outcome of the pending lawsuits, any appeals, or any subsequently filed lawsuits or inter partes review.
Generally, if an ANDA filer meets the approval requirements for a generic version of VASCEPA to the satisfaction of
the U.S. FDA under its ANDA, U.S. FDA may grant tentative approval to the ANDA during a Hatch-Waxman 30-month stay
period and during the Hatch-Waxman 36-month regulatory exclusivity period. A tentative approval is issued to an ANDA
applicant when its application is approvable prior to the expiration of any exclusivities applicable to the branded, reference
listed drug product. A tentative approval does not allow the applicant to market the generic drug product and postpones the
final ANDA approval until applicable exclusivity protections have expired.
Generic versions of VASCEPA made available in the market, even if based on a MARINE indication, only are often
used to fill a prescription for any intended use of the drug. If any approved ANDA filers are able to supply the product in
significant commercial quantities, generic companies could introduce generic versions of VASCEPA in the market, as did
Hikma in November 2020, Dr. Reddy's in June 2021 and Apotex in January 2022, although each on a limited scale to date.
Although any such introduction of a generic version of VASCEPA would also be subject to any litigation settlement terms
and patent infringement claims (including any new claims and those that may then be subject to an appeal), pursuing such
litigation may be prohibitively costly or could put a substantial constraint on our resources.
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On 9 July 2021, President Biden issued an executive order directing the U.S. FDA to, among other things, continue to
clarify and improve the approval framework for generic drugs and identify and address any efforts to impede generic drug
competition.
Any significant degree of generic market entry would limit our U.S. sales, which would have a significant adverse
impact on our business and results of operations. In addition, even if a competitor’s effort to introduce a generic product is
ultimately unsuccessful, the perception that such development is in progress and/or news related to such progress or news
related to litigation outcomes could materially affect the reputation of VASCEPA or the perceived value of our company and
our stock price. In addition, generic market entry, whether limited to its approved indication or not, can create market
disruption which leads to an overall slowing of market growth regardless of whether the net price of the generic entry is higher
or lower than the net price of the branded drug. Such disruption includes potential stock shortages of the generic market entry
at retail pharmacies and wholesalers which can cause filling of prescriptions for patients to be delayed or abandoned. Sponsors
of generic entries typically do not fund market education initiatives to help healthcare professionals and at-risk patients learn
about a new drug, which, particularly for a recently launched drug, can potentially limit overall growth. And certain States
impose restrictions on the promotion of branded drugs, particularly if the generic market entry is less expensive than the
branded drug. While some companies with generic competition elect to launch an authorized generic form of the drug to
counter the perception, real or imagined, that generics are less expensive, if launched, an authorized generic is typically
aligned with reduction or elimination of promotion of the associated branded drug, thus limiting the extent of market growth
and potentially contracting the overall size of the realized market penetration. While an authorized generic could be profitable
the market opportunity for growth from an authorized generic is likely less than from promotion of a branded drug, and as
such we have not launched an authorized generic version of VASCEPA to date, but may elect to do so in the future.
The active pharmaceutical ingredient in VASCEPA is difficult and time consuming to manufacture, often requires
considerable advanced planning and long-term financial commitments to ensure sufficient capacity is available when
needed and, perhaps not surprisingly, is reportedly in limited supply to our generic competitors, one of which has filed a
lawsuit against us claiming we have engaged in anticompetitive practices related to our building of adequate supply for
our needs and, in activities we believe were prompted by the generic competitor, government agencies are investigating
our business as it relates to the supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredient in VASCEPA. Consumer lawsuits with
similar allegations have also been filed. This dynamic could interfere with our business plans.
The active pharmaceutical ingredient in VASCEPA is difficult and time consuming to manufacture, often requires
considerable advanced planning and long-term financial commitments to ensure sufficient capacity is available when needed.
We have invested over a decade of resources and expenses to develop with our third-party, active pharmaceutical ingredient
supply chain the technical knowhow, manufacturing processes and related regulatory approvals that have helped enable our
suppliers to supply our clinical and commercial needs globally. Based on statements made by Hikma and Dr. Reddy’s, the
active pharmaceutical ingredient of VASCEPA needed to manufacture their generic versions of VASCEPA is in limited
supply to them. We believe this may be due to their lack of adequate planning, knowhow and expertise regarding this fragile
active ingredient.
As has been a practice in the generic pharmaceutical industry, on 27 April 2021, Dr. Reddy’s filed a complaint against
us in the United States District Court District of New Jersey (case no. 2:21-cv-10309) alleging various antitrust violations
stemming from alleged anticompetitive practices related to the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredient of VASCEPA.
Damages sought include recovery for alleged economic harm to Dr. Reddy’s, payors, and consumers, treble damages and
other costs and fees. Injunctive relief against the alleged violative activities is also being sought by Dr. Reddy’s. Consumer
group lawsuits followed claiming similar violations and alleging, for example, that such alleged violations resulted in higher
prices to consumers. Such litigation can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect and disrupt our business. We believe
we have valid defenses and will vigorously defend against the claims but cannot predict the outcome.
We have also received a civil investigative demand from the U.S. FTC and a subpoena from the New York Attorney
General with respect to practices relating to our supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredient in VASCEPA. We believe
such contact from the governments may have been prompted by a generic competitor. The government inquiries require us
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to produce documents and answer related questions relevant to specified time periods. We are cooperating with the agencies.
Such investigations can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect and disrupt our business. We cannot predict when these
investigations will be resolved, the outcome of the investigations or their potential impact on our business. If a government
determines that we have violated antitrust law, we could be subject to significant civil fines and penalties.
VASCEPA is a prescription-only omega-3 fatty acid product. Omega-3 fatty acids are also marketed by other
companies as non-prescription dietary supplements. As a result, in the U.S. VASCEPA is subject to non-prescription
competition and consumer substitution. This dynamic also exists in markets outside the United States.
Our only product, VASCEPA, is a prescription-only form of EPA, an omega-3 fatty acid in ethyl ester form. Mixtures
of omega-3 fatty acids in triglyceride form are naturally occurring substances contained in various foods, including fatty fish.
Omega-3 fatty acids are marketed by others in a number of chemical forms as non-prescription dietary supplements. We
cannot be sure physicians and other providers will view the U.S. FDA approval, pharmaceutical grade purity and proven
efficacy and safety of VASCEPA as having a superior therapeutic profile to unproven and loosely regulated omega-3 fatty
acid dietary supplements. In addition, the U.S. FDA has not yet enforced to the full extent of its regulatory authority what we
view as illegal claims made by certain omega-3 fatty acid product manufacturers to the extent we believe appropriate under
applicable law and regulations, for example, claims that certain of such chemically altered products are dietary supplements
and that certain of such products reduce triglyceride levels or could reduce cardiovascular risk.
Also, for over a decade, subject to certain limitations, the U.S. FDA has expressly permitted dietary supplement
manufacturers that sell supplements containing the omega-3 fatty acids EPA and/or DHA to make the following qualified
health claim directly to consumers: Supportive but not conclusive research shows that consumption of EPA and DHA omega3 fatty acids may reduce the risk of coronary heart disease. Such companies are not, however, permitted, based on U.S. FDA
enforcement activity, to make claims that suggest or imply treatment of cardiovascular disease.
These factors enable dietary supplements to compete with VASCEPA to a certain degree. Although we have taken steps
to address these competitive issues, and plan to continue to do so vigorously, we may not be successful in such efforts.
For example, on 29 October 2018, we filed two lawsuits in U.S. federal court, each against a different dietary
supplement company for unlawfully using the results from the REDUCE-IT cardiovascular outcomes study to falsely and
deceptively claim that their omega-3 dietary supplement products are effective in reducing cardiovascular risk. The defendants
in the cases were Omax Health, Inc., or Omax, and The Coromega Company, Inc., or Coromega. In April 2019, based on the
strength of our case and available legal remedies, Omax and Coromega settled these litigations under terms by which Omax
and Coromega agreed to substantially all the demands in our complaints. Under the settlements, Coromega and Omax agreed
to publicly correct their prior statements that wrongly suggested the REDUCE-IT cardiovascular outcomes trial supports the
safety and efficacy of omega-3 dietary supplements. Each dietary supplement company also acknowledged that as a general
matter under federal law dietary supplements may be lawfully marketed to supplement the diet, but they cannot be lawfully
marketed to treat, mitigate, or prevent disease, such as cardiovascular disease.
Similarly, on 30 August 2017, we filed a lawsuit with the United States International Trade Commission, or the ITC,
against manufacturers, importers, and distributors of products containing synthetically produced omega-3 products in ethyl
ester or re-esterified triglyceride form that contain more EPA than DHA or any other single component for use in or as dietary
supplements. The lawsuit sought an investigation by the ITC regarding potentially unfair methods of competition and unfair
acts involving the importation and sale of articles in the United States that injure or threaten injury to a domestic industry. In
October 2017, the ITC determined to not institute our requested investigation. We appealed this determination to the U.S.
Federal Circuit, but that court upheld ITC’s determination. On 30 July 2019, we filed a petition with the U.S. Supreme Court
seeking to appeal the Federal Circuit decision, which petition was denied on 9 December 2019, ending this litigation. We
have also engaged with U.S. FDA on the topic of synthetically produced omega-3 products through the citizen’s petition
process and otherwise.
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In addition, to the extent the net price of VASCEPA after insurance and offered discounts is significantly higher than
the prices of commercially available omega-3 fatty acids marketed by other companies as dietary supplements (through the
lack of coverage by insurers or otherwise), physicians and pharmacists may recommend these retail alternatives instead of
writing or filling prescriptions for VASCEPA or patients may elect on their own to take commercially available omega-3
fatty acids. Also, insurance plans may increasingly impose policies that directly or indirectly favor supplement use over
VASCEPA. While VASCEPA is priced comparatively with, or in some cases lower than, many competing treatments,
particularly when taking into account insurance coverage, such pricing might not be sufficient for healthcare providers or
patients to elect VASCEPA over alternative treatments that may be perceived as less expense or more convenient to access.
If healthcare providers or patients favor dietary supplements over prescribing VASCEPA, we may be constrained in how we
price our product or VASCEPA’s market acceptance may be less than expected, which would have a negative impact on our
revenues and results of operations.
The commercial value to us of sales of VASCEPA outside the United States may be smaller than we anticipate,
including adequacy of product reimbursement such as in Europe, which can vary from country to country resulting in
potential patient access restrictions.
There can be no assurance as to the market for VASCEPA outside the United States. For example, despite having
received EC approval to commercialize VAZKEPA in Europe and as we expect to obtain further, through our partner Edding,
marketing approval for VASCEPA in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan, or the China Territory, applicable
regulatory agencies may impose restrictions on the product’s conditions for use, distribution or marketing and in some cases
may impose ongoing requirements for post-market surveillance, post-approval studies or clinical trials.
Further, securing adequate reimbursement is critical for commercial success of any therapeutic and pricing and
reimbursement levels of medications in markets outside the United States can be unpredictable and vary considerably on a
country-by-country basis. In some foreign countries, including major markets in Europe, the pricing of prescription
pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with individual governmental
authorities can take six to 12 months or longer after the receipt of regulatory marketing approval for a product. The time
required to secure reimbursement tends to vary from country to country and cannot be reliably predicted at this time. In certain
European countries, securing product reimbursement is a requisite to commercial launch. To obtain reimbursement or pricing
approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a pharmacoeconomic study that compares the cost-effectiveness
of VASCEPA to other available therapies. Such pharmacoeconomic studies can be costly and the results uncertain. Our
business could be harmed if reimbursement of our products is unavailable, delayed or limited in scope or amount or if pricing
is set at unsatisfactory levels. If the pricing and reimbursement levels of VASCEPA are lower than we anticipate, then
affordability of, and market access to, VASCEPA may be adversely affected and thus market potential in these territories
would suffer.
We or our partners may even choose to not proceed with marketing VASCEPA in a market, even after a regulatory
approval, due to negative commercial dynamics. Further, with regard to any indications for which we may gain approval in
territories outside the United States, the number of actual patients with the condition included in such approved indication
may be smaller than we anticipate. In addition, we could face competition from products similar or deemed equivalent to
VASCEPA in various jurisdictions through regulatory pathways that are more lenient than in the United States or in
jurisdictions in which we do not have exclusivity from regulations or intellectual property. If any of these market dynamics
exist, the commercial potential in these territories for our product would suffer.
Our products and marketing efforts are subject to extensive post-approval government regulation.
Once a product candidate receives U.S. FDA marketing approval, numerous post-approval requirements apply. Among
other things, the holder of an approved NDA is subject to periodic and other monitoring and reporting obligations enforced
by the U.S. FDA and other regulatory bodies, including obligations to monitor and report adverse events and instances of the
failure of a product to meet the specifications in the approved application. Application holders must also submit advertising
and other promotional material to regulatory authorities and report on ongoing clinical trials.
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With respect to sales and marketing activities, advertising and promotional materials must comply with U.S. FDA rules
in addition to other applicable federal and local laws in the United States and in other countries. The result of our First
Amendment litigation and settlement may cause the government to scrutinize our promotional efforts or otherwise monitor
our business more closely. Industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities also must comply with U.S. FDA and other
requirements. In the United States, the distribution of product samples to physicians must comply with the requirements of
the U.S. Prescription Drug Marketing Act. Manufacturing facilities remain subject to U.S. FDA inspection and must continue
to adhere to the U.S. FDA’s pharmaceutical current good manufacturing practice requirements, or cGMPs. Application
holders must obtain U.S. FDA approval for product and manufacturing changes, depending on the nature of the change. In
addition, drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are subject to
periodic unannounced inspections by the U.S. FDA and state agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements.
We participate in the U.S. Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, the Federal Supply Schedule, or FSS, of the U.S. Department
of Veterans Affairs, or the VA, and other government drug programs, and, accordingly, are subject to complex laws and
regulations regarding reporting and payment obligations. We must also comply with requirements to collect and report adverse
events and product complaints associated with our products. Our activities are also subject to U.S. federal and state consumer
protection and unfair competition laws, non-compliance with which could subject us to significant liability. Similar
requirements exist in many of these areas in other countries.
Depending on the circumstances, failure to meet post-approval requirements can result in criminal prosecution, fines or
other penalties, injunctions, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, denial or withdrawal of
pre-marketing product approvals, or refusal to allow us to enter into supply contracts, including government contracts. We
may also be held responsible for the non-compliance of our partners, such as our former co-promotion partner Kowa America.
As discussed above, in June 2020, we received a CID from the DOJ informing us that the DOJ is investigating whether aspects
of our promotional speaker programs and copayment waiver programs during the period from 1 January 2015 to the present
violated the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute and the U.S. FCA in relation to the sale and marketing of VASCEPA by us and our
previous co-marketing partner, Kowa America. The New York State attorney general similarly issued a subpoena to us
regarding the same subject matter on which the FTC CID is focused. The inquiries require us to produce documents and
answer written questions, or interrogatories, relevant to specified time periods. We are cooperating with the government. We
cannot predict when these investigations will be resolved, the outcome of the investigations or their potential impact on our
business. Such investigations can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect and disrupt our business. If the government
determines that we have violated the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, the FCA or antitrust regulations, we could be subject to
significant civil and criminal fines and penalties. In addition, even if we comply with U.S. FDA and other requirements, new
information regarding the safety or effectiveness of a product could lead the U.S. FDA to modify or withdraw a product
approval. Newly discovered or developed safety or effectiveness data may require changes to a drug’s approved labeling and
marketing, including the addition of new warnings and contraindications, and also may require the implementation of other
risk management measures. Adverse regulatory action, whether pre- or post-approval, can potentially lead to product liability
claims and increase our product liability exposure. We must also compete against other products in qualifying for coverage
and reimbursement under applicable third-party payment and insurance programs.
In addition, all of the above factors may also apply to any regulatory approval for VASCEPA obtained in territories
outside the United States. In Europe, for example, restrictions regarding off-label promotion are in some ways more stringent
than in the United States, including restrictions covering certain communications with shareholders. Given our inexperience
with marketing and commercializing products outside the United States, in certain territories we may need to rely on third
parties, such as our partners in Canada, China and the Middle East, to assist us in dealing with any such issues and we will
have limited or no control over such partners.
Legislative or regulatory reform of the healthcare system in the United States and foreign jurisdictions may affect
our ability to profitably sell VASCEPA.
Our ability to commercialize VASCEPA or any future products successfully, alone or with collaborators, will depend
in part on the extent to which coverage and reimbursement for the products will be available from government and health
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administration authorities, private health insurers and other third-party payors. The continuing efforts of the U.S. and foreign
governments, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce
healthcare costs may adversely affect our ability to set prices for our products which we believe are fair, and our ability to
generate revenues and achieve and maintain profitability.
Specifically, in both the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and
regulatory changes and proposed changes to the healthcare system in ways that could affect our ability to sell our products
profitably. For example, on 2 August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created the Joint Select
Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend to Congress proposals for spending reductions. The Joint Select Committee
did not achieve a targeted deficit reduction, which triggered the legislation’s automatic reductions. In concert with subsequent
legislation, this has resulted in aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of, on average, 2% per fiscal year
through 2030, with the exception of a temporary suspension from 1 May 2020 through 31 March 2022 due to the COVID-19
pandemic. Following the suspension, a 1% payment reduction took place beginning 1 April 2022 and will continue through
30 June 2022, and the 2% payment reduction will resume on 1 July 2022. These cuts reduce reimbursement payments related
to our products, which could potentially negatively impact our revenue. Also for example, the ACA has substantially changed
the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers and has significantly impacted the U.S.
pharmaceutical industry. Among other cost-containment measures, the ACA establishes:
•

an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and
biologic agents;

•

a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which pharmaceutical manufacturers who wish to have
their drugs covered under Part D must offer discounts to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period;
and

•

a new formula that increases the rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and
extends the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations.

There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialty drug pricing
practices. Specifically, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices
for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and
state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription
drugs under Medicare, and review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. At a federal level,
President Biden signed an Executive Order on July 9, 2021 affirming the administration’s policy to (i) support legislative
reforms that would lower the prices of prescription drug and biologics, including by allowing Medicare to negotiate drug
prices, by imposing inflation caps, and, by supporting the development and market entry of lower-cost generic drugs and
biosimilars; and (ii) support the enactment of a public health insurance option. Among other things, the Executive Order also
directs HHS to provide a report on actions to combat excessive pricing of prescription drugs, enhance the domestic drug
supply chain, reduce the price that the federal government pays for drugs, and address price gouging in the industry; and
directs the FDA to work with states and Indian Tribes that propose to develop section 804 Importation Programs in accordance
with the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, and the FDA’s implementing
regulations. FDA released such implementing regulations on 24 September 2020, which went into effect on 30 November
2020, providing guidance for states to build and submit importation plans for drugs from Canada. On September 25, 2020,
CMS stated drugs imported by states under this rule will not be eligible for federal rebates under Section 1927 of the Social
Security Act and manufacturers would not report these drugs for “best price” or Average Manufacturer Price purposes. Since
these drugs are not considered covered outpatient drugs, CMS further stated it will not publish a National Average Drug
Acquisition Cost for these drugs. If implemented, importation of drugs from Canada may materially and adversely affect the
price we receive for any of our product candidates. Further, on 20 November 2020 CMS issued an Interim Final Rule
implementing the Most Favored Nation, or MFN, Model, under which Medicare Part B reimbursement rates would have been
calculated for certain drugs and biologicals based on the lowest price drug manufacturers receive in Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development countries with a similar gross domestic product per capita. However, on 29
December 2021 CMS rescinded the Most Favored Nations rule. Additionally on 30 November 2020 HHS published a
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regulation removing safe harbor protection for price reductions from pharmaceutical manufacturers to plan sponsors under
Part D, either directly or through pharmacy benefit managers, unless the price reduction is required by law. The rule also
creates a new safe harbor for price reductions reflected at the point-of-sale, as well as a safe harbor for certain fixed fee
arrangements between pharmacy benefit managers and manufacturers. Pursuant to court order the removal and addition of
the aforementioned safe harbors were delayed and recent legislation imposed a moratorium on implementation of the rule
until 1 January 2026 Although a number of these and other proposed measures may require authorization through additional
legislation to become effective, and the Biden administration may reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the Biden
administration and Congress have indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs.
In addition, it is time-consuming and expensive for us to go through the process of seeking coverage and reimbursement
from Medicare and private payors. Our products may not be considered cost effective, and government and third-party private
health insurance coverage and reimbursement may not be available to patients for any of our future products or sufficient to
allow us to sell our products on a competitive and profitable basis. Our results of operations could be adversely affected by
ACA and by other healthcare reforms that may be enacted or adopted in the future. In addition, increasing emphasis on
managed care in the United States will continue to put pressure on the pricing of pharmaceutical products. For example,
proposals are being considered to expand the use of dietary supplements in addition to or in place of drugs in government and
private payor plans. In addition, cost control initiatives could decrease the price that we or any potential collaborators could
receive for any of our future products and could adversely affect our profitability.
These and similar regulatory dynamics, including the recent entry of generic versions of VASCEPA into the market,
and the potential for additional generic versions in the near term, can affect our ability to commercialize VASCEPA on
commercially reasonable terms and limit the commercial value of VASCEPA.
If we fail to comply with our reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program or other
governmental pricing programs, we could be subject to additional reimbursement requirements, penalties, sanctions and
fines, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth
prospects.
We participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, the 340B drug pricing program, and the VA’s FSS pricing
program. Under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, we are required to pay a rebate to each state Medicaid program for our
covered outpatient drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and paid for by a state Medicaid program as a condition
of having federal funds being made available to the states for our drugs under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. Those rebates
are based on pricing data reported by us on a monthly and quarterly basis to CMS, the federal agency that administers the
Medicaid Drug Rebate program. These data include the average manufacturer price and, in the case of innovator products,
the best price for each drug which, in general, represents the lowest price available from the manufacturer to any commercial
entity in the U.S. in any pricing structure, calculated to include all sales and associated rebates, discounts and other price
concessions. Our failure to comply with these price reporting and rebate payment obligations could negatively impact our
financial results.
The ACA made significant changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program. CMS issued a final regulation, which
became effective on 1 April 2016, to implement the changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate program under the ACA. The
issuance of the final regulation has increased and will continue to increase our costs and the complexity of compliance, has
been and will continue to be time-consuming to implement, and could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, particularly if CMS challenges the approach we take in our implementation of the final regulation.
Federal law requires that any company that participates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate program also participate in the
Public Health Service’s 340B drug pricing program in order for federal funds to be available for the manufacturer’s drugs
under Medicaid and Medicare Part B. The 340B program requires participating manufacturers to agree to charge statutorily
defined covered entities no more than the 340B “ceiling price” for the manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs. These 340B
covered entities include a variety of community health clinics and other entities that receive health services grants from the
Public Health Service, as well as hospitals that serve a disproportionate share of low-income patients. The 340B ceiling price
is calculated using a statutory formula based on the average manufacturer price and Medicaid rebate amount for the covered
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outpatient drug as calculated under the Medicaid Drug Rebate program, and in general, products subject to Medicaid price
reporting and rebate liability are also subject to the 340B ceiling price calculation and discount requirement. Any additional
future changes to the definition of average manufacturer price and the Medicaid rebate amount under the ACA, other
legislation, or in regulation could affect our 340B ceiling price calculations and negatively impact our results of operations.
The Health Resources and Services Administration, or HRSA, which administers the 340B program, issued a final
regulation regarding the calculation of the 340B ceiling price and the imposition of civil monetary penalties on manufacturers
that knowingly and intentionally overcharge covered entities, which became effective on 1 January 2019. We also are required
to report our 340B ceiling prices to HRSA on a quarterly basis. Implementation of the civil monetary penalties regulation and
the issuance of any other final regulations and guidance could affect our obligations under the 340B program in ways we
cannot anticipate. In addition, legislation may be introduced that, if passed, would further expand the 340B program to
additional covered entities or would require participating manufacturers to agree to provide 340B discounted pricing on drugs
used in the inpatient setting.
Pricing and rebate calculations vary across products and programs, are complex, and are often subject to interpretation
by us, governmental or regulatory agencies and the courts. In the case of our Medicaid pricing data, if we become aware that
our reporting for a prior quarter was incorrect, or has changed as a result of recalculation of the pricing data, we are obligated
to resubmit the corrected data for up to three years after those data originally were due. Such restatements and recalculations
increase our costs for complying with the laws and regulations governing the Medicaid Drug Rebate program and could result
in an overage or underage in our rebate liability for past quarters. Price recalculations also may affect the ceiling price at
which we are required to offer our products under the 340B program or could require us to issue refunds to 340B covered
entities.
Significant civil monetary penalties can be applied if we are found to have knowingly submitted any false pricing
information to CMS, or if we fail to submit the required price data on a timely basis. Such conduct also could be grounds for
CMS to terminate our Medicaid drug rebate agreement, in which case federal payments may not be available under Medicaid
or Medicare Part B for our covered outpatient drugs. Significant civil monetary penalties also can be applied if we are found
to have knowingly and intentionally charged 340B covered entities more than the statutorily mandated ceiling price. We
cannot assure you that our submissions will not be found by CMS or HRSA to be incomplete or incorrect.
In order to be eligible to have our products paid for with federal funds under the Medicaid and Medicare Part B programs
and purchased by certain federal agencies and grantees, as noted above, we participate in the VA’s FSS pricing program. As
part of this program, we are obligated to make our products available for procurement on an FSS contract under which we
must comply with standard government terms and conditions and charge a price that is no higher than the statutory Federal
Ceiling Price, or FCP, to four federal agencies (the VA, U.S. Department of Defense, or DOD, Public Health Service, and the
U.S. Coast Guard). The FCP is based on the Non-Federal Average Manufacturer Price, or Non-FAMP, which we calculate
and report to the VA on a quarterly and annual basis. Pursuant to applicable law, knowing provision of false information in
connection with a Non-FAMP filing can subject a manufacturer to significant penalties for each item of false information.
These obligations also contain extensive disclosure and certification requirements.
We also participate in the Tricare Retail Pharmacy program, under which we pay quarterly rebates on utilization of
innovator products that are dispensed through the Tricare Retail Pharmacy network to Tricare beneficiaries. The rebates are
calculated as the difference between the annual Non-FAMP and FCP. We are required to list our covered products on a Tricare
Agreement in order for these products to be eligible for DOD formulary inclusion. If we overcharge the government in
connection with our FSS contract or Tricare Agreement, whether due to a misstated FCP or otherwise, we are required to
refund the difference to the government. Failure to make necessary disclosures and/or to identify contract overcharges can
result in allegations against us under the FCA and other laws and regulations. Unexpected refunds to the government, and
responding to a government investigation or enforcement action, would be expensive and time-consuming, and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
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Changes in reimbursement procedures by government and other third-party payors may limit our ability to market
and sell our approved drugs. These changes could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
In the U.S., Europe and other regions globally, sales of pharmaceutical drugs are dependent, in part, on the availability
of reimbursement to the consumer from third-party payors, such as government and private insurance plans. Third-party
payors decide which products and services they will cover and the conditions for such coverage. Third party payors also
establish reimbursement rates for those products and services. Increasingly, third-party payors are challenging the prices
charged for medical products and services. Some third-party payor benefit packages restrict reimbursement, charge
copayments to patients, or do not provide coverage for specific drugs or drug classes.
In addition, certain U.S. based healthcare providers are moving toward a managed care system in which such providers
contract to provide comprehensive healthcare services, including prescription drugs, for a fixed cost per person. We are unable
to predict the reimbursement policies employed by third-party healthcare payors.
We expect to experience pricing and reimbursement pressures in connection with the sale of our products due to the
trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative and
executive proposals, as well as the availability of generic versions of VASCEPA. In addition, we may confront limitations in,
or exclusions from, insurance coverage for our products, particularly as generic competition intensifies. If we fail to
successfully secure and maintain reimbursement coverage for our approved drugs or are significantly delayed in doing so, we
may have difficulty achieving market acceptance of our approved drugs and investigational drug candidates for which we
obtain approval, and our business may be harmed. Congress has enacted healthcare reform and may enact further reform,
which could adversely affect the pharmaceutical industry as a whole, and therefore could have a material adverse effect on
our business.
Ongoing healthcare legislative and regulatory reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business
and results of operations.
Certain provisions of the ACA have been subject to judicial challenges, as well as efforts to repeal or replace them or
to alter their interpretation or implementation. Multiple Executive Orders were signed during the Trump administration which
were designed to delay the implementation of certain provisions of the ACA or otherwise circumvent some of the requirements
for health insurance mandated by the ACA. For example, the previous administration terminated the cost-sharing subsidies
under the ACA. Nineteen state Attorneys General filed suit to stop the administration from terminating the subsidies, but on
18 July 2018, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California dismissed the case without prejudice. Further, on
14 June 2018, U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit ruled that, due to Congressional appropriations riders that
prohibited the HHS from paying out more in risk corridor payments than it collected, HHS was not required to pay more than
$12.0 billion in ACA risk corridor payments owed to insurers under the risk corridor formula. On 6 November 2018, the
Federal Circuit declined to rehear the case en banc. This decision was appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court, which on 27 April
2020, reversed the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit’s decision and remanded the case to the U.S. Court of Federal
Claims, concluding the government has an obligation to pay these risk corridor payments under the relevant formula. It is not
clear what effect this result will have on our business, but we will continue to monitor any developments. Moreover, the Tax
Act included a provision that eliminated the tax-based shared responsibility payment for individuals who fail to maintain
minimum essential coverage under section 5000A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly referred to as the
“individual mandate,” effective 1 January 2019. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, or the BBA, among other things, amends
the ACA to create a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 70%
(an increase from 50% effective as of 1 January 2019) point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs
to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered
under Medicare Part D. Under the Trump administration, CMS issued regulations that gave states greater flexibility, starting
in 2020, in the identification of the essential health benefits benchmarks for non-grandfathered individual and small group
market health insurance coverage, including plans sold through the health insurance exchanges established under the ACA.
On 14 December 2018, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas ruled (i) that the “individual mandate” was
unconstitutional as a result of the associated tax penalty being repealed by Congress as part of the Tax Act; and (ii) the
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individual mandate is not severable from the rest of the ACA, as a result the entire ACA is invalid. On 18 December 2019,
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision that the individual mandate is
unconstitutional, but remanded the case to the district court to reconsider the severability question. On 2 March 2020, the U.S.
Supreme Court granted the petitions for writs of certiorari to review this case and held oral arguments on 10 November 2020.
On 17 June 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to the ACA brought by several states
without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court’s decision, President Biden issued
an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period from 15 February 2021 through 15 August 2021 for the purpose of
obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental
agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others,
reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, and policies that create
unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. It is unclear how other
healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration or other efforts, if any, to challenge, repeal or replace the ACA will
impact our business.
In addition, there have been several changes to the 340B drug pricing program, which imposes ceilings on prices that
drug manufacturers can charge for medications sold to certain health care facilities. On 27 December 2018, the District Court
for the District of Columbia invalidated a reimbursement formula change under the 340B drug pricing program, and CMS
subsequently altered the FYs 2019 and 2018 reimbursement formula on specified covered outpatient drugs, or SCODs. The
court ruled this change was not an “adjustment” which was within the Secretary’s discretion to make but was instead a
fundamental change in the reimbursement calculation. However, on 31 July 2020, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District
of Columbia Circuit overturned the district court’s decision and found that the changes were within the Secretary’s authority.
On 14 September 2020, the plaintiffs-appellees filed a Petition for Rehearing En Banc (i.e., before the full court), but was
denied on 16 October 2020. On 10 February 2021, plaintiffs-appellees filed a writ of certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court.
The U.S. Supreme Court granted the writ of certiorari on 2 July 2021 and oral arguments were held on 30 November 2021.
The Court’s decision should be released in the coming months. It is unclear how these developments could affect covered
hospitals who might purchase our future products and affect the rates we may charge such facilities for our approved products
in the future, if any. We expect that the healthcare reform measures that have been adopted and may be adopted in the future,
may result in more rigorous coverage criteria, and new payment methodologies, and in additional downward pressure on
coverage and payment and the price that we receive for any approved product, and could seriously harm our future revenues.
Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments
from private third-party payors.
There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal and state
levels directed at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. The enactment
and implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate
revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our product. Such reforms could have an adverse effect on anticipated revenue
from product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain regulatory approval and may affect
our overall financial condition and ability to develop product candidates.
Failure to comply with health and data protection laws and regulations could lead to government enforcement
actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties), private litigation, and/or adverse publicity and could negatively
affect our operating results and business.
We and any potential collaborators may be subject to federal, state, and foreign data protection laws and regulations
(i.e., laws and regulations that address privacy and data security). In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and
regulations, including federal health information privacy laws, state data breach notification laws, state health information
privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), that
govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and other personal information could apply to our
operations or the operations of our collaborators. In addition, we may obtain health information from third parties (including
research institutions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to privacy and security requirements under the
federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA. Although we are not directly subject to
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HIPAA – other than with respect to providing certain employee benefits – we could potentially be subject to criminal penalties
if we, our affiliates, or our agents knowingly obtain, use, or disclose individually identifiable health information maintained
by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. In addition, state laws govern the
privacy and security of health information in specified circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant
ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.
Compliance with U.S. and international data protection laws and regulations could require us to take on more onerous
obligations in our contracts, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our ability to operate
in certain jurisdictions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions
(which could include civil, criminal and administrative penalties), private litigation, and/or adverse publicity and could
negatively affect our operating results and business. Moreover, clinical trial subjects, employees and other individuals about
whom we or our potential collaborators obtain personal information, as well as the providers who share this information with
us, may limit our ability to collect, use and disclose the information. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights,
failed to comply with data protection laws, or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be
expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business.
European data collection is governed by restrictive regulations governing the use, processing and cross-border
transfer of personal information.
The REDUCE-IT cardiovascular outcomes trial was conducted in part through clinical sites in the EEA. As a result, we
are subject to additional privacy restrictions. The collection and use of personal health data in the EU is governed by the
provisions of the GDPR. The GDPR imposes several requirements relating to the legal basis for processing personal data
which may include the consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, the information provided to the individuals
and the security and confidentiality of the personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data
out of the EEA to the United States. A decision by the Court of Justice of the European Union, or CJEU, in 2020 invalidated
the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield Framework, which was one of the primary mechanisms used by U.S. companies to import
personal information from Europe in compliance with the GDPR's cross-border data transfer restrictions, and raised questions
about whether the EC's Standard Contractual Clauses, or SCCs, one of the primary alternatives to the Privacy Shield, can
lawfully be used for personal information transfers from Europe to the United States or most other countries. Furthermore,
on 4 June 2021, the EC issued new forms of standard contractual clauses for data transfers from controllers or processors in
the EEA, or otherwise subject to the GDPR, to controllers or processors established outside the EEA, and not subject to the
GDPR. The new forms of standard contractual clauses have replaced the standard contractual clauses that were adopted
previously under the Data Protection Directive. We will be required to transition to the new forms of standard contractual
clauses and doing so will require significant effort and cost. The new standard contractual clauses may also impact our
business as companies based in Europe may be reluctant to utilize the new clauses to legitimize transfers of personal
information to third countries given the burdensome requirements of transfer impact assessments and the substantial
obligations that the new standard contractual clauses impose upon exporters. Failure to comply with the requirements of the
GDPR, and the related national data protection laws of the EEA Member States may result in restrictions against regulatory
approval in the EEA or substantial fines for breaches of the data protection rules. The GDPR may impose additional
responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process and we may be required to put in place additional
mechanisms ensuring compliance with these and/or new data protection rules. This may be onerous and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
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The U.S. FDA, other regulatory agencies and industry organizations strictly regulate the promotional claims that
may be made about prescription products and promotional efforts such as speaker programs. If we or our partners are
found to have improperly promoted uses, efficacy or safety of VASCEPA or otherwise are found to have violated the law
or applicable regulations, we may become subject to significant fines and other liability. The government may seek to find
means to prevent our promotion of truthful and non-misleading information beyond the current court ruling and litigation
settlement or seek to find violations of other laws or regulations in connection with the promotional efforts we undertake
on our own or through third parties.
The U.S. FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about
prescription products. In particular, in general, the U.S. government’s position has been that a product may not be promoted
for uses that are not approved by the U.S. FDA as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. The federal government has
levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined several companies
from engaging in off-label promotion. The U.S. FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or
permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed. Even though we received U.S.
FDA marketing approval for VASCEPA for the MARINE indication and for cardiovascular risk reduction based on the
REDUCE-IT study, and our settlement with the U.S. FDA affords us a degree of protection for other promotional efforts,
physicians may still prescribe VASCEPA to their patients for use in the treatment of conditions that are not included as part
of the indication statement in our U.S. FDA-approved VASCEPA label or our settlement. If we are found to have promoted
VASCEPA outside the terms of the litigation settlement or in violation of what federal or state government may determine to
be acceptable, we may become subject to significant government fines and other related liability, such as under the FDCA,
the FCA, or other theories of liability. Government may also seek to hold us responsible for the non-compliance of our former
co-promotion partner, Kowa America, or our commercialization partners outside the United States or other third-parties that
we retain to help us implement our business plan.
In addition, incentives exist under applicable laws that encourage competitors, employees and physicians to report
violations of rules governing promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. These incentives could lead to so-called
“whistleblower lawsuits” as part of which such persons seek to collect a portion of moneys allegedly overbilled to government
agencies due to, for example, promotion of pharmaceutical products beyond labeled claims. These incentives could also lead
to suits that we have mischaracterized a competitor’s product in the marketplace and we may, as a result, be sued for alleged
damages to our competitors. Such lawsuits, whether with or without merit, are typically time-consuming and costly to defend.
Such suits may also result in related shareholder lawsuits, which are also costly to defend.
In June 2020, we received a CID from the DOJ informing us that the DOJ is investigating whether aspects of our
promotional speaker programs and copayment waiver program during the period from 1 January 2015 to the present violated
the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute and the FCA in relation to the sale and marketing of VASCEPA by us and our previous comarketing partner, Kowa America. Similarly, in March 2021, the FTC issued a CID to us in connection with the FTC’s
investigation of whether we have engaged in, or are engaging in, anticompetitive practices or unfair methods of competition
relating to VASCEPA. The New York State attorney general similarly issued a subpoena to us regarding the same subject
matter on which the FTC CID is focused. The inquiries require us to produce documents and answer written questions, or
interrogatories, relevant to specified time periods. We are cooperating with the government. We cannot predict when these
investigations will be resolved, the outcome of the investigations or their potential impact on our business. Such investigations
can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect and disrupt our business. If the government determines that we have violated
the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, the FCA or antitrust regulations we could be subject to significant civil and criminal fines
and penalties.
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We may not be successful in developing and receiving regulatory approval for VASCEPA in other jurisdictions or
marketing future products if we cannot meet the extensive regulatory requirements of regulatory agencies such as for
quality, safety, efficacy and data privacy.
The success of our research and development efforts is dependent in part upon our ability, and the ability of our partners
or potential partners, to meet regulatory requirements in the jurisdictions where we or our partners or potential partners
ultimately intend to sell such products once approved. The development, manufacture and marketing of pharmaceutical
products are subject to extensive regulation by governmental authorities in the United States and elsewhere. In the United
States, the U.S. FDA generally requires preclinical testing and clinical trials of each drug to establish its safety and efficacy
and extensive pharmaceutical development to ensure its quality before its introduction into the market. Regulatory authorities
in other jurisdictions impose similar requirements. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals is lengthy and expensive
and the issuance of such approvals is uncertain. The commencement and rate of completion of clinical trials and the timing
of obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities may be delayed by many factors, including, among others:
•

the lack of efficacy during clinical trials;

•

the inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of qualified materials under cGMPs for use in clinical trials;

•

slower than expected rates of patient recruitment;

•

the inability to observe patients adequately after treatment;

•

changes in regulatory requirements for clinical trials or preclinical studies;

•

the emergence of unforeseen safety issues in clinical trials or preclinical studies;

•

delay, suspension, or termination of a trial by the institutional review board responsible for overseeing the study
at a particular study site;

•

unanticipated changes to the requirements imposed by regulatory authorities on the extent, nature or timing of
studies to be conducted on quality, safety and efficacy;

•

compliance with laws and regulations related to patient data privacy;

•

government or regulatory delays or “clinical holds” requiring suspension or termination of a trial; and

•

political instability or other social or government protocols affecting our clinical trial sites.

Even if we obtain positive results from our efforts to seek regulatory approvals, from early stage preclinical studies or
clinical trials, we may not achieve the same success in future efforts. Clinical trials that we or potential partners conduct may
not provide sufficient safety and efficacy data to obtain the requisite regulatory approvals for product candidates. The failure
of clinical trials to demonstrate safety and efficacy for our desired indications could harm the development of that product
candidate as well as other product candidates, and our business and results of operations would suffer.
For example, during the public advisory committee meeting held by U.S. FDA as part of its review of our ANCHOR
data and sNDA in October 2013, a discussion regarding observed, nominally statistically significant changes from baseline
in an adverse direction, while on background statin therapy, in certain lipid parameters, including LDL cholesterol and
triglycerides, in the placebo group, raised questions about the possibility that the light liquid paraffin oil, or mineral oil,
placebo used in the ANCHOR trial and then in use in the REDUCE-IT trial might not be biologically inert and might be
viewed as artificially exaggerating the clinical effect of VASCEPA when measured against placebo. Ultimately, in 2012,
before the U.S. FDA approval of VASCEPA after review of the MARINE and ANCHOR trials and consideration of other
data regarding mineral oil, no strong evidence for biological activity of mineral oil was identified by the agency. It was
ultimately concluded that the between-group differences likely provided the most appropriate descriptions of the treatment
effect of VASCEPA and that whatever factor(s) led to the within-group changes over time in the placebo group were likely
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randomly distributed to all treatment groups. Thus, the U.S. FDA approved VASCEPA for use in the MARINE indication in
July 2012, U.S. FDA did not dispute the veracity of the ANCHOR trial data and, in connection with the March 2016 agreement
we reached with the U.S. FDA allowing us to promote the results of the ANCHOR study, the U.S. FDA did not seek to require
that we include any qualification related to this earlier question regarding the mineral oil placebo.
In addition, in connection with U.S. FDA’s review of REDUCE-IT data and sNDA in 2019, the agency determined that
an interaction between mineral oil and statins leading to decreased absorption of statins cannot be excluded when the two are
co-administered as could have been the case in some patients in REDUCE-IT and that, in the agency’s view, indirect evidence
suggested the presence of a potential inhibitory effect on statin absorption by mineral oil. However, U.S. FDA’s exploratory
analysis indicated that the effect of LDL cholesterol values on the time to the primary endpoint was numerically small and
unlikely to change the overall conclusion of treatment benefit. U.S. FDA then relied on this assessment and all data available
to it to approve a new indication statement and labeling based on REDUCE-IT results. This matter illustrates that concerns
such as this may arise in the future that could affect our product development, regulatory reviews or the public perception of
our products and our future prospects, including REDUCE-IT results.
Any approvals that are obtained may be limited in scope, may require additional post-approval studies or may require
the addition of labeling statements, including boxed warnings, focusing on product safety that could affect the commercial
potential for our product candidates. Any of these or similar circumstances could adversely affect our ability to gain approval
for new indications and affect revenues from the sale of our products. Even in circumstances where products are approved by
a regulatory body for commercialization, the regulatory or legal requirements may change over time, or new safety or efficacy
information may be identified concerning a product, which may lead to the withdrawal of a product from the market or similar
use restrictions. The discovery of previously unknown problems with a clinical trial or product, or in connection with the
manufacturer of products, may result in regulatory issues that prevent proposed future approvals of a product and/or
restrictions on that product or manufacturer, including withdrawal of an indication or the product from the market, which
would have a negative impact on our potential revenue stream.
As we continue to build our infrastructure for commercializing VASCEPA, we may encounter difficulties in
managing the scale of our operations successfully.
The process of establishing, maintaining, expanding and streamlining a commercial infrastructure is difficult, expensive
and time-consuming. We implemented a Go-to-Market strategy in an effort to optimize provider engagement and drive
demand for VASCEPA in the United States by shifting reliance on sales force interactions with healthcare professionals to
providing managed care and prescription access through an omnichannel platform. Accordingly, as announced on 22
September 2021 we reduced our U.S. field force to approximately 300 sales representatives. As we observe the results of the
Go-to-Market strategy and as practices impacted by COVID-19 stabilize, we will continue to evaluate our needs, including
the need to fill open positions, or expand or further streamline our sales force, as appropriate to meet our business needs. Our
sales team promotes VASCEPA to a limited group of physicians and other healthcare professionals in select geographies in
the United States and is not large enough to call upon all physicians.
In addition to sales force reductions and the shift to omnichannel in the United States, we continue to work on our own
and with our international partners to support regulatory efforts outside the United States based on REDUCE-IT results. As
our operations expand with the anticipated growth of our product sales, we expect that we will need to manage additional
relationships with various collaborative partners, suppliers and other third parties. Future growth and streamlining efforts will
impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain and
integrate the right number of employees. For example, in Europe we have built out our team subsequent to EC approval of
the marketing authorization acceptance in 2021, with plans to continue to expand our European staff as deemed appropriate
on a country by country basis. The time required to secure reimbursement tends to vary from country to country and cannot
be reliably predicted at this time. While we believe that we have strong arguments regarding the cost effectiveness of
VAZKEPA, the success of such reimbursement negotiations could have a significant impact on our ability to hire and retain
personnel and realize the commercial opportunity of VAZKEPA in Europe. Our future financial performance and our ability
to commercialize VASCEPA and to compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to manage our future growth
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effectively, and such efforts may be disrupted by ongoing or reinstated COVID-19 protocols. To that end, we must be able to
manage our development efforts effectively, and hire, train, integrate and retain an appropriate level of management,
administrative and sales and marketing personnel and have limited experience managing a commercial organization. We may
not be able to accomplish these tasks, and our failure to accomplish any of them could prevent us from successfully growing
our company.
Our life-cycle management, in large part, currently depends on our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval
and commercialize a fixed-dose combination of VASCEPA and yet to be disclosed statins.
Specifically, our drug development efforts are subject to the risks and uncertainties inherent in any drug development
program. Due to the risks and uncertainties involved in progressing through development and bioequivalence or even potential
additional trials (as may be required by specific regulatory agencies), and the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatory
approvals, among other factors, we cannot reasonably estimate the timing, completion dates and costs, or range of costs, of
our drug development program, or of the successful development of any particular fixed-dose combination. The potential
success of any fixed-dose combination will depend on a number of factors, including the following:
•

Our ability to successfully manufacture a combination of VASCEPA and statin;

•

Our ability to maintain a supply of necessary statin for use in the fixed-dose combination;

•

Our ability to obtain regulatory approvals for any and all markets in which we intend to commercialize a fixeddose combination of VASCEPA and a statin;

•

Our ability to obtain payor acceptance and market access for a fixed-dose combination product of VASCEPA
and a statin; and

•

Our ability to achieve market acceptance of a fixed-dose combination of VASCEPA and a statin.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties
Our supply of product for the commercial market and clinical trials is dependent upon relationships with third-party
manufacturers and suppliers.
We have no in-house manufacturing capacity and rely on contract manufacturers for our clinical and commercial
product supply. We cannot provide assurance that we will successfully manufacture any product we may develop, either
independently or under manufacturing arrangements, if any, with our third-party manufacturers. Moreover, if our
manufacturers should cease doing business with us or experience delays, shortages of supply or excessive demands on their
capacity, we may not be able to obtain adequate quantities of product in a timely manner, or at all. If we are not able to
continue to operate our business relationships in a manner that is sufficiently profitable for us and our suppliers, certain
members of our supply chain could compete with us through supply to competitors, such as generic drug companies, through
breach of our agreements or otherwise.
Any manufacturing problem, natural or manmade disaster affecting manufacturing facilities, government action, or the
loss of a contract manufacturer could be disruptive to our operations and result in lost sales. Any reliance on suppliers may
involve several risks, including a potential inability to obtain critical materials and reduced control over production costs,
delivery schedules, reliability and quality. Any unanticipated disruption to future contract manufacture caused by problems
at suppliers could delay shipment of products, increase our cost of goods sold and/or result in lost sales. If our suppliers were
unable to supply us with adequate volumes of active pharmaceutical ingredient, API, (drug substance) or encapsulated bulk
product (drug product), it would have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue to commercialize VASCEPA.
We have contractual freedom to source the API for VASCEPA and to procure other services supporting our supply
chain. We have entered into supply agreements with multiple suppliers who also rely on other third-party suppliers to
manufacture the API and other elements necessary for the sale of VASCEPA. Our strategy in sourcing API and other
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components in our supply chain from multiple suppliers has been to expand manufacturing capacity, maintain
competitive advantages, and mitigate the risk of reliance on any single supplier.
Expanding manufacturing capacity and qualifying such capacity is complex and subject to numerous regulations and
other operational challenges. We require supply capacity to support our direct commercialization of VASCEPA in the United
States and VAZKEPA in Europe. We are also committed to providing supply to our commercial partners and distributors in
Canada, China, the Middle East and North Africa, and we anticipate potential additional supply requirements as we pursue
commercial opportunities in other countries. The resources of our suppliers vary and are limited; costs associated with
projected expansion and qualification can be significant, and lead-times for supply purchases and capacity expansion are long,
requiring certain supply related decisions and commitment to be made in advance, for example, prior to commercial launch
in China and in various European countries. There can be no assurance that the expansion plans of any of our suppliers will
be successful. Our aggregate capacity to produce API is dependent upon the continued qualification of our API suppliers and,
depending on the ability of existing suppliers to meet our supply demands, potentially the qualifications of new suppliers.
Each of our API suppliers has outlined plans for potential further capacity expansion, with certain of these expansion plans
delayed due to COVID-19 and other market uncertainties. If no additional API supplier is approved by the U.S. FDA as part
of an sNDA, our API supply will be limited to the API we purchase from previously approved suppliers. Similarly, the EMA
has not initially approved use of each of our suppliers used for VASCEPA in the United States for VAZKEPA in the EU.
While we believe that we have sufficient supply of VAZKEPA to support our initial launch plans in Europe, our supply in
Europe will be limited until additional suppliers are qualified which qualifications may be delayed by COVID-19 and our
exposure to manufacturing issues with our approved suppliers for the EU is less mitigated than is our objective by having
more suppliers qualified. If our third-party manufacturing capacity is not expanded and/or compliant with applicable
regulatory requirements, we may not be able to supply sufficient quantities of VASCEPA to meet anticipated demand. We
cannot guarantee that we can contract with any future manufacturer on acceptable terms or that any such alternative supplier
will not require capital investment from us in order for them to meet our requirements. Alternatively, our purchase of supply
may exceed actual demand for VASCEPA.
There can be no guarantee that current suppliers and future suppliers with which we have contracted to encapsulate API
will be continually qualified to manufacture the product to our specifications or that current and any future suppliers will have
the manufacturing capacity to meet anticipated demand for VASCEPA.
We may purchase too much or not enough supply to satisfy actual demand, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial results and financial condition.
Certain of our agreements with our suppliers include minimum purchase obligations and limited exclusivity provisions.
These purchases are generally made on the basis of rolling 12-month forecasts which in part are binding on us and the balance
of which are subject to adjustment by us subject to certain limitations. Certain of our agreements also include contractual
minimum purchase commitments regardless of the rolling 12-month forecasts. We may not purchase sufficient quantities of
VASCEPA to meet actual demand or we may be required to purchase more supply than needed to meet actual demand. In
either case, such event could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and financial condition.
Our dependence on third parties in the distribution channel from our manufacturers to patients subject us to risks
that limit our profitability and could limit our ability to supply VASCEPA to large market segments.
We sell VASCEPA principally to a limited number of major wholesalers, as well as selected regional wholesalers and
mail order pharmacy providers, or collectively, our distributors or our customers, that in turn resell VASCEPA to retail
pharmacies for subsequent resale to patients and healthcare providers. These parties exercise a substantial amount of
bargaining power over us given their control over large segments of the market for VASCEPA. This bargaining power has
led us to bear increasingly higher discounts in the sale of VASCEPA. In addition, payors have broad latitude to change
individual products’ formulary position or to implement other barriers that inhibit patients from receiving therapies prescribed
by their healthcare professionals. These payor barriers include requirements that patients try another drug before VASCEPA,
known as step edits, and the requirement that prior authorization be obtained by a healthcare provider after a prescription is
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written before a patient will be reimbursed by their health plan for the cost of a VASCEPA prescription. Further, pharmacy
benefit managers implement plans that act as disincentives for VASCEPA use, such as increasingly higher deductibles. One
practical impact of higher deductibles is that they may cause patients to delay filling prescriptions for asymptomatic, chronic
care medications such as hypertriglyceridemia earlier in the year, until patients meet their deductible and the cost of
VASCEPA is then borne more by their insurance carrier. Collectively, these dynamics negatively affect our profitability for
the sale of VASCEPA and could increase over time further impacting our operating results. Consolidation among these
industry participants could increase the pressure from these market dynamics.
The manufacture, packaging and distribution of pharmaceutical products such as VASCEPA are subject to U.S.
FDA regulations and those of similar foreign regulatory bodies. If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to satisfy these
requirements, our product development and commercialization efforts may be materially harmed.
The manufacture, packaging and distribution of pharmaceutical products, such as VASCEPA, are regulated by the U.S.
FDA and similar foreign regulatory bodies and must be conducted in accordance with the U.S. FDA’s cGMPs and comparable
requirements of foreign regulatory bodies. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under these cGMPs as
well as the International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for
Human Use, or ICH, regulations and guidelines, that are both capable of manufacturing VASCEPA and willing to do so.
Failure by us or our third-party manufacturers to comply with applicable regulations, requirements, or guidelines could result
in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of regulatory authorities to grant
marketing approval of our products, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or voluntary
recalls of product, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions and penalties, any of which could significantly and
adversely affect our business. If we are not able to manufacture VASCEPA to required specifications through our current and
potential API suppliers, we may be delayed in successfully supplying the product to meet anticipated demand and our
anticipated future revenues and financial results may be materially adversely affected.
Changes in the manufacturing process or procedure, including a change in the location where the product is
manufactured or a change of a third-party manufacturer, may require prior U.S. FDA review and pre-approval of the
manufacturing process and procedures in accordance with the U.S. FDA’s cGMPs. Any new facility may be subject to a preapproval inspection by the U.S. FDA and would again require us to demonstrate product comparability to the U.S. FDA. If
any third-party manufacturer with whom we contract fails to perform its obligations, we may be forced to manufacture the
materials ourselves, for which we may not have the capabilities or resources, or enter into an agreement with a different thirdparty manufacturer, which we may not be able to do on reasonable terms, if at all. In either scenario, our clinical trials or
commercial distribution could be delayed significantly as we establish alternative supply sources. In some cases, the technical
skills required to manufacture our products or product candidates may be unique or proprietary to the original third-party
manufacturer and we may have difficulty, or there may be contractual restrictions prohibiting us from, transferring such skills
to a back-up or alternate supplier, or we may be unable to transfer such skills at all. In addition, if we are required to change
third-party manufacturer for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new third-party manufacturer maintains facilities
and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all applicable regulations. We will also need to verify, such as
through a manufacturing comparability study, that any new manufacturing process will produce our product according to the
specifications previously submitted to or approved by the U.S. FDA or another regulatory authority. The delays associated
with the verification of a new third-party manufacturer could negatively affect our ability to develop product candidates or
commercialize our products in a timely manner or within budget. Furthermore, a third-party manufacturer may possess
technology related to the manufacture of our product candidate that such third-party manufacturer owns independently. This
would increase our reliance on such third-party manufacturer or require us to obtain a license from such third-party
manufacturer in order to have another third-party manufacturer manufacture our products or product candidates. In addition,
in the case of the third-party manufacturers that supply our product candidates, changes in manufacturers often involve
changes in manufacturing procedures and processes, which could require that we conduct bridging studies between our prior
clinical supply used in our clinical trials and that of any new manufacturer. We may be unsuccessful in demonstrating the
comparability of clinical supplies which could require the conduct of additional clinical trials.
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There are comparable foreign requirements under ICH guidelines. In addition, certain COVID-19 restrictions have
affected Regulatory Agencies' ability to conduct facility inspections and may affect the timing of further approvals. This
review may be costly and time consuming and could delay or prevent the launch of a product.
Furthermore, the U.S. FDA and foreign regulatory agencies require that we be able to consistently produce the API and
the finished product in commercial quantities and of specified quality on a repeated basis, including demonstrated product
stability, and document our ability to do so. This requirement is referred to as process validation. Process validation includes
stability testing, measurement of impurities and testing of other product specifications by validated test methods. If the U.S.
FDA does not consider the result of the process validation or required testing to be satisfactory, the commercial supply of
VASCEPA may be delayed, or we may not be able to supply sufficient quantities of VASCEPA to meet anticipated demand.
On 27 March 2020, former President Trump signed into law the CARES Act in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been public concern over the availability and accessibility of critical medical
products, and the CARES Act enhances U.S. FDA’s existing authority with respect to drug shortage measures. Under the
CARES Act, we must have in place a risk management plan that identifies and evaluates the risks to the supply of approved
drugs for certain serious diseases or conditions for each establishment where the drug or API is manufactured. The risk
management plan will be subject to U.S. FDA review during an inspection. If we experience shortages in the supply of our
marketed products, our results could be materially impacted.
The U.S. FDA and similar foreign regulatory bodies may also implement new requirements, or change their
interpretation and enforcement of existing requirements, for manufacture, packaging or testing of products at any time. If we
or our approved suppliers are unable to comply, we may be subject to regulatory, civil actions or penalties, or we may be
prevented from manufacturing or selling VASCEPA, all of which could significantly and adversely affect our business.
Furthermore, reductions in government operations due to pandemic mitigation efforts, or other factors, may delay timely
regulatory review by U.S. FDA or similar foreign regulatory bodies. For example, since March 2020 when foreign and
domestic inspections of facilities were largely placed on hold, the U.S. FDA has been working to resume routine surveillance,
bioresearch monitoring and pre-approval inspections on a prioritized basis. Since April 2021, the U.S. FDA has conducted
limited inspections and employed remote interactive evaluations, using risk management methods, to meet user fee
commitments and goal dates. Ongoing travel restrictions and other uncertainties continue to impact oversight operations both
domestic and abroad and it is unclear when standard operational levels will resume. The U.S. FDA is continuing to complete
mission-critical work, prioritize other higher-tiered inspectional needs (e.g., for-cause inspections), and carry out surveillance
inspections using risk-based approaches for evaluating public health. Should the U.S. FDA determine that an inspection is
necessary for approval and an inspection cannot be completed during the review cycle due to restrictions on travel, and the
U.S. FDA does not determine a remote interactive evaluation to be adequate, the agency has stated that it generally intends
to issue, depending on the circumstances, a complete response letter or defer action on the application until an inspection can
be completed. During the COVID-19 public health emergency, a number of companies announced receipt of complete
response letters due to the U.S. FDA’s inability to complete required inspections for their applications. Regulatory authorities
outside the U.S. may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and
may experience delays in their regulatory activities.
Our commercialization of VASCEPA outside the United States is substantially dependent on third parties and other
circumstances outside our control.
We have expanded our VASCEPA commercialization activities outside of the United States through several contractual
arrangements in territories including China, the Middle East, North Africa and Canada. We continue to assess other
opportunities to develop VASCEPA commercialization outside of the United States through similar arrangements.
In February 2015, we entered into a Development, Commercialization and Supply Agreement, or the DCS Agreement,
with Edding, related to the development and commercialization of VASCEPA in the China Territory. Under the DCS
Agreement, Edding is responsible for development and commercialization activities in the China Territory and associated
expenses. Additionally, Edding is required to conduct clinical trials in the China Territory to secure regulatory approval in
certain territories. In December 2017, Edding commenced a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial aimed to demonstrate that VASCEPA
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lowers triglyceride levels and otherwise has beneficial effects in Chinese patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia (TG >500
mg/dL), as we previously demonstrated with VASCEPA in the more diverse population studied in the MARINE study. In
November 2020, we announced statistically significant positive topline results from Edding's Phase 3 clinical trial of
VASCEPA. On 9 February 2021, we announced that the regulatory review processes for approval of VASCEPA in Mainland
China and Hong Kong have commenced. The Chinese National Medical Products Administration, or NMPA, has accepted
for review the new drug application for VASCEPA, submitted by Edding, based on the results from the Phase 3 clinical trial
and the results from our prior studies of VASCEPA. We expect to receive a decision from the NMPA in Mainland China in
the second half of 2022. On 23 February 2022 the Hong Kong Department of Health completed their evaluation and approved
the use of VASCEPA under the REDUCE-IT indication. Even though such results are similar to the MARINE study,
additional clinical development efforts may be necessary in this market to demonstrate the effectiveness of VASCEPA in
reducing major adverse cardiovascular events in Chinese patients with persistent cardiovascular risk. Any development and
regulatory efforts in the China Territory may be negatively impacted if the coronavirus pandemic continues or spreads, and
if resources by regulators and industry professionals continue to be diverted to address the prolonged coronavirus pandemic.
Any development and regulatory efforts in the China Territory may be negatively impacted by heightened political tension
between China and the United States, including in connection with COVID-19 and other issues expressed between the
countries regarding trade practices, tariffs and honoring intellectual property rights. If Edding is not able to effectively develop
and commercialize VASCEPA in the China Territory, we may not be able to generate revenue from the DCS Agreement
resulting from the sale of VASCEPA in the China Territory.
In March 2016, we entered into an agreement with Biologix FZCo, or Biologix, to register and commercialize
VASCEPA in several Middle Eastern and North African countries. Under the terms of the distribution agreement, we granted
to Biologix a non-exclusive license to use our trademarks in connection with the importation, distribution, promotion,
marketing and sale of VASCEPA in the Middle East and North Africa territory. Biologix was approved under the MARINE
indication in the following countries: Lebanon in March 2018, United Arab Emirates in July 2018, Qatar in December 2019,
Bahrain in April 2021, Kuwait in December 2021 and Saudi Arabia in March 2022. VASCEPA was approved under the
REDUCE-IT indication in the following countries: Qatar in April 2021, Lebanon in August 2021 and United Arab Emirates
in October 2021. VASCEPA was launched in Lebanon and the United Arab Emirates in June 2018 and February 2019,
respectively. VASCEPA is under registration in additional countries in the Middle East and North Africa regions.
Commercialization across the Middle East and North Africa is subject to similar risks as in the China Territory, and has been
negatively impacted by COVID-19 and the destabilized local economies in the region.
In September 2017, we entered into an agreement with HLS Therapeutics Inc., or HLS, to register, commercialize and
distribute VASCEPA in Canada. Under the agreement, HLS is responsible for regulatory and commercialization activities
and associated costs. We are responsible for providing assistance towards local filings, supplying finished product under
negotiated supply terms, maintaining intellectual property, and continuing the development and funding of REDUCE-IT
related activities. In December 2019, VASCEPA was approved for use in Canada to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events
in statin-treated patients with elevated triglycerides, who are at high risk of cardiovascular events due to established
cardiovascular disease, or diabetes, and at least one other cardiovascular risk factor. In January 2020, HLS obtained an
extended regulatory exclusivity designation. In February 2020, HLS launched VASCEPA in Canada, with strong initial
uptake before the impact of COVID-19 pandemic. In July 2020, Patented Medicine Prices Review Board confirmed
VASCEPA price is compliant with current guidelines, and CADTH recommended reimbursement for VASCEPA in Canada
in secondary prevention population. However, if HLS is not able to effectively commercialize VASCEPA in Canada through
effective pricing (initially and over time), reimbursement or otherwise we may not be able to generate revenue from the sale
of VASCEPA in Canada.
Our efforts to launch and support commercialization of VAZKEPA on our own in Europe is a complex undertaking for
a company that, other than our recent launch of VAZKEPA in Germany in September 2021, has not launched or otherwise
commercialized a product in Europe and could be subject to significant risks of execution to our successful development and
revenue generation of VAZKEPA in Europe. While various of our suppliers have been inspected and we do not anticipate

43

Amarin Corporation plc
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties (continued)
supply availability limiting our launch in Europe, COVID-19 has limited the ability of suppliers to be inspected and not all of
our suppliers have completed all of the requirements of the European regulatory authorities.
We have limited experience working with partners outside the United States to develop and market our products in nonU.S. jurisdictions. In order for our partners to market and sell VASCEPA in any country outside of the United States for any
indication, it will be necessary to obtain regulatory approval from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The requirements
and timing for regulatory approval, which may include conducting clinical trials, vary widely from country to country and
may in some cases be different than or more rigorous than requirements in the United States. Any failure by us or our partners
to obtain approval for VASCEPA in non-U.S. jurisdictions in a timely manner may limit the commercial success of
VASCEPA and our ability to grow our revenues.
Our relationships with healthcare providers and physicians and third-party payors are subject to applicable antikickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose use to criminal sanctions, civil
penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings.
Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors in the United States and elsewhere play a primary role in the
recommendation and prescription of pharmaceutical products. Arrangements with third-party payors and customers can
expose pharmaceutical manufacturers to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which
may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which such companies sell, market and
distribute pharmaceutical products. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well
as a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain customer incentive
programs and other business arrangements, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing
and other abusive practices. The applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations laws that may affect our ability
to operate include, but are not limited to:
•

the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving,
offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or
covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral of an individual, or the purchase, lease,
order or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in
part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Liability may be established
without a person or entity having actual knowledge of the federal anti-kickback statute or specific intent to violate
it. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the
federal anti-kickback statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the FCA. Although there are a
number of statutory exemptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain activities from prosecution, the
exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce
prescribing, purchases, or recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exemption or
safe harbor. Our practices may not in all cases meet all of the criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kickback
liability. Violations are subject to significant civil and criminal fines and penalties for each violation, plus up to
three times the renumeration involved, imprisonment, and exclusion from government healthcare workers;

•

the federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalties laws, including the FCA, which
prohibits, among other things, any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false or
fraudulent claim for payment of government funds, or knowingly making or using, or causing to be made or used,
a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay money to the government or knowingly concealing, or
knowingly and improperly avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal
government. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of
the federal government alleging violations of the statute and to share in any monetary recovery. Manufacturers can
be held liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed
to “case” the submission of false or fraudulent claims. Recently, several pharmaceutical and other healthcare
companies have been investigated or faced enforcement actions under the FCA for a variety of alleged improper
marketing activities, including allegations that they caused false claims to be submitted because of the company’s
marketing of the product for unapproved, and thus allegedly non-reimbursable, uses. Federal enforcement agencies
also have showed increased interest in pharmaceutical companies’ product and patient assistance programs,
including reimbursement and co-pay support services, and a number of investigations into these programs have
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resulted in significant civil and criminal settlements. A claim that includes items or services resulting from a
violations of the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim under the FCA. When an entity
is determined to have violated the FCA, the government may impose civil fines and penalties for each false claim,
plus treble damages, and exclude the entity from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare
programs. Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies also are subject to other federal false claims laws,
including, among others, federal criminal healthcare fraud and false statement statutes that extend to nongovernment health benefit programs;
•

HIPAA, which, among other things, imposes criminal and civil liability for knowingly and willfully executing a
scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payor and knowingly and willfully
falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent
statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services;

•

HIPAA, and its implementing regulations, which impose, among other things, requirements on certain covered
healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their respective business associates that
perform services for them that involve the use, or disclosure of, individually identifiable health information,
relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information without appropriate
authorization. The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH,
also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly
applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages
or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated
with pursuing federal civil actions;

•

the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, being implemented as the Open Payments Program, which requires
manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics, and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare,
Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to CMS
information related to direct or indirect payments and other transfers of value to physicians (defined to include
doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists, and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and
investment interests held in the company by physicians and their immediate family members. Beginning in 2022,
applicable manufacturers are also required to report information regarding payments and transfers of value
provided to physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, certified nurse anesthetists, and
certified nurse-midwives;

•

federal governmental price reporting laws, which require the calculation and reporting of complex pricing metrics
in an accurate and timely manner to government programs;

•

federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and
activities that potentially harm consumers; and

•

analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may
apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by nongovernmental third-party payors, including private insurers; and other state or local laws that require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be
made to healthcare providers; restrict the ability of manufacturers to offer co-pay support to patients for certain
prescription drugs; require drug manufacturers to report information related to clinical trials, or information related
to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures;
and/or require identification or licensing of sales representatives; and state and foreign laws governing the privacy
and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant
ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

The distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive
record-keeping, licensing, storage and security requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical
products. In addition, manufacturers and other parties involved in the drug supply chain for prescription drug products must
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also comply with product tracking and tracing requirements and for notifying U.S. FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen and
intentionally adulterated products or products that are otherwise unfit for distribution in the United States.
The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of
healthcare reform, especially in light of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies
continue to give regular and close scrutiny to interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers, and such
scrutiny often leads to investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. Ensuring business
arrangements comply with applicable healthcare laws, as well as responding to possible investigations by government
authorities, can be time- and resource-consuming and can divert a company’s attention from the business. For example, in
June 2020, we received a CID from the DOJ informing us that the DOJ is investigating whether aspects of our promotional
speaker programs and copayment waiver program during the period from 1 January 2015 to the present violated the U.S.
Anti-Kickback Statute and the FCA in relation to the sale and marketing of VASCEPA by us and our previous co-marketing
partner, Kowa America. Similarly, in March 2021, the FTC issued a CID to us in connection with the FTC’s investigation of
whether we have engaged in, or is engaging in, anticompetitive practices or unfair methods of competition relating to
VASCEPA. The New York State attorney general similarly issued a subpoena to us regarding the same subject matter on
which the FTC CID is focused. The investigations require us to produce documents and answer written questions, or
interrogatories, relevant to specified time periods. We are cooperating with the government. We cannot predict when these
investigations will be resolved, the outcome of the investigations or their potential impact on our business. Such investigations
can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect and disrupt our business. If the government determines that we have violated
the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute, the FCA or antitrust regulations, we could be subject to significant civil and criminal fines
and penalties. The failure to comply with any of these laws or regulatory requirements subjects entities to possible legal or
regulatory action. Depending on the circumstances, failure to meet applicable regulatory requirements can result in significant
civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, exclusion from
participation in federal and state funded healthcare programs (such as Medicare and Medicaid), contractual damages and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and oversight if we become subject
to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws. Any action
for violation of these laws, even if successfully defended, could cause a pharmaceutical manufacturer to incur significant legal
expenses and divert management’s attention from the operation of the business. If any of the physicians or other healthcare
providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, that person
or entity may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded
healthcare programs. Prohibitions or restrictions on sales or withdrawal of future marketed products could materially affect
business in an adverse way.
Although compliance programs can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws, it is
not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent
inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from
governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or
regulations.
Third party patient assistance programs that receive financial support from companies have become the subject of
enhanced government and regulatory scrutiny. Government enforcement agencies have shown increased interest in
pharmaceutical companies' product and patient assistance programs, including reimbursement support services, and a number
of investigations into these programs have resulted in significant civil and criminal settlements. The U.S. government has
established guidelines that suggest that it is lawful for pharmaceutical manufacturers to make donations to charitable
organizations who provide co-pay assistance to Medicare patients, provided that such organizations, among other things, are
bona fide charities, are entirely independent of and not controlled by the manufacturer, provide aid to applicants on a firstcome basis according to consistent financial criteria and do not link aid to use of a donor's product. However, donations to
patient assistance programs have received some negative publicity and have been the subject of multiple government
enforcement actions, related to allegations regarding their use to promote branded pharmaceutical products over other less
costly alternatives. Specifically, in recent years there have been multiple settlements resulting out of government claims
challenging the legality of their patient assistance programs under a variety of federal and state laws. It is possible that we
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may make grants to independent charitable foundations that help financially needy patients with their premium, co-pay, and
co-insurance obligations. If we choose to do so, and if we or our vendors or donation recipients are deemed to fail to comply
with relevant laws, regulations or evolving government guidance in the operation of these programs, we could be subject to
damages, fines, penalties, or other criminal, civil, or administrative sanctions or enforcement actions. We cannot ensure that
our compliance controls, policies, and procedures will be sufficient to protect against acts of our employees, business partners,
or vendors that may violate the laws or regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Regardless of whether we have
complied with the law, a government investigation could impact our business practices, harm our reputation, divert the
attention of management, increase our expenses, and reduce the availability of foundation support for our patients who need
assistance. Further, it is possible that changes in insurer policies regarding co-pay coupons and/or the introduction and
enactment of new legislation or regulatory measures impacting patients using affected products could have a material adverse
effect on our sales, business and financial condition. For example, on 31 December 2020, CMS published a new rule, effective
1 January 2023, requiring manufacturers to ensure the full value of co-pay assistance is passed on to the patient or these
dollars will count toward the Average Manufacturer Price and Best Price calculation of the drug. On 21 May 2021, PhRMA
sued the HHS in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, to stop the implementation of the rule claiming that the
rule contradicts federal law surrounding Medicaid rebates. Although a number of these and other proposed measures may
require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, and the current U.S. presidential administration may
reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the current U.S. presidential administration and Congress have indicated
that they will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs. We cannot predict how the implementation of
and any further changes to this rule will affect our business.
In addition, with the approval and commercialization of any of our products outside the United States, we will also
likely be subject to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws.
We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily,
including failing to meet established deadlines for the completion of such clinical trials.
Our reliance on third parties for clinical development activities reduces our control over these activities. However, if
we sponsor clinical trials, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the
general investigational plan and protocols for the trials. Moreover, the U.S. FDA requires us to comply with requirements,
commonly referred to as good clinical practices, for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to ensure
that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of trial participants are
protected. Our reliance on third parties does not relieve us of these responsibilities and requirements. Furthermore, these third
parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may be delayed in obtaining regulatory
approvals for our product candidates and may be delayed in our efforts to successfully commercialize our product candidates
for targeted diseases.
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We are dependent on patents, proprietary rights and confidentiality to protect the commercial potential of VASCEPA.
Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our drug candidates,
technology and know-how, and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others. While certain key patents related
to our product based on the MARINE clinical study were determined to be invalid as obvious by a district court in the United
States, and we are pursuing an appeal process, it remains the case that our ability to successfully implement our business plan
and to protect our products with our intellectual property will depend in large part on our ability to:
•

obtain, defend and maintain patent protection and market exclusivity for our current and future products;

•

preserve any trade secrets relating to our current and future products;

•

acquire patented or patentable products and technologies; and

•

operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties.

We have prosecuted, and are currently prosecuting, multiple patent applications to protect the intellectual property
developed during the VASCEPA development program. As of the date of this report, we had 124 patent applications in the
United States that have been either issued or allowed and more than 30 additional patent applications are pending in the United
States. Such 124 allowed and issued applications include the following:
•

one issued U.S. patent directed to a pharmaceutical composition of VASCEPA in a capsule that expires in 2030;

•

62 U.S. patents covering or related to the use of VASCEPA in either the MARINE or ANCHOR populations that
have terms that expire in 2030 or later;

•

27 U.S. patents covering or related to the use of VASCEPA in the REDUCE-IT population with terms expiring
in 2033 or later;

•

three additional U.S. patents directed to a pharmaceutical composition comprised of free fatty acids with a term
that expires in 2030;

•

five additional patents related to the use of a pharmaceutical composition comprised of free fatty acids to treat
the ANCHOR patient population with a term that expires in 2030 or later;

•

two additional patents related to the use of a pharmaceutical composition comprised of free fatty acids to treat the
MARINE patient population with a term that expires in 2030;

•

three additional patents related to the use of a pharmaceutical composition comprised of free fatty acids to treat
the REDUCE-IT population expiring 2033;

•

four additional patents related to a pharmaceutical composition comprised of free fatty acids and uses thereof to
treat both the MARINE and ANCHOR patient populations with a term that expires in 2030;

•

one additional patent related to the use of a pharmaceutical composition comprised of re-esterified EPA
triglyceride to treat the REDUCE-IT population expiring 2033;

•

four additional patents related to a formulation of EPA/DHA and uses thereof with a term that expires in 2030;

•

two additional patents related to the use of VASCEPA to treat obesity with a term that expires in 2034;

•

one additional patent related to the use of VASCEPA to treat prostate cancer with a term that expires in 2037;

•

four additional patents covering a pharmaceutical composition comprised of EPA and a hydroxyl compound with
a term that expires in 2034; and

•

five additional patents covering a new combination therapy comprised of EPA and another drug.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property (continued)
A Notice of Allowance is issued after the USPTO makes a determination that a patent can be granted from an
application. A Notice of Allowance does not afford patent protection until the underlying patent is issued by the USPTO. No
assurance can be given that applications with issued notices of allowance will be issued as patents or that any of our pending
patent applications will issue as patents. No assurance can be given that, if and when issued, our patents will prevent
competitors from competing with VASCEPA. For example, we may choose to not assert all issued patents in patent litigation
and patents or claims within patents may be determined to be invalid.
We are the owner of the above-listed patents. We are also the exclusive licensee of certain patents owned by others
covering products and products in development.
We are also pursuing patent applications related to VASCEPA in multiple jurisdictions outside the United States.
Geographies outside the United States in which VASCEPA is sold and under regulatory review are not subject to the U.S.
patent litigation and judgment. No litigation involving potential generic versions of VASCEPA is pending outside the United
States. VASCEPA is currently available by prescription in Canada, Lebanon and the United Arab Emirates. In Canada,
VASCEPA has the benefit of data protection afforded through Health Canada (until the end of 2027), in addition to separate
patent protection with expiration dates that could extend into 2039. We are pursuing additional regulatory approvals for
VASCEPA in Europe, China and the Middle East. In China and the Middle East, we are pursuing such regulatory approvals
and subsequent commercialization of VASCEPA with commercial partners. The EC approval provides ten years of market
protection in the EU. Furthermore, patent protection in Europe includes:
One granted patent related to the use of a pharmaceutical composition comprised of 4g of 96% EPA ethyl ester to treat
the REDUCE-IT population expiring 2033.
Pending patent applications in Europe, if granted, may have the potential to extend exclusivity into 2039.
We may be dependent in some cases upon third-party licensors to pursue filing, prosecution and maintenance of patent
rights or applications owned or controlled by those parties, including, for example, under our collaboration with Mochida. It
is possible that third parties will obtain patents or other proprietary rights that might be necessary or useful to us. In cases
where third parties are first to invent a particular product or technology, or first to file after various provisions of the America
Invents Act of 2011 went into effect on 16 March 2013, it is possible that those parties will obtain patents that will be
sufficiently broad so as to prevent us from utilizing such technology or commercializing our current and future products.
Although we intend to make reasonable efforts to protect our current and future intellectual property rights and to ensure that
any proprietary technology we acquire or develop does not infringe the rights of other parties, we may not be able to ascertain
the existence of all potentially conflicting claims. Therefore, there is a risk that third parties may make claims of infringement
against our current or future products or technologies. In addition, third parties may be able to obtain patents that prevent the
sale of our current or future products or require us to obtain a license and pay significant fees or royalties in order to continue
selling such products.
We may in the future discover the existence of products that infringe patents that we own or that have been licensed to
us. If we were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to stop such an infringement, such proceedings could be costly
and time consuming, regardless of the outcome. No assurances can be given that we would prevail, and it is possible that,
during such a proceeding, our patent rights could be held to be invalid, unenforceable or both. Although we intend to protect
our trade secrets and proprietary know-how through confidentiality agreements with our manufacturers, employees and
consultants, we may not be able to prevent parties subject to such confidentiality agreements from breaching these agreements
or third parties from independently developing or learning of our trade secrets.
We anticipate that competitors may from time to time oppose our efforts to obtain patent protection for new technologies
or to submit patented technologies for regulatory approvals. Competitors may seek to oppose our patent applications to delay
the approval process or to challenge our granted patents, for example, by requesting a reexamination of our patent at the
USPTO, or by filing an opposition in a foreign patent office, even if the opposition or challenge has little or no merit. For
example, one of our patents was revoked in an opposition proceeding in Europe due to a determination of improper claim
amendments under a provision of law not applicable in the United States. Such proceedings are generally highly technical,
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property (continued)
expensive, and time consuming, and there can be no assurance that such a challenge would not result in the narrowing or
complete revocation of any patent of ours that was so challenged.
Our issued patents may not prevent competitors from competing with VASCEPA, even if we seek to enforce our
patent rights.
We plan to vigorously defend our rights under issued patents. For example, on 30 November 2020 we filed a patent
infringement lawsuit against Hikma for making, selling, offering to sell and importing generic icosapent ethyl capsules in and
into the United States in a manner that we allege has induced the infringement of patents covering the use of VASCEPA to
reduce specified cardiovascular risk. On 25 January 2021, we expanded the scope of this patent infringement lawsuit to
include a health care insurance provider, Health Net, LLC. On 4 January 2022, the district court hearing the case granted
Hikma's motion to dismiss. We intend to appeal the decision of the district court when permitted and also intend to continue
to vigorously pursue our ongoing litigation with Health Net, LLC, but cannot predict the outcome or the impact on our
business.
Patent litigation is a time-consuming and costly process. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in
enforcing this patent or that it will not be successfully challenged and invalidated. Even if we are successful in enforcing this
patent, the process could take years to reach conclusion. Other drug companies may challenge the validity, enforceability, or
both of our patents and seek to design its products around our issued patent claims and gain marketing approval for generic
versions of VASCEPA or branded competitive products based on new clinical studies. The pharmaceutical industry is highly
competitive and many of our competitors have greater experience and resources than we have. Any such competition could
undermine sales, marketing and collaboration efforts for VASCEPA, and thus reduce, perhaps materially, the revenue
potential for VASCEPA.
Even if we are successful in enforcing our issued patents, we may incur substantial costs and divert management’s time
and attention in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on us. Patent litigation is costly and
time consuming, and we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.
There can be no assurance that any of our pending patent applications relating to VASCEPA or its use will issue as
patents.
We have filed and are prosecuting numerous families of patent applications in the United States and internationally
with claims designed to protect the proprietary position of VASCEPA. For certain of these patent families, we have filed
multiple patent applications. Collectively the patent applications include numerous independent claims and dependent claims.
Several of our patent applications contain claims that are based upon what we believe are unexpected and favorable findings
from our clinical trials. If granted, one or more of the resulting granted patents from REDUCE-IT, for example, would expire
in 2039, beyond the 2030 and 2033 expiration dates of currently issued REDUCE-IT patents. However, no assurance can be
given that any of our pending patent applications will be granted or, if they grant, that they will prevent competitors from
competing with VASCEPA.
Securing patent protection for a product is a complex process involving many legal and factual questions. The patent
applications we have filed in the United States and internationally are at varying stages of examination, the timing of which
is outside our control. The process to getting a patent granted can be lengthy and claims initially submitted are often modified
in order to satisfy the requirements of the patent office. This process includes written and public communication with the
patent office. The process can also include direct discussions with the patent examiner. There can be no assurance that the
patent office will accept our arguments with respect to any patent application or with respect to any claim therein. We cannot
predict the timing or results of any patent application. In addition, we may elect to submit, or the patent office may require,
additional evidence to support certain of the claims we are pursuing. Furthermore, third parties may attempt to submit
publications for consideration by the patent office during examination of our patent applications. Providing such additional
evidence and publications could prolong the patent office’s review of our applications and result in us incurring additional
costs. We cannot be certain what commercial value any granted patent in our patent estate will provide to us.
50

Amarin Corporation plc
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property (continued)
Despite the use of confidentiality agreements and/or proprietary rights agreements, which themselves may be of
limited effectiveness, it may be difficult for us to protect our trade secrets.
In addition to our patent portfolio and strategy, we will also rely upon trade secrets and know-how to help protect our
competitive position. We rely on trade secrets to protect technology in cases when we believe patent protection is not
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. While we require certain of our academic
collaborators, contractors and consultants to enter into confidentiality agreements, we may not be able to adequately protect
our
trade
secrets
or
other
proprietary
information.

Risks Related to Our Business
If the estimates we make, or the assumptions on which we rely, in preparing our projected guidance prove inaccurate,
our actual results may vary from those reflected in our projections and accruals.
In January 2022, we disclosed our 2022 financial outlook. Such outlook is based on estimates, assumptions and the
judgment of management. Because of the inherent nature of estimates, including during the uncertainty of COVID-19’s impact
on our business, we have suspended providing net revenue guidance and there could be significant differences between our
estimates and the actual amount of product demand. If we fail to realize or if we change or update any element of our publicly
disclosed financial guidance as we have done in the past or other expectations about our business change, our stock price
could decline in value.
The loss of key personnel could have an adverse effect on our business, particularly in light of our recent
announcement of management succession plan.
We are highly dependent upon the efforts of our senior management. The loss of the services of one or more members
of senior management could have a material adverse effect on us. Given our rapidly expanding enterprise coupled with a
streamlined management structure and sales force, the departure of any key person could have a significant impact and would
be potentially disruptive to our business until such time as a suitable replacement is hired. Furthermore, because of the
specialized nature of our business, as our business plan progresses, we will be highly dependent upon our ability to attract
and retain qualified scientific, technical and key management personnel. As we continue to expand our commercialization
efforts, particularly on a global scale, we may experience increased turnover among members of our senior management team.
We may have difficulty identifying, attracting and integrating new executives to replace any such losses. As we prepare for
commercialization in Europe, we need to rapidly hire employees and ensure that they are well trained and working cohesively
with core values which are consistent with our existing operations and which, we believe, help improve our position for
success. In the United States, employees are increasingly being recruited by other companies. While our business priorities
emphasize continued promotion of VASCEPA in the United States, the current and potential threat of generic competition
can create employee uncertainty which could lead to increased employee turnover. There is intense competition for qualified
personnel in the areas of our activities. In this environment, we may not be able to attract and retain the personnel necessary
for the development of our business, particularly if we do not achieve profitability. The failure to recruit key scientific,
technical and management personnel would be detrimental to our ability to implement our business plan.
Our internal computer systems, or those of our third-party clinical research organizations or other contractors or
consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of our commercial, research
and development and other programs.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our third-party clinical
research organizations and other contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized
access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication and electrical failures. Any such incident could cause
interruptions in our operations or a material disruption of our programs. To the extent that any disruption or security breach
results in a loss of or damage to our data or applications or other data or applications relating to our technology or products
candidates, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liabilities and our research
and development program could be delayed.
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We could be subject to risks caused by misappropriation, misuse, leakage, falsification or intentional or accidental
release or loss of information maintained in the information systems and networks of our company and our vendors, including
personal information of our employees and patients, and company and vendor confidential data. In addition, outside parties
may attempt to penetrate our systems or those of our vendors or fraudulently induce our personnel or the personnel of our
vendors to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to our data and/or systems. We may experience threats to our
data and systems, including malicious codes and viruses, phishing and other cyber-attacks. The number and complexity of
these threats continue to increase over time. For example, in June 2019, a report published by security researchers claimed
that a database belonging to one of our vendors containing information about individuals who use or have expressed interest
in VASCEPA was accessible to unauthorized users. Although we were informed that such breach did not include social
security numbers or credit card information, we cannot guarantee that a more material breach will not occur in the future. If
a material breach of our information technology systems or those of our vendors occurs, the market perception of the
effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and our reputation and credibility could be damaged. We could be
required to expend significant amounts of money and other resources to repair or replace information systems or networks
and to repair reputational costs. In addition, we could be subject to regulatory actions and/or claims made by individuals and
groups in private litigation involving privacy issues related to data collection and use practices and other data privacy laws
and regulations, including claims for misuse or inappropriate disclosure of data, as well as unfair or deceptive practices. We
may incur significant costs or divert significant internal resources as a result of any regulatory actions or private litigation.
Any of the foregoing consequences may adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Although we develop and maintain systems and controls designed to prevent these events from occurring, and we have
a process to identify and mitigate threats, the development and maintenance of these systems, controls and processes is costly
and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures become
increasingly sophisticated. Moreover, despite our efforts, the possibility of these events occurring cannot be eliminated
entirely. As we outsource more of our information systems to vendors, engage in more electronic transactions with payors
and patients, and rely more on cloud-based information systems, the related security risks will increase and we will need to
expend additional resources to protect our technology and information systems. In addition, there can be no assurance that
our internal information technology systems or those of our third-party contractors, or our consultants’ efforts to implement
adequate security and control measures, will be sufficient to protect us against breakdowns, service disruption, data
deterioration or loss in the event of a system malfunction, or prevent data from being stolen or corrupted in the event of a
cyberattack, security breach, industrial espionage attacks or insider threat attacks which could result in financial, legal,
business or reputational harm.
We are subject to potential product liability.
We are subject to the potential risk of product liability claims relating to the manufacturing and marketing of
VASCEPA. Any person who is injured as a result of using VASCEPA may have a product liability claim against us without
having to prove that we were at fault.
In addition, we could be subject to product liability claims by persons who took part in clinical trials involving our
current or former development stage products. A successful claim brought against us could have a material adverse effect on
our business. We cannot guarantee that a product liability claim will not be asserted against us in the future.
A change in our tax residence and/or tax laws could have a negative effect on our future profitability.
We expect that our tax jurisdiction will remain in Ireland. Under current UK legislation, a company incorporated in
England and Wales, or which is centrally managed and controlled in the UK, is regarded as resident in the UK for taxation
purposes. Under current Irish legislation, a company is regarded as resident for tax purposes in Ireland if it is centrally
managed and controlled in Ireland, or, in certain circumstances, if it is incorporated in Ireland. Up to 31 December 2019,
where a company was treated as tax resident under the domestic laws of both the UK and Ireland, then the provisions of article
4(3) of the Double Tax Agreement, or DTA, between the UK and Ireland provided that such enterprise would be treated as
resident only in the jurisdiction in which its place of effective management is situated. We had at all times sought to conduct
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our affairs in such a way so as to be solely resident in Ireland for tax purposes by virtue of having our place of effective
management situated in Ireland.
These rules regarding determination of tax residence changed effective 1 January 2020, when a modified Ireland-UK
DTA came into effect pursuant to the OECD’s Multilateral Instrument, or MLI. Under the modified Ireland-UK DTA, from
1 January 2020, we would be solely tax resident in Ireland and not tax resident in the UK if we continued to be centrally
managed and controlled in Ireland and if it were mutually agreed between the Irish and UK tax authorities under the MLI
“tie-breaker rule” that we are solely tax resident in Ireland. Having made the relevant submission under the amended
provisions, we received confirmation effective 1 January 2020 of the mutual agreement of Irish and UK tax authorities that
we are solely tax resident in Ireland for the purposes of the modified DTA.
However, we cannot assure you that we are or will continue to be solely resident in Ireland for tax purposes. It is
possible that in the future, whether as a result of a change in law or the practice of any relevant tax authority or as a result of
any change in the conduct of our affairs, we could become, or be regarded as having become resident in a jurisdiction other
than Ireland. Should we cease to be an Irish tax resident, we may be subject to a charge to Irish capital gains tax on our assets
and the basis on which our income is taxed may also change. Similarly, if the tax residency of our Irish or UK subsidiaries
were to change from their current jurisdiction, they may be subject to a charge to local capital gains tax on their assets and
the basis on which their income is taxed may also change.
Our and our subsidiaries’ income tax returns are periodically examined by various tax authorities, including the Internal
Revenue Service, or the IRS, and states. For example, the IRS began an examination of our 2018 US income tax return in the
first quarter of 2020. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain and could result in significant cash tax payments,
we do not believe the outcome of any ongoing or future audits will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
We could be adversely affected by our exposure to customer concentration risk.
A significant portion of our sales are to wholesalers in the pharmaceutical industry. Three customers individually
accounted for 10% or more of our U.S. gross product sales. Customers A, B, and C accounted for 37%, 28%, and 27%,
respectively, of gross product sales for the year ended 31 December 2021 and represented 39%, 22%, and 35%, respectively,
of the gross accounts receivable balance as of 31 December 2021. Customers A, B, and C accounted for 38%, 29%, and 25%,
respectively, of gross product sales for the year ended 31 December 2020 and represented 31%, 18%, and 37%, respectively,
of the gross accounts receivable balance as of 31 December 2020. We expect that we may have customer concentration risk
as we enter additional countries. There can be no guarantee that we will be able to sustain our accounts receivable or gross
sales levels from our key customers. If, for any reason, we were to lose, or experience a decrease in the amount of business
with our largest customers, whether directly or through our distributor relationships, our financial condition and results of
operations could be negatively affected.

Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Group continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group and the Company that the training,
career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Environmental matters
The Group does not manufacture its own product, nor does it store finished goods. Refer to the Carbon Emission Report for
further information. The Group leases all of its facilities and as such, it has a very minimal environmental impact. The Group
complies with all laws and regulations, but as of this time it does not have a large environmental footprint.
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The Group operates a Framework for employee information and consultation which complies with the requirements of the
information and Consultation of Employees Regulations 2004. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 568 employees
including our President & Chief Executive Officer. There have been no work stoppages and employee relations are good. The
Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them informed on matters
affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group and the Company. Regular
meetings are held between local management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas. The employee
share scheme has been running successfully since its inception and is open to all employees.

Diversity
Appointments within the Group are made on merit according to the balance of skills and experience offered by prospective
candidates. Whilst acknowledging the benefits of diversity, individual appointments are made irrespective of personal
characteristics such as race, disability, gender, sexual orientation, religion or age. A breakdown of the employment statistics
as of 31 December 2021 is as follows:
Position
Executive (1)
VP/Directors
Managers
Associates
Sales Professionals
Total Employees
(1)

Male

8
71
52
21
122
274

Female

2
34
44
21
193
294

Total

10
105
96
42
315
568

Includes our President & Chief Executive Officer

Social, community & human rights issues
The Group endeavors to impact positively on the communities in which it operates. The Group does not, at present, have a
specific policy on human rights. However, we have several policies that promote the principles of human rights. We will
respect the human rights of all our employees, including:

•
•
•
•

Provision of a safe, clean working environment
Ensuring employees are free from discrimination and coercion
Not using child or forced labor
Respecting the rights of privacy and protecting access and use of employee personal information

We also have an equal opportunities policy and an anti-harassment policy, both of which promote the right of every employee
to be treated with dignity and respect and not to be harassed or bullied on any grounds.
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The following disclosure describes how the directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1a) to (f) and forms
the directors’ statement required under section 414CZA of the Companies Act 2006.
Stakeholder

Employees

Patients and
customers

Overview
Significance of the
stakeholder to the
business
We are committed to
making Amarin a great
place to work for our
employees and we rely on
their commitment to our
core values and their
ability to deliver on our
strategic priorities

Issues and Factors
Issues and factors most
important to the
stakeholder
- Understanding the
Company's strategic
priorities and how his or her
role impacts those priorities
- Opportunities to
meaningfully impact
patients' lives and patient
care
- Opportunities to hear from
and provide feedback to
executive management
- Ability to contribute to the
long-term growth and value
of the enterprise

To provide quality and
sustainability in our
product and to ensure that
we continue to meet the
needs of our patients

- Safety and efficacy of
VASCEPA
- Access to an uninterrupted
supply of VASCEPA

We sell VASCEPA
principally to a limited
number of major
wholesalers, as well as
selected regional
wholesalers and specialty
pharmacy providers, that
in turn resell VASCEPA
to retail pharmacies for
subsequent resale to
patients and healthcare
providers
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Engagement
What was done in 2021

Outcome
Results of actions taken

- Town hall meetings led
by senior leadership with
an opportunity to ask
questions
- New hire training
sessions, periodic
training classes for sales
professionals and on-line
training
- Sales meetings at least
annually
- Conducted recruiting
activities and encouraged
candidates to solicit
feedback on our work
environment from our
employee base

- Amarin’s field force used
various means to interact
virtually and digitally when
they could not interact faceto-face due to the COVID19 pandemic
- Launched icosapent ethyl
under the brand name
VAZKEPA in Germany
with plans to launch in
other major markets
through our own European
sales and marketing teams.
We commenced hiring, preapproval and pre-launch
planning and other
commercial preparation
activities throughout
Europe.
- Regulatory review process
for approval of VASCEPA
in China commenced.
- In June 2021 we launched
an educational campaign,
Its Clear to Me Now, to
help physicians and patients
learn more about the
differentiation between
VASCEPA and fenofibrates
for CV risk reduction
- In September 2021 we
announced our Go-toMarket strategy in the U.S.
to optimize provider
engagement and drive
demand for VASCEPA
- Multiple third party
analyses indicated that
VASCEPA is cost effective

- Ongoing efforts to
communicate the
benefits of VASCEPA,
including the relative
risk reduction of 25% to
a high degree of
statistical significance in
first occurrence of major
adverse cardiovascular
events, to health care
providers and patients
(or potential patients)
through an increase in
sales force and
marketing efforts
- Actively monitoring
adverse events reporting
- Continually monitoring
and analyzing cost
effectiveness of
VASCEPA
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Suppliers
and partners

Suppliers of goods and
services are critical to the
effective operation of our
strategic plan and
providing products to our
patients.
Many of our business
critical operations are
managed by our suppliers
with varied levels of
start-up and ongoing
support from us.

- Providing a collaborative
environment where our
partners can grow with us
- Continually assess our
needs and provide
opportunities to suppliers
accordingly
- Receive timely deliveries
and make timely payments
for goods and services
being provided

Shareholder,
Investors
and Analysts

The Board is accountable
to shareholders and acts
in a way that will likely
promote the success of
the Company for the
benefit of its investors.
The Company works to
ensure good
communication with its
investors.

- Launched icosapent ethyl
under the brand name
VAZKEPA in Germany
and announced plans to
launch in other major
markets through our own
European sales and
marketing teams.
- Financial performance
and commercial success,
including sales growth
- Opportunity for dialogue
with management on key
matters such as
performance

Society

The Company endeavors
to impact positively on
the communities in which
it operates.

- The impact of our
activities on the local area
and environment,
including the sustainability
of the feedstock supply
- Promotion and awareness
of the health benefits of
VASCEPA in an effort to
lower cardiovascular risk
- Priced product at a level
deemed by third-party
analysis to be cost
effective
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- Discussions with
suppliers regarding any
product or operational
delays to ensure quick
resolutions as well as
assessing proactive
measure to improve
efficiency
- Supply team actively
engaged with potential
suppliers to identify
new potential partner
relationships
- Active discussions
with suppliers on supply
needs and/or projected
supply needs
- Active discussions
with suppliers regarding
product quality and
manufacturing costeffectiveness
- Virtual Annual
General Meeting in July
2021
- Regular virtual
investor meetings and
individual investor
discussions and
feedback throughout the
year
- Hold quarterly
earnings calls, including
a question and answer
session
- Engage in outreach
activities with potential
analysts to increase
company coverage

- Experienced no material
disruptions in our supply chain
despite COVID-19
- Constant engagement and
planning on needs to ensure
adequate supply to meet
patient demand
- Increased the number of
partners that the Company
utilized to run business
operations to accommodate
sales growth as well as to
diversify supply chain
operations

- Provided educational
material on the safety
and efficacy of
VASCEPA
- Sought out
opportunities to
participate in
community and nonprofit initiatives related
to our business

- In response to COVID-19, we
continue to follow local, state
and CDC guidelines in regards
to both our field force and
office-based employees.
- We do not expect and have
not had any negative impact on
the sustainability of feedstock
- Donated and participated in
American Heart Association
walks within the community

- The Board nominated Mr.
O'Sullivan and Mr. Stack for
re-election as directors at the
Company's 2022 Annual
General Meeting
- Announced that Per WoldOlsen joined the Board on 10
January 2022
- Increase in shareholder
voting response rate as a result
of investor outreach activities
- The number of analysts
covering the company
increased during the year
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/s/ Karim Mikhail
Karim Mikhail
Director
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We have adapted our environmental reporting to reﬂect the requirements under Part 7 of the Companies Act 2006
(Strategic and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013.
We have used the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard methodology to identify our greenhouse gas
inventory of Scope 1 (direct) and Scope 2 (indirect) CO2. We have considered the six main GHGs and report in CO2
equivalent.
The Company does not own any of its facilities or manufacturing plants and has no control over the operations of such
facilities. The Company considered carbon emissions from business travel as well as purchased electricity and water in the
United States.
We have identified the potential physical and transitional risks and opportunities presented by rising temperatures and climate
change for our business and have also considered the scale of this risk to Amarin. Climate change is not a principal risk for
the year ended 31 December 2021, but we have identified the climate transition as an emerging risk due to its intensifying
importance to all stakeholders. We concluded that these risks do not have a material impact on the carrying value of any assets
and liabilities as of 31 December 2021 as set out in further detail in note 1 to the financial statements.
The energy consumed resulting from the purchase of electricity during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 was
170,080 KWh and 240,480 KWh, respectively.
Assessment Parameters
Baseline year
Consolidation Approach
Boundary Control
Consistency with Financial Statements
Assessment methodology
Intensity Ratio
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Source
Scope 1
Scope 2

FY 2013
Operational control/Financial control
All entities and all facilities owned or under control Were included
No variation
Greenhouse Gas Protocol and ISO 14064-1 (2006)
Emissions per $m turnover
2021
(tCO2e)
4,112
108
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2021
(tCO2e/$m)
7.09
0.18

2020
(tCO2e)
2,972
155

2020
(tCO2e/$m)
4.90
0.26
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Directors
The Directors of the Company at 31 December 2021, who have been Directors for the whole of the year ended on that date,
except as noted below, were as follows:
Executive
Mr. Karim Mikhail, President and Chief Executive Officer (appointed 1 August 2021)
Mr. John F. Thero, President and Chief Executive Officer (retired 1 August 2021)
Non-executive
Dr. Lars Ekman
Mr. Patrick O’Sullivan
Ms. Kristine Peterson
Mr. David Stack
Mr. Jan van Heek
Mr. Joseph S. Zakrzewski
Directors’ interests in shares of the Company
The beneficial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 (or subsequent
date of appointment) of the persons who were Directors of Amarin Corporation plc on 31 December 2021 were as follows:
Share options/restricted
stock units to acquire
ordinary shares
2021
2020

Ordinary shares
2021
2020
Dr. L. Ekman
Mr. P. O’Sullivan
Ms. K. Peterson
Mr. D. Stack
Mr. J. van Heek
Mr. J. Zakrzewski
Mr. K. Mikhail (executive director)

—
—
—

40,000
14,168
196,547
31,031

—
—
—
—

14,168
184,547
23,540

348,607
528,410
484,910
318,942
441,063
475,910
1,140,799

262,101
491,457
402,957
236,989
359,110
532,499
1,152,166

Election of Directors
The Articles provide that, at every Annual General Meeting, one-third of the Directors at the time shall retire from office (or,
if the number of Directors at the time is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third shall
retire from office). The Directors elected at the Annual General Meeting will hold office until their successors are elected and
qualified, unless they resign or their seats become vacant due to death, removal, or other cause in accordance with the Articles.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
We believe that our Board and committees provide the necessary leadership, wisdom and experience that the Company needs
in making sound business decisions. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics helps clarify the operating standards and ethics
that we expect of all of our officers, Directors and employees in making and implementing those decisions. Waivers of our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for the benefit of a Director or an executive officer may only be granted by the Board
or, if permitted, a committee of the Board, and will be promptly disclosed on our website. Waivers of our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics for the benefit of other employees may be made by our Compliance Officer, the Board or, if permitted, a
committee of the Board. In furthering our commitment to these principles, we invite you to review our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics and other corporate governance materials located on our website at www.amarincorp.com.
59

Amarin Corporation plc
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
Indemnification of Directors
Qualifying third party indemnity provisions (as defined in section 234(2) of the Companies Act 2006) are in force for the
benefit of the Directors, officers and the Secretary.
Going concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and subsidiaries have been prepared on a basis which
assumes that the Group will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business, as well as the current pandemic, COVID-19. On 13 December
2019 the FDA approved another indication and label expansion for VASCEPA based on the landmark results of our
cardiovascular outcomes trial of VASCEPA, REDUCE-IT®, or Reduction of Cardiovascular Events with EPA – Intervention
Trial. VASCEPA is the first and only drug approved by the FDA as an adjunct to maximally tolerated statin therapy for
reducing persistent cardiovascular risk in select high risk patients. On 26 March 2021, the EC approved the marketing
authorization application for VAZKEPA to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events in high-risk, statin-treated adult patients
who have elevated triglycerides (≥150 mg/dL) and either established cardiovascular disease or diabetes and at least one
additional cardiovascular risk factor. As a result, the Group’s focus is on the continued commercialization of VASCEPA
under the additional indication and expanded label as well as preparing for commercialization of VAZKEPA in Europe.
At 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents balances of approximately $223.4 million, short-term
investments of $234.7 million and long-term investments of $35.0 million. In addition, the Group has trade receivables of
$163.7 million and inventory of $234.7 million. The Group started making sales in 2013 and the additional indication and
expanded label will necessitate further expenditure by the Group to continue to commercialize the product and develop the
market. Additionally, the Group has expenditures related to the Go-to-Market strategy and expenditures related to inventory
build. Further, the Group has expenditures as a result of preparing for approval in Europe, which was received on 26 March
2021, and commercialization of VAZKEPA in Europe, including the launch of VAZKEPA in Germany in September 2021.
Management has considered downside scenario assessing the potential impact of differing market conditions on US
commercialization, including the continuing impact of the COVID-19 virus and the measures being adopted in much of the
world to address it and the launch of generic competition in the United States, as a result of our ANDA litigation.
The scenario, which used severe but plausible downside assumptions, included various assumptions on timing of the generic
entry and related availability of generic supply in the market, research and development spend, launch of VAZKEPA in
Europe and reductions in sales growth due to COVID-19.
Further detail on COVID-19 impact that management has considered are on Group’s principal risks and uncertainties as set
out on pages 9 to 53 and the Review of business as set out on pages 2 to 8.
The Group expects as a result of these considerations, together with current planned expenditures, purchase commitments,
latest sales information, existing cash resources and forecast of future cashflows over the going concern assessment period
which covered through to 31 December 2023, that the Group has sufficient cash and investments to enable it to continue to
meet its liabilities as they fall due through the assessment period.
Therefore, after making inquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for a period through to 31 December 2023 being a period of at least 12 months from the
date of approval of these financial statements. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts.
Reporting currency
The reporting currency of the Company continues to be U.S. Dollars.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
Liquidity risk
Our sources of liquidity as of 31 December 2021 include cash and cash equivalents of $223.4 million, short-term investments
of $234.7 million and long-term investments of $35.0 million. In addition, we have trade receivables of $163.7 million and
inventory of $234.7 million. Our projected uses of cash include preparing for commercialization of VAZKEPA in Europe,
preparing for global further expansion, as well as initiatives in the United States related to the Go-to-Market strategy, medical
education and market awareness following successful REDUCE-IT results and following assumed impact of COVID-19
receding which limited certain commercial initiatives in 2021. In support of such commercial expansion initiatives, our
projections assume increased uses of cash for increasing inventory purchases and for general corporate and working capital
purposes. Our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are reflected in the consolidated statement of cash
flows. We believe that our cash balance at 31 December 2021 will be sufficient to fund our projected operations at least through
December 2023.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by third parties to financial instruments. The
Group does not expect any third parties to fail to meet their obligations given the policy of selecting only parties with high
credit ratings, and minimizing its exposure to any one institution.
Future developments
The Directors aim to increase revenues and cash flows through the continued commercialization of VASCEPA in the United
States to further the launch initiated in early 2020 for its cardiovascular risk indication based on the results of the REDUCEIT study, to begin commercialization efforts in Europe following marketing authorization received from the EMA in March
2021, including growing the business in Germany following launch in September 2021, and to seek additional approvals of
VASCEPA in other parts of the world, based on the successful results of the REDUCE-IT cardiovascular outcomes study.
Post balance sheet events
See review of the business above and Note 33 to the financial statements for details of post balance sheet events.
Dividends
Amarin has never paid dividends on its shares and does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.
Research and development activities
The Group has a programme of expenditure on research and development activities. Research and development costs are
written off as they are incurred and are included within operating expenses. Research and development costs include staff
costs, professional and contractor fees, materials and external services.
Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
•

so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

•

the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.
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By order of the Board
/s/ Karim Mikhail
Karim Mikhail
Director
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CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE’S ANNUAL STATEMENT
Dear Shareholder,
I am pleased to present the Amarin Corporation plc Directors’ Remuneration Report for the financial year ended 31 December
2021. This report has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 8 to the Accounting Regulation under the Companies Act
2006 (the “Act”).
Overall remuneration framework
Our philosophy in setting compensation policies for executive officers has two fundamental objectives: (1) to attract and
retain a highly skilled team of executives and (2) to align our executives’ interests with those of our shareholders by rewarding
short-term and long-term performance and tying compensation to increases in shareholder value. The Remuneration
Committee believes that executive compensation should be directly linked both to continuous improvements in corporate
performance (“pay for performance”) and accomplishments that are expected to increase shareholder value. In furtherance of
this goal, the Remuneration Committee has adhered to the following guidelines as a foundation for decisions that affect the
levels of compensation:
•

provide a competitive total compensation package that enables the Company to attract and retain highly qualified
executives with the skills and experience required for the achievement of business goals;

•

align compensation elements with the Company’s annual goals and long-term business strategies and objectives;

•

promote the achievement of key strategic and financial performance measures by linking short-term and long-term
cash and equity incentives to the achievement of measurable corporate and individual performance goals; and

•

align executives’ incentives with the creation of shareholder value.

The Remuneration Committee has historically compensated executive officers with three compensation components: base
salary, annual and short-term incentive bonuses and long-term equity-based compensation. The Remuneration Committee
believes that cash compensation in the form of a base salary and incentive bonuses provides our executives with short-term
rewards for success in operations, and that long-term compensation through equity awards aligns the objectives of
management with those of our shareholders with respect to long-term performance and success.
Annual bonus incentive
Pay-out for the annual bonus incentive to our executive officers was based on achievement of 83% of the Company’s predefined corporate goals for 2021. The Strategic Report gives details of the Company’s performance in 2021, including:
United States:
• U.S. net product revenue remained strong for the year ended 31 December 2021 amidst the ongoing challenges of
the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of additional generic icosapent ethyl market entrants.
•

U.S. commercial operations remained contribution margin (gross profit less sales and marketing expenses) positive
supporting our investments to expand into Europe.

•

The launch of the Go-To-Market strategy and progress across all three initiatives:
o

o

Expanding provider engagement


Enhanced awareness and use of VASCEPA with optimized sales force and expanded reach to
approximately 150,000 healthcare providers.



Continued evaluation of resources and encouraging pay-for-performance partnerships, such as
BlinkRx, elements of Omnichannel and other initiatives.

Focusing on managed care access


In December 2021, Amarin had approximately 40% of total commercial and Medicare Part D lives
on a weighted average basis with VASCEPA as the exclusive IP product.
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o

Improved access for VASCEPA for 25% of all commercial lives.

Optimizing fulfillment of VASCEPA prescriptions for cardiovascular (“CV”) risk reduction.


Launched new VASCEPA campaign focused on prior myocardial infarction and stroke patients at
a heightened risk of a subsequent event to generate immediate growth acceleration.



Partnered with BlinkRx to support fulfillment process across the continuum of care, to ensure
patients can start and remain on VASCEPA.

Europe:
•

Received market approval of VAZKEPA by the European Commission (“EC”) and the UK Medicines and
Healthcare products regulatory agency (“MHRA”) as the first and only treatment to reduced CV risk in high-risk,
statin-treated adult patients who have elevated triglycerides (≥150 mg/dL) and other risk characteristics.

•

Submitted market access and reimbursement dossiers in ten European countries (namely Germany, UK, Italy,
France, Spain, Denmark, Sweden, Finland, Norway, and the Netherlands) ahead of plan.

•

Clinical and Health Technology Assessments processes and reimbursement discussions progressed in all targeted
markets.

•

Launched VAZKEPA in Germany despite resurging COVID-19 disruptions.

•

Actively negotiated partnerships to bring VAZKEPA to Central and Eastern European markets via marketing and
distribution agreements with partners who have established infrastructure in such markets.

International:
•

Received acceptances of VASCEPA for regulatory review in Australia and Israel, and has embarked on initiatives
to engage a commercial partner to market/distribute the product in this region.

•

The National Medical Products Administration (“NMPA”) accepted for review the new drug application for
VASCEPA submitted by Edding, Amarin’s partner in China.

•

Expanded VASCEPA commercialization in several Middle Eastern countries including Lebanon, United Arab
Emirates, and Qatar through partners.

•

Continued execution of international expansion strategy that features plans to bring the CV reduction benefits of
VASCEPA/VAZKEPA to approximately 20 additional countries over the course of the next three years through a
series of distribution agreements and partnerships.

•

Amarin’s partner in Canada, HLS Therapeutics, announced a co-promotional agreement for VASCEPA with Pfizer
in Canada.

In view of the Group’s overall performance against its goals during the period, I am satisfied that the level of annual
performance bonus achieved is appropriate.
Equity compensation
In considering annual equity awards for our executive officers in 2021, our Remuneration Committee aimed to grant equity
at a level targeted between the 50th and 75th percentile of the Company’s peer group. Equity awards in 2021 were comprised
of a mix of time-based stock options (vesting over a four-year period), time-based restricted stock unit awards (vesting over
a three-year period), and performance-based restricted stock units (vesting over a three-year period only upon the achievement
of certain sales and operating performance conditions). Equity awards in 2021 were granted with a view towards both retaining
and incentivizing our executives in future periods and attracting a highly skilled team of executives in Europe. Non-executive
directors were issued equity awards in 2021 comprised of a mix of time-based stock options and deferred restricted stock unit
awards consistent with the Company’s non-executive director compensation program as described beginning on page 75 of
this report.
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Changes to director remuneration in 2021 and 2022
Effective 1 February 2021, the base salary of Mr. John Thero, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and its
sole executive director through his retirement on 1 August 2021, increased to $844,600 (2020: $820,000). Effective 12 April
2021, the base salary of Mr. Karim Mikhail, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and its sole executive
director beginning 1 August 2021, increased to $750,000 in anticipation of him assuming the role on 1 August 2021. Base
salary is targeted near the 50th percentile for CEOs within our peer group.
No changes were made to the non-executive director compensation program for 2021 and none are expected to be made for
2022. Details of the non-executive director compensation arrangements are included within the disclosures of the
remuneration policy for non-executive directors beginning on page 75 of this report.
We continue to be committed to open disclosure of the Company’s remuneration practices and hope to receive your support
at this year’s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
/s/ David Stack
David Stack
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

65

Amarin Corporation plc
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
The Act requires the Company’s auditor to report to the Company’s members on certain parts of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report and to state whether in their opinion those parts of the report have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Accounting Regulations under the Act. The report has therefore been divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited
information.
UNAUDITED INFORMATION
Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available upon request.
The members of the Remuneration Committee at 1 January 2021 and again effective 1 January 2022 were Mr. David Stack
(Chairman), Mr. Jan van Heek, and Ms. Kristine Peterson, who are all independent non-executive directors. None of the
members of the Remuneration Committee have any personal financial interest (other than as shareholders), conflicts of interest
arising from cross-directorships, or day-to-day involvement in running the business.
The Remuneration Committee determines the individual remuneration packages of each executive director and other members
of the executive committee. No director plays a part in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.
Directors’ remuneration policy report
The tables below summarize the remuneration policy, by component, for executive and non-executive directors. The
Company’s policy on remuneration is to attract, retain and incentivize highly qualified executives, recognizing that they are
key to the success of the business, and to align our directors’ and senior management’s interests with those of our shareholders
by rewarding short-term and long-term performance and tying compensation to increases in shareholder value.
Consistent with this policy, the Company’s benefit packages awarded to directors and senior management are intended to be
competitive and comprise a mix of remuneration (historically consisting of base salary, annual cash incentive bonus and
equity-based compensation) with the goals listed below, while not detracting from the goals of good corporate governance:
•

provide a competitive total compensation package that enables the Company to attract and retain highly qualified
directors and senior management with the skills and experience required for the achievement of business goals;

•

align compensation elements with the Company’s annual goals and long-term business strategies and objectives;

•

promote the achievement of key strategic and financial performance measures by linking short-term and long-term
cash and equity incentives to the achievement of measurable corporate and individual performance goals; and

•

align the incentives of directors and senior management with the creation of shareholder value.

The Company’s American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) are listed on the NASDAQ Global Market (“NASDAQ”) and the
Company is therefore subject to NASDAQ corporate governance rules.
The Company’s peer group with respect to staffing lies within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. Subject to
changes in the industry and to competitive and other pressures, the Company will generally align its rates of remuneration
with this sector, both in terms of overall packages and the division between basic and performance-related elements. However,
it is recognized that such competition is only one of a number of factors to be taken into account.
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Long-term incentives are provided to directors and senior management in the form of executive share options and,
additionally, in the case of executive directors and senior management, by the granting of end-of-year cash bonuses that are
specifically designed to reward executives for overall corporate performance as well as individual performance in a given
year. Share options are granted to directors and senior management to aid in their retention, to motivate them to assist with
the achievement of corporate objectives and to align their interests with those of our shareholders by creating a return tied to
the performance of our stock price. It is the intention of the Board to grant share options to executive directors and senior
management in the furtherance of these objectives and to reward performance. Additionally, the Board may award options
from time to time to non-executive directors as is relatively standard practice in the United States.
Share options are currently granted to directors and senior management pursuant to the Amarin Corporation plc 2020 Stock
Incentive Plan approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting on 13 July 2020 (the “2020 Plan”). The maximum
number of the Company’s ordinary shares of £0.50 each or any ADSs, as the case may be (the “Shares”), to be issued under
the 2020 Plan shall not exceed the sum of (i) 20,000,000 shares and (ii) the number of Shares that remained available for
grants under the Amarin Corporation plc 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, (the “2011 Plan”) as of 13 July 2020. The
Remuneration Committee may grant options to eligible persons. In determining which eligible persons may receive an award
of options and become participants in the 2020 Plan, as well as the terms of any option award, the Remuneration Committee
may take into account the nature of the services rendered to the Company by the eligible persons, their present and potential
contributions to our success or such other factors as the Remuneration Committee, at its discretion, shall deem relevant.
In the event that a director resigns, then under the 2020 Plan, the director’s unvested options lapse, and vested but unexercised
options will lapse 12 months following the date of such resignation. Upon the initial appointment or re-election to the Board,
non-executive directors will be eligible to receive equity awards split equally in value between options and restricted stock
units, the latter of which are subject to deferred settlement upon the director’s separation of service with the company (such
restricted stock units, “DSUs”). In addition, for so long as the non-executive director remains on the Board, on an annual
basis the non-executive director will be eligible to receive an additional equity award, such award to be made each year
immediately after the company’s Annual General Meeting of shareholders, split equally in value between options and DSUs.
In addition, a non-executive Chairman of the Board that continues on the Board following the company’s Annual General
Meeting of shareholders, and who was not first elected to the Board at such meeting, will be eligible to receive an annual
equity award split equally in value between options and DSUs. Share options granted to non-executive directors pursuant to
the 2020 Plan typically vest in full upon the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting
of shareholders in such anniversary year, while DSUs vest in equal annual instalments over three years commencing upon the
earlier of the one-year anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year.
Share options granted to new employees typically vest 25% upon the one-year anniversary of the date of hire and then vest
ratably on a quarterly basis over the subsequent 12-quarter period.
The Remuneration Committee has the delegated authority of the Board to vary the remuneration of executive directors and
senior management to include the award of end-of-year bonuses and grant of options. The Remuneration Committee awards
performance-based cash bonuses based in part on the Company’s achievement of corporate goals. In addition, the
Remuneration Committee considers the individual performance of the Company’s executive directors and senior management
and the level of each such individual’s accountability, scope of responsibilities and impact on the Company’s performance
during the course of the year as well as corporate achievement beyond established goals. The Remuneration Committee also
considers its own understanding of what executives with similar functions at similarly situated companies typically receive
for performance-based cash compensation so as to ensure that the Company’s executive directors and senior management are
properly remunerated.
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The following policy applies to the Company’s sole executive director, the President and Chief Executive Officer.
Component of remuneration package
– purpose and link to strategy
Basic salary

Operation

Opportunity

Performance
Measures

Our Remuneration Committee aims to
set executives’ base salaries, in the
aggregate, at levels near the 50th
percentile of salaries of executives with
similar roles at the Company’s peer
group. The Remuneration Committee
believes it is important to provide
adequate fixed compensation to our
executive officers working in a highly
volatile and competitive industry.

Salaries are
reviewed
annually and
fixed for 12
months from 1
February.

Adjustments to base salary are
considered annually in light of
each executive officer’s
individual performance, the
Company’s performance and
compensation levels at peer
companies in our industry, as
well as changes in job
responsibilities or promotion.

Not applicable.

Salaries are
paid semimonthly (for
U.S.
employees) and
monthly (for
Europe
employees) in
arrears, in cash.

Effective 1 February 2021, an
increase to Mr. John Thero’s
salary to $844,600 was approved
(2020: $820,000). Mr. Thero
retired from President and Chief
Executive Officer of the
Company and its sole executive
director on 1 August 2021.
Effective 12 April 2021, the base
salary of Mr. Karim Mikhail,
President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and its
sole executive director beginning
1 August 2021, increased to
$750,000 in anticipation of him
assuming the role on 1 August
2021. Effective 1 February 2022,
an increase to Mr. Mikhail’s
salary to $787,500 was approved.
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Annual bonus incentive
The Company provides executive
officers with performance-based cash
bonuses, which are specifically
designed to reward executives for
overall corporate performance as well
as individual performance in a given
year.

Payable in cash
on an annual
basis at the
discretion of the
Remuneration
Committee.

The bonus potential for Mr.
Thero and Mr. Mikhail for 2021
was 80% and 70%, respectively,
of their respective base salaries
and the individual goals of Mr.
Thero and Mr. Mikhail matched
the Company’s corporate goals
100%. The corporate goals are
based on achievement of various
operational criteria.
The bonus potential for Mr.
Mikhail for 2022 will be 75% of
his base salary and the individual
goals of Mr. Mikhail will
continue to match the Company’s
corporate goals 100%.

See discussion of the
2021 corporate goals
below.
2022 corporate goals
relate primarily to
commercial
operations (50%),
R&D/business
development (20%),
international
expansion (15%) and
financial and
information
technology (15%)
performance
measures, with
percentages reflecting
the relative weighting
of the bonus to the
performance
measures.

Pensions
Executive officers are eligible to receive
company match on their 401(k) or
country-specific equivalent
contributions based on the company’s
defined contribution plan, on the same
basis as other employees, subject to
applicable law.

Executive
officers receive
company match
beginning the
first day of the
month
following 60
days from hire.

The value of the company match
awarded to executive officers is
dependent on the individual’s
salary and personal contribution
amount.
Company match is calculated at
50% of the employee’s
contribution, up to 4% of their
base salary subject to statutory
annual limits.
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Equity compensation
Executive officers are eligible to receive
equity compensation in the form of
stock options, restricted stock units
(RSUs) and performance-based
restricted stock units (PSUs). The
Remuneration Committee grants stock
options, RSUs and PSUs to executive
officers to aid in their retention, to
motivate them to assist with the
achievement of both near-term and
long-term corporate objectives and to
align their interests with those of our
shareholders by creating a return tied to
the performance of our stock price.

Awards are
granted at the
discretion of the
Remuneration
Committee
based on
individual
performance
and
contributions.

All share options will be awarded
at fair market value and
calculated based on the closing
market price on the grant date.

Executive
officers receive
private health
insurance and
car allowance
from the date of
appointment.

The value of the private health
insurance awarded to executive
officers is dependent on the
individual’s circumstances.

All RSUs and PSUs will be
awarded at zero cost and valued
based on the fair market value
(closing market price) as of the
date of vesting.

Each award grant has
pre-specified timebased and/or
performance vesting
criteria.

Employee benefits
Executive officers are eligible to
participate in all of our employee
benefit plans, including medical, dental,
group life, disability and accidental
death and dismemberment insurance, in
each case on the same basis as other
employees, subject to applicable law.
They are also eligible to receive a car
allowance.

Not applicable.

The value of the car allowance is
up to $1,000 per month.

Information in respect of performance measures or targets, in the opinion of the directors, is commercially sensitive in respect
of the Company.
Such details will be reported upon achievement of the performance criteria.
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2021 Corporate Goals:
The following represent the Company’s 2021 corporate goals. The related percentages assigned represent the percentage
allocated to each set of functional goals, the total of which comprises 100% of the corporate goals. The goals may be
determined to have been achieved on a graded basis at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee based on partial
achievement of the functional goals.
Commercial (40%): These goals established target performance for the Company regarding the commercialization of
VASCEPA in the United States and VAZKEPA in Europe. The specific goals were as follows:
•

•

Improve profit from U.S. commercial activities (gross margin less U.S. sales & marketing costs) to exceed a specified
amount
Compliance: Favorable outside audit report regarding compliance program and no lost claim due to untruthful or
misleading statements to healthcare professionals

•

Europe: Secure approval of MAA for cardiovascular risk reduction by Q1'21

•

Launch commercially in Germany in Q3'21

•

Secure market access with pricing consistent with operating plan in at least one European country

International Expansion (10%): These goals established target performance for the Company regarding its international
expansion. The specific goals were as follows:
•

China: Support Eddingpharm in submitting for VASCEPA regulatory approval in mainland China

•

China: Garner recommendation from medical society regarding use of VASCEPA based on REDUCE-IT results

•

Canada and MENA: Support revenue growth consistent with operating plan

Research & Development and Business Development (20%): These goals established target performance for the Company
regarding clinical and business development matters. The specific goals were as follows:
•

•

In-license for development (or develop organically) a new product or a new indication capable of supporting a
specified amount in peak sales and advance such opportunity to status of clinically viable with business plan
supported by the Board
Complete ongoing COVID-19 studies

Supply (20%): These goals established target performance for the Company regarding commercial supply. The specific goals
were as follows:
•
•

Supply Price: Purchase inventory needed for operating plan at an average price consistent with operating plan
Suppliers: Ensure adequate qualified supply capacity/coverage to meet 2021 demand and exit 2021 with capacity to
meet or exceed certain levels of base case revenue scenarios for 2022 and 2023

Financial (10%): These goals established target performance for the Company regarding the operational finance performance.
The specific goals were as follows:
•

Cash Outflow from Operations: Ensure gross cash outflow is not greater than operating plan
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Approach to recruitment remuneration – executive directors
The ongoing remuneration package for a newly recruited executive director is determined by the Remuneration Committee
using the policy set out above. To facilitate recruitment, the Remuneration Committee may also make one-off awards to a
newly recruited external executive director in the form of a sign-on bonus or to reimburse relocation expenses. Such awards
are assessed on a case-by-case basis.
Loss of office – executive directors
On 28 January 2021, the Company approved an Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan, pursuant to which the
Company’s U.S., Irish and Swiss officers with a title of vice president and higher, including Mr. Mikhail, are eligible for
certain severance benefits as participants under the Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan. As of 31 December
2021, in the event of a termination of Mr. Mikhail’s employment by the Company without cause or by him for good reason,
in each case, during the twenty-four (24) month period following a change of control and subject to the execution and
effectiveness of a separation agreement including, among other things, a general release of claims in favor of the Company,
Mr. Mikhail would have been entitled to continuation of his base salary for twenty-four (24) months, a lump sum cash payment
equal to two (2) times his target annual performance bonus for the year in which termination occurs or, if higher, the target
annual performance bonus in effect as of immediately prior to the change of control (the higher of such amounts, the “Target
Bonus”), continuation of group health plan benefits for up to twenty-four (24) months and accelerated vesting of all of his
outstanding equity Awards. As of 31 December 2021, absent a change of control, in the event that Mr. Mikhail’s employment
is terminated by the Company without cause by him for good reason, and subject to the execution and effectiveness of a
separation agreement, Mr. Mikhail would have been entitled to continuation of his base salary for eighteen (18) months, an
amount equal to one and a half (1.5) times his Target Bonus to be paid in substantially equal instalments over the course of
eighteen (18) months, continuation of group health plan benefits for up to eighteen (18) months and twelve (12) months of
accelerated vesting of his outstanding equity awards. In addition, any remuneration/benefits paid during the requisite sixmonth notice period shall be deducted from the severance pay and benefits, if any are applicable. The Executive Severance
and Change of Control Plan also provides that if Mr. Mikhail was party to any pre-existing severance arrangements that were
in effect as of the effective date of the plan which contain a more favorable definition of a defined term in the Executive
Severance and Change of Control Plan or provides for more favorable terms or provisions than provided under the Executive
Severance and Change of Control Plan (including, without limitation, with respect to compensation, benefits or equity-related
rights), then the more favorable definition, term or provision, or relevant combination thereof, shall be applicable; provided,
however, that in no event shall there be duplication of payments or benefits under the Executive Severance and Change of
Control Plan and the pre-existing severance arrangements.
On 12 April 2021, Mr. Thero entered into a Transitional Services and Separation Agreement as part of his planned retirement
that fully superseded all other agreements or understandings between him and the Company relating to his employment,
compensation, severance pay, benefits and equity awards, including, without limitation, his employment agreement and
subsequent amendments and the Executive Severance and Change of Control Plan. Through 1 August 2021, he continued to
serve as President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board of Directors, continued to be paid his base salary,
continued to remain eligible for employee benefits, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable health plan(s), and
continued to vest in his outstanding equity awards. Effective 1 August 2021, he retired from his role as President and Chief
Executive Officer and Director and served as Senior Advisor through 31 October 2021. During this period, he was paid 50%
of his base salary, continued to remain eligible for employee benefits, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable
health plan(s), and continued to vest in his outstanding equity awards. His employment with Company ended on 31 October
2021, at which time he became a consultant to the Company through 28 February 2022. As a consultant, he was paid an hourly
rate and reimbursed for reasonable expenses and continued to vest in his outstanding equity awards. Mr. Thero continued to
remain eligible for the 2021 annual bonus based on achievement of the corporate goals targeted at 80% of all cash
compensation he received for 2021 less any amount attributed to his 2020 bonus. The bonus was paid to him at the time other
executives received their 2021 bonuses.
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Illustrations of application of remuneration policy
The chart below provides an indication of the expected remuneration for executive directors (i.e., Chief Executive Officer)
and at three level scenarios: Minimum, On Plan and Maximum.

In developing the scenarios, the following assumptions have been made:
Minimum: Fixed elements of remuneration comprise basic salary, benefits and pension-related benefits. CEO’s salary is the
last known salary. Benefits and pension-related benefits are measured as set forth on the single total figure of remuneration
table on page 77.
On Plan: Fixed elements of remuneration are as for the minimum scenario. The annual variable element pays out at 70% of
the annual bonus target.
Maximum: Fixed elements of remuneration are as for the minimum scenario. The annual variable element pays out at 100%
of the annual bonus target.
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Remuneration policy – non-executive directors
Component

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Fees

The annual retainer fees are commensurate with
the time each director is expected to spend on
the Company’s affairs and with the
responsibility assumed as director of a listed
Company. The fee amounts are intended to
approximate the 50th percentile of non-executive
director compensation within the Company’s
peer group.

Additional fees payable
for duties

The additional fees payable to the Chairman and
members of the Board committees reflect the
additional time commitment in preparing and
attending meetings and in relation to the
Chairmen of the Board committees, outside
these meetings.

Equity compensation

Equity incentive awards are granted to new and
continuing directors as described below.

The remuneration of nonexecutive directors is set annually
by the Board having taken advice
on appropriate levels. The current
level of fees, which are reviewed
annually, are detailed below.
Non-executive directors are also
reimbursed for their reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
connection with attending Board
and committee meetings.

All share options will be awarded
at fair market value and calculated
based on the closing market price
on the grant date.

Retirement and re-election of directors
The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide that, at every Annual General Meeting, at least one-third of the directors at
the time shall retire from office (or, if the number of directors at the time is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not exceeding one-third shall retire from office). The directors elected at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
will hold office until their successors are elected and qualified, unless they resign or their seats become vacant due to death,
removal, or other cause in accordance with the Articles.
The Company is not currently a party to a service contract with any of its non-executive directors. Current non-executive
directors are paid under the Company’s non-executive director compensation policy, which is summarized below.
Statement of consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the group
The Company has not formally consulted with employees when drawing up the directors’ remuneration policy. However, the
Company considers any informal feedback received via employee staff surveys or other channels.
Statement of consideration of shareholders’ views
The Remuneration Committee takes very seriously the views of shareholders when making changes to executive remuneration
arrangements. The Remuneration Committee notes the high historic level of approval from shareholders for the Directors’
Remuneration Report and thanks shareholders for their continuing support.
The Remuneration Committee welcomes shareholders’ views on the executive remuneration package. The Remuneration
Committee continues to challenge whether the executive remuneration arrangements align with the group’s strategy, and to
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respond to best practice and any concerns or views expressed by our institutional investors.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, which acts as the Company’s nominating committee, reviews and
recommends to the Board potential nominees for election to the Board. In reviewing potential nominees, the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee considers the qualifications of each potential nominee in light of the Board’s existing and
desired mix of experience and expertise. Specifically, as set forth in our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Charter, it considers whether the nominee satisfies the following minimum criteria: has experience at a strategic or
policymaking level in a business, government, non-profit or academic organization of high standing; is highly accomplished
in his or her field, with superior credentials and recognition; is well regarded in the community and has a long-term reputation
for the highest ethical and moral standards; has sufficient time and availability to devote to the affairs of the Company,
particularly in light of the number of boards on which the nominee may serve; has a demonstrated history of actively
contributing at board meetings (to the extent that the nominee serves or has previously served on other boards). In addition to
these minimum qualifications, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee recommends that the Board select
persons for nomination to help ensure that: a majority of the Board shall be independent in accordance with in the listing
standards of NASDAQ; each of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee shall be comprised entirely of independent directors; and at least one member of the Audit Committee
shall qualify as an audit committee financial expert as defined by Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regulations.
In addition, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may consider whether the nominee has direct experience
in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology or healthcare industries or in the markets in which the Company operates and whether
the nominee, if elected, would assist in achieving a mix of Board members that represents a diversity of background and
experience. Although the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may consider whether nominees assist in
achieving a mix of Board members that represents a diversity of background and experience, which is not only limited to
race, gender or national origin, we have no formal policy regarding board diversity.
After reviewing the qualifications of potential Board candidates, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
presents its recommendations to the Board, which selects the final director nominees. The Board members to be nominated
for re-election as directors at the Company’s 2022 Annual General Meeting will be announced at a later date.
Non-executive director compensation
The levels of fees payable in 2021 and 2022 are as follows:

Retainer and Meeting
Fees

Annual Board Retainer Fee:
Non-Executive Chairman
All other non-executive directors

$95,000
$62,500

Annual Chairman Retainer Fees:
Audit Committee Chairman
Remuneration Committee Chairman
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chairman

$25,000
$20,000
$11,000

Annual Committee Member Retainer Fees:
Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

$12,000
$10,000
$5,000

Upon recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the Board approved an amended non-executive director
compensation program effective 10 December 2012, as amended on 20 May 2013, 11 March 2014, 31 January 2019, and 31
January 2020. The amended non-executive director compensation program is intended to approximate the 50th percentile of
non-executive director compensation within the Company’s peer group. The annual retainers are paid in equal instalments
made in arrears within thirty days of the end of each calendar quarter, or upon the earlier resignation or removal of the nonexecutive director. Amounts owing to non-executive directors as annual retainers shall be annualized, meaning that for non75
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executive directors who join the Board during the calendar year, such amounts shall be on a pro rata basis depending on the
number of calendar days served by such director.
Non-executive directors shall be given an annual election option, which option is to be exercised within ten calendar days of
the end of each quarter of receiving their annual retainers in the form of either (i) cash or (ii) unregistered non-ADR ordinary
shares, with any such issuances to be priced at the greater of (i) the closing price of the Company’s ADSs on NASDAQ on
the date which is ten calendar days after the end of each quarter or (ii) £0.50 per ordinary share (i.e., par value).
In addition, upon their initial appointment or re-election to the Board, non-executive directors will be eligible to receive equity
awards valued at $540,000 based on a consistently-applied, methodology, split equally in value between option awards and
DSUs. The option awards vest in full upon the one-year anniversary of the date of grant. The DSUs are subject to deferred
settlement upon the director’s separation of service with the Company and vest in equal instalments over three years on the
anniversary of the date of grant. The grant date for such awards will be the date of such initial appointment or re-election, as
the case may be, and the exercise price of any such option award shall be equal to the closing market price on NASDAQ of
the ADSs representing the Company’s Ordinary Shares on the date of such appointment or re-election to the Board.
In addition, for so long as the non-executive director remains on the Board, the non-executive director will be eligible to
receive annual equity awards valued at $360,000 based on a consistently-applied methodology, split equally in value between
option awards and DSUs. Such options award for ordinary shares will vest in full upon the earlier of the one-year anniversary
of the date of grant or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year. Such DSUs will vest in equal
annual instalments over three years, in each case upon the earlier of the anniversary of the date of grant or the Annual General
Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year. The grant date for such awards will be the date of the Company’s Annual
General Meeting of shareholders, and the exercise price of any such option award shall be equal to the closing market price
on NASDAQ of the Company’s ordinary shares (and represented by ADSs) on the date of such meeting. In addition, the nonexecutive directors are also eligible to participate in the Company’s stock option plans on a case-by-case basis. Non-executive
directors are also reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attending Board and
committee meetings.
In addition, a non-executive chairman of the Board that continues on the Board following the Company’s Annual General
Meeting of shareholders (and who was not first elected to the Board at such meeting) will be eligible to receive an annual
equity award valued at $20,000 based on a consistently-applied, methodology, split equally in value between option awards
and DSUs. Such awards will have a grant date and exercise price identical to other annual equity awards.
On 14 June 2021, the Company awarded options representing the right to purchase 45,953 Ordinary Shares and 36,000 DSUs
to each of Mr. O’Sullivan, Ms. Peterson, Mr. Stack, Mr. van Heek and Mr. Zakrzewski in connection with their service on
the Board. For each grantee, the options will vest in full upon the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the grant date or the
Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year and the DSUs will vest in equal annual instalments over
three years commencing on the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting of
shareholders in such anniversary year. The total grant-date fair value of these option and DSU awards was $153,943 and
$180,000, respectively, based on a closing price of $5.00 on NASDAQ of the ADSs representing the Company’s Ordinary
Shares on the date of grant.
In addition, on 14 June 2021, the Company awarded 48,506 options and 38,000 DSUs to Dr. Ekman in connection with his
service on the Board and as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board. The options will vest in full upon the earlier of the oneyear anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year and the DSUs will
vest in equal annual instalments over three years commencing on the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the grant date or
the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year. The total grant-date fair value of these option and DSU
awards was $162,495 and $190,000, respectively, based on a closing price of $5.00 on NASDAQ of the ADSs representing
the Company’s Ordinary Shares on the date of grant.
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Single total figure of remuneration table (Audited)
2021
Annual
performanceBasic salary All taxable
related
and fees (1) benefits (2) remuneration (3)
Executive directors
Mr. K. Mikhail

$312,500

$55,288

Mr. J. Thero

490,633

16,913

Subtotal

803,133

72,201

100,000

—

Mr. P. O’Sullivan

85,500

—

Ms. K. Peterson

84,500

—

Mr. D. Stack

82,500

—

Mr. J. van Heek

97,500

—

Mr. J. Zakrzewski

67,500

—

517,500

—

$1,320,633

$72,201

Long-term
performancerelated Pensionremuneration
related
(4)(5) benefits (6)

$480,000
536,738
1,016,738

Total Fixed
Total Variable
Total Remuneration (7) Remuneration (8)

$38,079

$24,923

$910,790

$392,711

$518,079

5,861,600

5,800

6,911,684

513,346

6,398,338

5,899,679

30,723

7,822,474

906,057

6,916,417

110,093

—

210,093

100,000

110,093

102,117

—

187,617

85,500

102,117

102,117

—

186,617

84,500

102,117

102,117

—

184,617

82,500

102,117

102,117

—

199,617

97,500

102,117

102,117

—

169,617

67,500

102,117

620,678

—

1,138,178

517,500

620,678

$30,723 $8,960,652

$1,423,557

$7,537,095

Non-executive
directors
Dr. L. Ekman

Subtotal
Total

2020

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$1,016,738

$6,520,357

Annual
performanceLong-term
PensionBasic salary All taxable
related performance-related
related
and fees benefits (2) remuneration (3) remuneration (4)(9) benefits (6)

Executive directors
Mr. J. Thero

$810,000

$29,164

$551,040

$12,539,228

100,000

971,183

—

153,423

—

Mr. P. O’Sullivan

85,500

—

—

135,593

Ms. K. Peterson

84,500

324,208

—

Mr. D. Stack

82,500

437,402

Mr. J. van Heek

97,500

Mr. J. Zakrzewski

67,500

Non-executive
directors
Dr. L. Ekman

Subtotal
Total

Total Fixed
Total Variable
Total Remuneration (7) Remuneration (8)

$5,700 $13,935,132

$844,864

$13,090,268

1,224,606

1,071,183

153,423

—

221,093

85,500

135,593

—

544,301

408,708

—

135,593

—

655,495

519,902

392,748

—

135,593

—

625,841

490,248

—

—

135,593

—

203,093

67,500

517,500 2,125,541
$1,327,500 $2,154,705

—
$551,040

831,388
$13,370,616

— 3,474,429
$5,700 $17,409,561

2,643,041
$3,487,905

135,593
135,593
135,593
135,593
135,593
831,388
$13,921,656

(1)

In 2021, basic salary and fees for Mr. Mikhail represents that which was earned beginning 1 August 2021 (CEO appointment date) and for Mr. Thero
represents that which was earned through 1 August 2021 (CEO retirement date).

(2)

Taxable benefits for executive directors consist of payments made for participation in the Company’s employee benefit plans, including medical,
dental, group life, disability accidental death and dismemberment insurance and, for Mr. Mikhail in 2021, car allowance. In 2021, for Mr. Mikhail it
represents that which was paid beginning 1 August 2021 (CEO appointment date) and for Mr. Thero it represents that which was paid through 1 August
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2021 (CEO retirement date). Taxable benefits for non-executive directors in 2020 consist of tax equalization payments paid during 2020 to reimburse
non-executive directors for the difference between Ireland’s higher tax rates imposed on earnings resulting from stock option exercises in 2019 and
the tax rates of the director’s home tax resident country to ensure that service to the Company is tax neutral for the non-executive directors. The
amounts presented are gross amounts, inclusive of the amount of taxes payable.
(3)

For Mr. Mikhail, in 2021, the annual performance-related remuneration represents the bonus earned under the Management Incentive Compensation
Plan and is based on the company’s achievement of its 2021 corporate goals plus an additional $50 thousand for special achievements during 2021.
For Mr. Thero, in 2021, the annual performance-related remuneration represents 80% of all 2021 cash compensation as reported to taxing authorities
less any amount attributed to his 2020 bonus, per his Transitional Services and Separation Agreement, and, in 2020, it represents the bonus earned
under the Management Incentive Compensation Plan and was based entirely on the company’s achievement of its 2020 corporate goals.

(4)

In 2021 and 2020, the long-term performance-related remuneration represents stock options and restricted stock units that vested during the respective
years upon completion of service requirements and, for Mr. Thero, achievement of applicable performance-related milestones, valued based on the
market price of the company's stock on the vesting date. In 2021 specifically, for Mr. Mikhail it represents that which vested beginning 1 August 2021
(CEO appointment date) and for Mr. Thero it represents that which vested through 1 August 2021 (CEO retirement date).

(5)

For Mr. Thero, includes 471,528 restricted stock units granted in 2018 which vested in 2021 through 1 August (CEO retirement date) upon achievement
of the $500M Net Product Revenues Milestone described on pages 80-81 plus 94,304 restricted stock units granted in 2018 which continued to vest
per a time-based schedule in 2021 through 1 August (CEO retirement date) upon achievement of the $300M Net Product Revenues Milestone and
$400M Net Product Revenues Milestone in 2020 described on pages 80-81 of the Annual Report and Accounts of Amarin Corporation plc for the year
ended 31 December 2020, all valued as described in (4) above.

(6)

Pension-related benefits represent the company's match obligations related to the defined contribution plan.

(7)

Total fixed remuneration comprises basic salary and fees, all taxable benefits, and pension-related benefits.

(8)

Total variable remuneration comprises annual performance-related remuneration and long-term performance-related remuneration.

(9)

For Mr. Thero, includes 377,224 restricted stock units granted in 2018 which vested in 2020 upon achievement of the $300M Net Product Revenues
Milestone and $400M Net Product Revenues Milestone described on pages 80-81 of the Annual Report and Accounts of Amarin Corporation plc for
the year ended 31 December 2020, valued as described in (4) above.

Analysis of taxable benefits received (Audited)
Executive directors are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, including medical, dental, group life,
disability and accidental death and dismemberment insurance, in each case on the same basis as other employees, subject to
applicable law.
Pension entitlements (Audited)
The Company makes available a defined contribution retirement plan for its U.S. employees including executive directors.
The Company made $5,800 in contributions in 2021 to its U.S.-based executive director (2020: $5,700). The Company made
$24,923 in pension-related payments in 2021 for its Europe-based executive director.
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Award – type of interest and basis of award
Annual Bonus Incentive
Type of interest
Cash
Basis of award
The bonus is payable on a sliding scale from 0% to 100% of base salary, consisting
of a conditional award of 70% of base salary for Mr. Mikhail for achievement of predefined corporate goals, assuming such corporate goals are achieved at a level of at
least 70%. For Mr. Thero, a new target bonus amount was settled upon as part of his
Transitional Services and Separation Agreement to be 80% of all 2021 cash
compensation as reported to taxing authorities less any amount attributed to his 2020
bonus.
Performance measures and targets
In reviewing the Company’s performance against the pre-specified corporate goals
set by the Remuneration Committee as described on page 71, the Remuneration
Committee determined: (i) that the U.S. profit goal, the compliance goal, the Europe
MAA approval goal, the Germany launch goal and the Europe market access goal
were all achieved at the 100% level, resulting in a combined weighted score of 40%
for the commercial component of the corporate goals; (ii) that the China
Eddingpharm regulatory approval goal and the China medical society
recommendation goal were both achieved at the 100% level while the Canada and
MENA goal was not achieved, resulting in a combined weighted score of 7.5% for
the international expansion component of the corporate goals; (iii) that the in-license
or development goal was not achieved while the completion of COVID-19 studies
goal was achieved at the 100% level, resulting in a combined weighted score of 5%
for the R&D and business development component of the corporate goals; (iv) that
the supply price goal and the suppliers goal were both achieved at the 100%,
resulting in a combined weighted score of 20% for the supply component of the
corporate goals; and (v) that the cash outflow goal was achieved at the 100% level,
resulting in a combined weighted score of 10% for this component of the corporate
goals. In total, the Remuneration Committee determined that these pre-defined
corporate goals were achieved at the 83% level for 2021.
The cash bonus for Mr. Mikhail was based on the Company’s achievement of the
2021 corporate goals, plus an additional $50 thousand for special achievements in
2021. As a result, he received a cash bonus in the amount of 91% of his target bonus
amount. The cash bonus award for Mr. Thero was based on 80% of all 2021 cash
compensation as reported to taxing authorities less any amount attributed to his 2020
bonus, per his Transitional Services and Separation Agreement. As a result, he
received a cash bonus in the amount of 100% of his new target bonus amount.
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Performance
period end

Amount at
face value

31 December
2021

Mr. Mikhail:
$480,000
Actual
outcome –
64% of base
salary (91%
of target
award based
on predefined
criteria plus
additional
bonus for
special
achievements)

Mr. Thero:
$536,738
Actual
outcome –
80% of all
2021 cash
compensation
as reported to
taxing
authorities
less any
amount
attributed to
his 2020
bonus (100%
of new target
award based
on his
Transitional
Services and
Separation
Agreement)
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Share Options
Type of interest
Restricted stock units (RSUs)
Basis of award
The RSUs, granted to Mr. Thero, vest subject to achievement of the below described
performance measures and service requirements.
Performance measures and targets
The performance measures and targets were established in 2018 when these RSUs
were awarded.
Achievement of the performance measures required, first, the successful outcome of
the REDUCE-IT trial, with “successful outcome” defined as the achievement of
positive clinical data that can be used by the Company for the promotion of
VASCEPA, which was deemed achieved on 22 September 2018 when the Company
announced topline results of the REDUCE-IT study meeting its primary endpoint.
Then:
- 25% of the total award would become subject to time-based vesting in the
event the Company’s net product revenues for a single calendar year
following first public announcement of REDUCE-IT results equal or exceed
$300 million as determined effective as of the first public announcement of
the Company’s net product revenues for such calendar year (the “$300M
Net Product Revenues Milestone”);
- 25% of the total award would become subject to time-based vesting in the
event the Company’s net product revenues for a single calendar year
following first public announcement of REDUCE-IT results equal or exceed
$400 million as determined effective as of the first public announcement of
the Company’s net product revenues for such calendar year (the “$400M
Net Product Revenues Milestone”), and
- 50% of the total award would become subject to time-based vesting in the
event the Company’s net product revenues for a single calendar year
following first public announcement of REDUCE-IT results equal or exceed
$500 million as determined effective as of the first public announcement of
the Company’s net product revenues for such calendar year (the “$500M
Net Product Revenues Milestone”).
Subject to achievement of the milestones described above and the recipient’s
continued service to the Company, the tranches would then vest at a rate of 1/36 per
month over 36 months beginning 30 September 2018, such that, subject to
achievement of the milestones described above, the award would no longer be
subject to time-based vesting effective 31 August 2021.
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Performance
period end

Amount at
face value

Performance
element: 25
February
2021 (related
to
achievement
of the $500M
Net Product
Revenues
Milestone for
performance
during the
fiscal year
ending 31
December
2020)

$500M Net
Product
Revenues
Milestone:
390,696
RSUs vested
on 25
February
2021; 13,472
RSUs vested
on each of 28
February
2021, 31
March 2021,
30 April
2021, 31 May
2021, 30 June
2021, 31 July
2021, and 31
August 2021.

Service
element: 31
August 2021

Actual
outcome in
2021 – 100%
of achieved
tranches (36
of 36 months
vested in
2021
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period end

Award – type of interest and basis of award
Share Options (continued)
On 25 February 2021, pursuant to the Company’s first public announcement of
audited net product revenues for 2020 exceeding $500 million upon filing its Annual
Report on Form 10-K, the performance criteria related to the $500M Net Product
Revenues Milestone was deemed achieved on such date and to become subject to
time-based vesting. As a result, there was a bulk catch-up vesting on 25 February
2021 to capture 29 of the 36 monthly vestings from 30 September 2018 through such
date, and the achieved tranches continued to vest at a rate of 1/36 per month through
31 August 2021.
The $300M Net Product Revenues Milestone and $400M Net Product Revenues
Milestone were achieved and began to vest in 2020 (refer to pages 72-73 of the
Annual Report and Accounts of Amarin Corporation plc for the year ended 31
December 2020 for a complete discussion). They continued to vest at a rate of 1/36
per month through 31 August 2021.
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The directors serving in the financial year and their interest in the share capital of the Company (all beneficially held, other
than with respect to options to acquire the ordinary shares) are as follows:
At 31 December 2021 or
earlier date of retirement
Ordinary Shares
Dr. L. Ekman
Mr. P. O’Sullivan
Ms. K. Peterson
Mr. D. Stack
Mr. J. van Heek
Mr. J. Zakrzewski
Mr. K. Mikhail (executive director) (1)
Mr. J. Thero (former executive director) (2)

At 31 December 2020 or
subsequent date of
appointment
Ordinary Shares

—
—
—
40,000
14,168
196,547
31,031
3,252,752

—
—
—
—
14,168
184,547
23,540
2,755,340

(1) Mr. Mikhail was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board of Directors effective 1
August 2021. During the period from the end of the financial year to 16 April 2022, Mr. Mikhail acquired a beneficial
interest in 51,103 ordinary shares in the Company, increasing his total beneficial holding to 82,134 ordinary shares.
(2) Mr. Thero retired as President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board of Directors on 1 August 2021. The
amount reported for Mr. Thero for 2021 represents the number of ordinary shares he held as of such date.
None of the interests in ordinary shares were subject to performance measures.
Share options and restricted/deferred stock units granted (Audited)
Share options and restricted/deferred stock units granted to directors in 2021 were as follows:
Share Options
Dr. L. Ekman
Mr. P. O’Sullivan
Ms. K. Peterson
Mr. D. Stack
Mr. J. van Heek
Mr. J. Zakrzewski
Mr. K. Mikhail (executive director)(1)
Mr. J. Thero (former executive director)(2)
Total

48,506
45,953
45,953
45,953
45,953
45,953
336,200
775,000
1,389,471

Restricted/Deferred
Stock Units
38,000
36,000
36,000
36,000
36,000
36,000
549,300
1,064,300
1,831,600

(1) Mr. Mikhail was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board of Directors effective 1
August 2021. Of the share options granted to Mr. Mikhail in 2021, 46,000 were granted as an employee and 290,200
were granted as part of his transition to President and Chief Executive Officer. Of the restricted stock units granted to
Mr. Mikhail in 2021, 134,100 were granted as an employee and 415,200 were granted as part of his transition to President
and Chief Executive Officer.
(2) Mr. Thero retired as President and Chief Executive Officer and member of the Board of Directors on 1 August 2021.
For each non-executive director with the exception of Dr. Ekman, 45,953 options will vest in full upon the earlier of the oneyear anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year, while 36,000
DSUs will vest in equal annual instalments over three years commencing on the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the
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Share options and restricted/deferred stock units granted (Audited) (continued)
grant date or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year. For Dr. Ekman, 48,506 options will vest
in full upon the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such
anniversary year, while 38,000 DSUs will vest in equal annual instalments over three years commencing on the earlier of the
one-year anniversary of the grant date or the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in such anniversary year.
For Mr. Mikhail, 46,000 options vest 25% commencing 4 January 2022 then vest in equal quarterly installments over twelve
quarters, 290,200 options vest 25% commencing 12 April 2022 then vest in equal quarterly installments over twelve quarters,
34,100 restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments over three years commencing 31 December 2021, 215,200
restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments over three years commencing 12 April 2022, and 300,000 restricted
stock units vest upon the achievement of certain predefined sales and operating performance conditions.
For Mr. Thero, 775,000 options were scheduled to vest 25% commencing 4 January 2022 then scheduled to vest in equal
quarterly installments over twelve quarters, 574,100 restricted stock units were scheduled to vest in equal annual installments
over three years commencing 31 December 2021, and 490,200 restricted stock units were scheduled to vest upon the
achievement of certain predefined sales and operating performance conditions. These awards vested through 28 February
2022 in accordance with his Transitional Services and Separation Agreement, the result of which was 193,750 share options
and 191,367 restricted stock units vesting and 581,250 share options and 872,933 restricted stock units being forfeited as of
such date.

83

Amarin Corporation plc
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
Interests in share options and restricted stock unit awards (Audited)
Share schemes
Details of share options and restricted stock units held by directors (or entities which they represent if disclosed in the notes
below) as at 31 December 2021, and those who served as directors during 2021, are set out below:

Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Expiry
date

Mr. J. Zakrzewski (1)
20/10/2011
(options)
1/11/2011 20/10/2021
11/3/2014
(options)
11/3/2015 11/3/2024
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
11/3/2015 11/3/2024
6/7/2015
(options)
6/7/2016
6/7/2025
6/7/2015
(DSUs)
6/7/2016
6/7/2025
11/7/2016
(options)
11/7/2017 11/7/2026
11/7/2016
(DSUs)
11/7/2017 11/7/2026
15/5/2017
(options)
15/5/2018 15/5/2027
15/5/2017
(DSUs)
15/5/2018 15/5/2027
14/5/2018
(options)
14/5/2019 14/5/2028
14/5/2018
(DSUs)
14/5/2019 14/5/2028
20/5/2019
(options)
20/5/2020 20/5/2029
20/5/2019
(DSUs)
20/5/2020 20/5/2029
13/7/2020
(options)
13/7/2021 13/7/2030
13/7/2020
(DSUs)
13/7/2021 13/7/2030
14/6/2021
(options)
14/6/2022 14/6/2031
14/6/2021
(DSUs)
14/6/2022 14/6/2031

(1)

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

$9.00

138,542

-

-

138,542

-

-

$1.87

28,500

-

-

-

28,500

28,500

N/A

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

24,000

$2.50

40,502

-

-

-

40,502

40,502

N/A

58,500

-

-

-

58,500

58,500

$2.19

28,847

-

-

-

28,847

28,847

N/A

20,548

-

-

-

20,548

20,548

$3.06

21,146

-

-

-

21,146

21,146

N/A

14,706

-

-

-

14,706

14,706

$3.21

46,973

-

-

-

46,973

46,973

N/A

31,153

-

-

-

31,153

31,153

$16.83

9,658

-

-

-

9,658

9,658

N/A

7,428

-

-

-

7,428

4,952

$6.62

34,805

-

-

-

34,805

34,805

N/A

27,191

-

-

-

27,191

9,064

$5.00

-

45,953

-

-

45,953

-

-

36,000

-

-

36,000

-

532,499

81,953

-

138,542

475,910

373,354

N/A

No. at 31
December
Lapsed in
2021
year (£0.50 shares)

Vested but
unexercised at
31 December
2021
(£0.50 shares)

The equity awards were issued to Mr. Zakrzewski as a director in 2014 through 2021. The other equity awards granted in 2011 were issued to Mr.
Zakrzewski as Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Zakrzewski resigned as Chief Executive Officer of Amarin on 31 December 2013 and as a result,
forfeited all unvested equity awards on such date that were issued in his capacity as Chief Executive Officer of Amarin.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Mr. J. van Heek (2)
9/7/2013
(options)
9/7/2014
9/7/2013
(DSUs)
9/7/2014
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
11/3/2015
6/7/2015
(options)
6/7/2016
6/7/2015
(DSUs)
6/7/2016
11/7/2016
(DSUs)
11/7/2017
15/5/2017
(options)
15/5/2018
15/5/2017
(DSUs)
15/5/2018
14/5/2018
(options)
14/5/2019
14/5/2018
(DSUs)
14/5/2019
20/5/2019
(options)
20/5/2020
20/5/2019
(DSUs)
20/5/2020
13/7/2020
(options)
13/7/2021
13/7/2020
(DSUs)
13/7/2021
14/6/2021
(options)
14/6/2022
14/6/2021
(DSUs)
14/6/2022

(2)

Expiry
date

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

9/7/2023

$5.58

13,500

-

-

-

13,500

13,500

9/7/2023

N/A

9,000

-

-

-

9,000

9,000

11/3/2024

N/A

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

24,000

6/7/2025

$2.50

40,502

-

-

-

40,502

40,502

6/7/2025

N/A

58,500

-

-

-

58,500

58,500

11/7/2026

N/A

20,548

-

-

-

20,548

20,548

15/5/2027

$3.06

21,146

-

-

-

21,146

21,146

15/5/2027

N/A

14,706

-

-

-

14,706

14,706

14/5/2028

$3.21

46,973

-

-

-

46,973

46,973

14/5/2028

N/A

31,153

-

-

-

31,153

31,153

20/5/2029

$16.83

9,658

-

-

-

9,658

9,658

20/5/2029

N/A

7,428

-

-

-

7,428

4,952

13/7/2030

$6.62

34,805

-

-

-

34,805

34,805

13/7/2030

N/A

27,191

-

-

-

27,191

9,064

14/6/2031

$5.00

-

45,953

-

-

45,953

-

14/6/2031

N/A

-

36,000

-

-

36,000

-

359,110

81,953

-

-

441,063

338,507

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

These equity awards were issued to the individual as a director.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Dr. L. Ekman (2)
9/7/2013
(DSUs)
9/7/2014
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
1/1/2015
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
11/3/2015
6/7/2015
(DSUs)
6/7/2016
11/7/2016
(DSUs)
11/7/2017
15/5/2017
(DSUs)
15/5/2018
14/5/2018
(DSUs)
14/5/2019
20/5/2019
(options)
20/5/2020
20/5/2019
(DSUs)
20/5/2020
13/7/2020
(options)
13/7/2021
13/7/2020
(DSUs)
13/7/2021
14/6/2021
(options)
14/6/2022
14/6/2021
(DSUs)
14/6/2022

(2)

Expiry
date

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

9/7/2023

N/A

9,000

-

-

-

9,000

9,000

11/3/2024

N/A

5,348

-

-

-

5,348

5,348

11/3/2024

N/A

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

24,000

6/7/2025

N/A

62,500

-

-

-

62,500

62,500

11/7/2026

N/A

25,115

-

-

-

25,115

25,115

15/5/2027

N/A

17,974

-

-

-

17,974

17,974

14/5/2028

N/A

34,269

-

-

-

34,269

34,269

20/5/2029

$16.83

10,431

-

-

-

10,431

10,431

20/5/2029

N/A

8,023

-

-

-

8,023

5,349

13/7/2030

$6.62

36,739

-

-

-

36,739

36,739

13/7/2030

N/A

28,702

-

-

-

28,702

9,568

14/6/2031

$5.00

-

48,506

-

-

48,506

-

14/6/2031

N/A

-

38,000

-

-

38,000

-

262,101

86,506

-

-

348,607

240,293

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

These equity awards were issued to the individual as a director.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Ms. K. Peterson (2)
9/7/2013
(DSUs)
9/7/2014
11/3/2014
(options)
11/3/2015
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
11/3/2015
6/7/2015
(options)
6/7/2016
6/7/2015
(DSUs)
6/7/2016
11/7/2016
(options)
11/7/2017
11/7/2016
(DSUs)
11/7/2017
15/5/2017
(options)
15/5/2018
15/5/2017
(DSUs)
15/5/2018
14/5/2018
(options)
14/5/2019
14/5/2018
(DSUs)
14/5/2019
20/5/2019
(options)
20/5/2020
20/5/2019
(DSUs)
20/5/2020
13/7/2020
(options)
13/7/2021
13/7/2020
(DSUs)
13/7/2021
14/6/2021
(options)
14/6/2022
14/6/2021
(DSUs)
14/6/2022

(2)

Expiry
date

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

9/7/2023

N/A

9,000

-

-

-

9,000

9,000

11/3/2024

$1.87

28,500

-

-

-

28,500

28,500

11/3/2024

N/A

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

24,000

6/7/2025

$2.50

40,502

-

-

-

40,502

40,502

6/7/2025

N/A

58,500

-

-

-

58,500

58,500

11/7/2026

$2.19

28,847

-

-

-

28,847

28,847

11/7/2026

N/A

20,548

-

-

-

20,548

20,548

15/5/2027

$3.06

21,146

-

-

-

21,146

21,146

15/5/2027

N/A

14,706

-

-

-

14,706

14,706

14/5/2028

$3.21

46,973

-

-

-

46,973

46,973

14/5/2028

N/A

31,153

-

-

-

31,153

31,153

20/5/2029

$16.83

9,658

-

-

-

9,658

9,658

20/5/2029

N/A

7,428

-

-

-

7,428

4,952

13/7/2030

$6.62

34,805

-

-

-

34,805

34,805

13/7/2030

N/A

27,191

-

-

-

27,191

9,064

14/6/2031

$5.00

-

45,953

-

-

45,953

-

14/6/2031

N/A

-

36,000

-

-

36,000

-

402,957

81,953

-

-

484,910

382,354

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

These equity awards were issued to the individual as a director.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Expiry
date

Mr. P. O'Sullivan (2)
13/12/2011
(options)
13/12/2012 13/12/2021
10/7/2012
(options)
10/7/2013 10/7/2022
9/7/2013
(options)
9/7/2014
9/7/2023
9/7/2013
(DSUs)
9/7/2014
9/7/2023
11/3/2014
(options)
11/3/2015 11/3/2024
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
11/3/2015 11/3/2024
6/7/2015
(options)
6/7/2016
6/7/2025
6/7/2015
(DSUs)
6/7/2016
6/7/2025
11/7/2016
(options)
11/7/2017 11/7/2026
11/7/2016
(DSUs)
11/7/2017 11/7/2026
15/5/2017
(options)
15/5/2018 15/5/2027
15/5/2017
(DSUs)
15/5/2018 15/5/2027
14/5/2018
(options)
14/5/2019 14/5/2028
14/5/2018
(DSUs)
14/5/2019 14/5/2028
20/5/2019
(options)
20/5/2020 20/5/2029
20/5/2019
(DSUs)
20/5/2020 20/5/2029
13/7/2020
(options)
13/7/2021 13/7/2030
13/7/2020
(DSUs)
13/7/2021 13/7/2030
14/6/2021
(options)
14/6/2022 14/6/2031
14/6/2021
(DSUs)
14/6/2022 14/6/2031

(2)

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

$6.74

45,000

-

-

45,000

-

-

$14.40

30,000

-

-

-

30,000

30,000

$5.58

13,500

-

-

-

13,500

13,500

N/A

9,000

-

-

-

9,000

9,000

$1.87

28,500

-

-

-

28,500

28,500

N/A

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

24,000

$2.50

40,502

-

-

-

40,502

40,502

N/A

58,500

-

-

-

58,500

58,500

$2.19

28,847

-

-

-

28,847

28,847

N/A

20,548

-

-

-

20,548

20,548

$3.06

21,146

-

-

-

21,146

21,146

N/A

14,706

-

-

-

14,706

14,706

$3.21

46,973

-

-

-

46,973

46,973

N/A

31,153

-

-

-

31,153

31,153

$16.83

9,658

-

-

-

9,658

9,658

N/A

7,428

-

-

-

7,428

4,952

$6.62

34,805

-

-

-

34,805

34,805

N/A

27,191

-

-

-

27,191

9,064

$5.00

-

45,953

-

-

45,953

-

-

36,000

-

-

36,000

-

491,457

81,953

-

45,000

528,410

425,854

N/A

These equity awards were issued to the individual as a director.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Mr. D. Stack (2)
9/7/2013
(DSUs)
9/7/2014
11/3/2014
(DSUs)
11/3/2015
6/7/2015
(DSUs)
6/7/2016
11/7/2016
(DSUs)
11/7/2017
15/5/2017
(DSUs)
15/5/2018
14/5/2018
(DSUs)
14/5/2019
20/5/2019
(options)
20/5/2020
20/5/2019
(DSUs)
20/5/2020
13/7/2020
(options)
13/7/2021
13/7/2020
(DSUs)
13/7/2021
14/6/2021
(options)
14/6/2022
14/6/2021
(DSUs)
14/6/2022

(2)

Expiry
date

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

9/7/2023

N/A

9,000

-

-

-

9,000

9,000

11/3/2024

N/A

24,000

-

-

-

24,000

24,000

6/7/2025

N/A

58,500

-

-

-

58,500

58,500

11/7/2026

N/A

20,548

-

-

-

20,548

20,548

15/5/2027

N/A

14,706

-

-

-

14,706

14,706

14/5/2028

N/A

31,153

-

-

-

31,153

31,153

20/5/2029

$16.83

9,658

-

-

-

9,658

9,658

20/5/2029

N/A

7,428

-

-

-

7,428

4,952

13/7/2030

$6.62

34,805

-

-

-

34,805

34,805

13/7/2030

N/A

27,191

-

-

-

27,191

9,064

14/6/2031

$5.00

-

45,953

-

-

45,953

-

14/6/2031

N/A

-

36,000

-

-

36,000

-

236,989

81,953

-

-

318,942

216,386

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

These equity awards were issued to the individual as a director.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Expiry
date

Mr. K. Mikhail (3)
1/7/2020
(options)
1/7/2021 1/7/2030$
1/7/2020
(RSUs)
1/7/2021 1/7/2030
1/7/2020
(RSUs)(4)
1/3/2022 2/3/2026
4/1/2021
(options)
4/1/2022 4/1/2031$
4/1/2021
(RSUs)
31/12/21 4/1/2031
4/1/2021
(RSUs)(4)
1/3/2022 1/3/2028
12/4/2021
(options)
12/4/2022 12/4/2031$
12/4/2021
(RSUs)
12/4/2022 12/4/2031
12/4/2021
(RSUs)(4)
1/3/2022 1/3/2028

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

Lapsed in
year

No. at 31
December
2021
(£0.50
shares)

Vested but
unexercised at
31 December
2021
(£0.50 shares)

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised
in year

7.03

100,000

-

-

-

100,000

31,250

N/A

100,000

-

33,334

-

66,666

-

N/A

100,000

-

-

-

100,000

-

5.03

-

46,000

-

-

46,000

-

N/A

-

34,100

11,367

-

22,733

-

N/A

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

-

4.97

-

290,200

-

-

290,200

-

N/A

-

215,200

-

-

215,200

-

-

200,000

-

-

200,000

-

300,000

885,500

44,701

-

1,140,799

31,250

N/A

(3)

The equity awards were issued to Mr. Mikhail as an employee in 2020 and January 2021, and as part of his transition to President and Chief
Executive Officer in April 2021. Mr. Mikhail assumed the role of President and Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2021.

(4)

These equity awards are exercisable subject to the achievement of certain financial performance criteria.
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Date of
grant

Earliest
exercise
date

Expiry
date

Mr. J. Thero (5)
1/2/2012
(options)
29/02/2012
1/2/2022
2/1/2013
(options)
31/01/2013
2/1/2023
8/1/2014
(options)
31/01/2014
8/1/2024
2/2/2015
(options)
28/02/2015
2/2/2025
6/7/2015
(options)
31/07/2015
6/7/2025
6/7/2015
(options)(6)
31/07/2015
6/7/2025
1/2/2016
(options)
28/2/2016
1/2/2026
1/2/2017
(options)
28/2/2017
1/2/2027
1/2/2018
(options)
28/2/2018
1/2/2028
1/2/2018
(RSUs)
31/1/2019
1/2/2028
12/3/2018
(RSUs)(6)
30/9/2018 31/12/2027
1/2/2019
(options)
15/5/2019
1/2/2029
1/2/2019
(RSUs)
31/1/2020
1/2/2029
3/2/2020
(options)
15/5/2019
3/2/2030
3/2/2020
(RSUs)(6)
1/1/2021
3/3/2025
2/3/2020
(RSUs)
28/2/2021
2/3/2030
4/1/2021
(options)
4/1/2022
4/1/2031
4/1/2021
(RSUs)
31/12/21
4/1/2031
4/1/2021
(RSUs)(6)
1/3/2022
1/3/2028

Exercise
price
(US$)

No. at 1
January
2021
(£0.50
shares)

Options/
RSUs/DSUs
granted in year

Exercised in
year

$8.86

83,230

-

-

-

83,230

83,230

$8.10

52,500

-

-

-

52,500

52,500

$2.04

558,475

-

-

-

558,475

558,475

$1.02

293,628

-

-

-

293,628

293,628

$2.50

600,000

-

-

-

600,000

600,000

$2.50

763,400

-

-

-

763,400

763,400

$1.40

550,000

-

-

-

550,000

550,000

$2.95

550,000

-

-

-

550,000

550,000

$3.80

558,000

-

-

-

558,000

546,375

N/A

123,666

-

123,666

-

-

-

N/A

592,776

-

592,776

-

-

-

$16.87

302,500

-

-

-

302,500

207,969

N/A

144,066

-

72,033

-

72,033

-

$18.39

350,700

-

-

-

350,700

153,432

N/A

490,200

-

-

-

490,200

-

N/A

178,100

-

59,367

-

118,733

-

$5.03

-

775,000

-

-

775,000

-

N/A

-

574,100

191,367

-

382,733

-

N/A

No. at 31
December
Lapsed in
2021
year (£0.50 shares)

Vested but
unexercised at
31 December
2021
(£0.50 shares)

-

490,200

-

-

490,200

-

6,191,241

1,839,300

1,039,209

-

6,991,332

4,359,009

(5)

The equity awards were issued to Mr. Thero as President in 2012 and 2013, and as President and Chief Executive Officer in 2014 through 2021.
Mr. Thero retired as President and Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2021 but continued to vest in his equity awards through 28 February 2022
in accordance with his Transitional Services and Separation Agreement. Refer to pages 68 and 79 for more information.

(6)

These equity awards were/are exercisable subject to the achievement of certain financial and/or clinical performance criteria.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no other directors have been granted equity awards in the shares in the Company
or other group entities.
The market price of the Company’s shares at the end of the financial year was US$3.37 and the range of the market prices
during the year was between US$3.11 and US$9.25.
Long-term incentive scheme (Audited)
There are no long-term incentive schemes in place in respect of any of the directors other than as previously described above.
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Share ownership guidelines
The Company believes it is important to align the interests of the directors with those of its shareholders. To this end, in
March 2013, the Company established Share Ownership Guidelines for its executive and non-executive directors. The
guidelines require that each director maintain an equity interest in the Company at least equal to three times the amount of
such director’s annual salary or cash retainer. Equity interests that count toward the satisfaction of the ownership guidelines
include the value of ordinary shares owned beneficially and ordinary shares issuable, the settlement of restricted stock or
restricted stock units, and unvested deferred stock units. The calculation of a director’s equity interest, however, does not
include the value of share options (whether or not vested), unvested restricted stock, and unvested restricted stock units,
except unvested deferred stock units. Directors have five years from the date of the commencement of their appointment as
a director to attain these ownership levels. If a director does not meet the guideline by the end of the five-year period, the
director is required to hold a minimum of 50% to 100% of the shares resulting from any future equity awards until the
guideline is met, net of shares sold or withheld to exercise share options and pay withholding taxes. The Remuneration
Committee, however, may make exceptions for any director on whom this requirement could impose a financial hardship.
As of the date of this Directors’ Remuneration Report, all of the Company’s directors have satisfied these ownership
guidelines or have time to do so.
Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the Group’s total employee remuneration for the current and prior years and the year-on-year change.
There were no dividends distributed in either period.
Employee remuneration

2021 ($000)
$198,219

2020 ($000)
$218,217

Change ($000)
($19,998)

Employee remuneration includes total staff costs as shown in Note 7 to the Group financial statements. The decrease in 2021
was primarily the result of decreased headcount and related decreases in salaries, bonus pay-outs, post-retirement benefits,
and non-cash share-based compensation expense, as well as an overall decrease in non-cash share-based compensation
expense due to performance-based awards no longer being likely to be achieved.
Total Shareholder Return Performance Graph (Unaudited)
The following graph compares the cumulative ten-year return provided to stockholders of Amarin Corporation plc’s ADSs
relative to the cumulative total returns of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index. We believe
these indices are the most appropriate indices against which the total shareholder return of Amarin should be measured. The
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index has been selected because it is an index of U.S. quoted biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our ADSs and in
each of the indices on 1 January 2012 and its relative performance is tracked through 31 December 2021.
Included in this ten-year time period is the substantial positive impact on the price of Amarin’s ADSs in 2018 following
presentation and publication of positive REDUCE-IT results and, in late 2019, following approval by the FDA of a new
indication and label expansion for VASCEPA to reduce cardiovascular risk. Also included in this period is the substantial
negative impact on the price of Amarin’s ADSs in 2020 following the loss of the Company’s patent litigation and subsequent
appeal and, earlier, in 2013 when the FDA notified the Company that it rescinded the ANCHOR study SPA agreement because
the FDA determined that a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the effectiveness of VASCEPA in the studied
population was identified after testing began in the ANCHOR trial. The FDA expressed that this scientific issue arose based
on data from the study of other drugs by other companies related to lipid modification. This FDA notification was followed
in 2013 by a reduction in force by Amarin and retargeting of the commercial targets for promotion of VASCEPA. More
recently, as shown in the second graph below, during the majority of the 5-year time period through 31 December 2021,
cumulative total return for Amarin’s ADSs approximated or exceeded both the NASDAQ Composite Index and NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index.
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Total Shareholder Return Performance Graph (Unaudited) (continued)

Company/Market/Peer Company
Amarin Corporation PLC
NASDAQ Composite Index
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2017 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2021
108.01
26.30
13.08
25.23
41.12
53.54
181.71
286.25
65.29
44.99
115.91
160.32
181.80
192.21
206.63
264.99
254.70
344.42
494.72
600.54
131.91
218.45
292.93
326.39
255.62
309.44
280.59
349.08
438.74
435.96

The following graph compares the cumulative 5-year return provided to stockholders of Amarin’s ADSs relative to the
cumulative total returns of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index. An investment of $100
(with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our ADSs and in each of the indices on 1 January 2017
and its relative performance is tracked through 31 December 2021.
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Total Shareholder Return Performance Graph (Unaudited) (continued)
Company/Market/Peer Company
Amarin Corporation PLC
NASDAQ Composite Index
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

31/12/2017 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2021
130.19
128.24
121.06

429.87
122.32
107.67

699.68
167.31
137.61

162.66
237.87
176.79

109.42
290.63
170.55

Chief Executive Officer remuneration – Ten-year comparison (Unaudited)
The table below summarizes the Chief Executive Officer’s single total figure of remuneration, annual and long-term variable
performance-related remuneration (and the percentage of the maximum opportunity that these represent) in relation to the
past ten years.

Year
2021
2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012

Chief Executive
Officer
K. Mikhail (20)
J. Thero (17)
J. Thero
J. Thero
J. Thero
J. Thero
J. Thero
J. Thero
J. Thero
J. Zakrzewski
J. Zakrzewski

Annual variable element
Single total
Long-term incentive (vesting versus
(actual award versus maximum
figure of
maximum opportunity) $
opportunity) $
remuneration $
(and % vesting) (1)(3)
(and % vesting) (1)(2)
910,790
480,000
(91.4%) (21)
38,079
(1.6%) (22)
6,911,684
536,738 (100.0%) (18)
5,861,600
(25.5%) (19)
13,935,132
551,040
(84.0%)
12,539,228
(34.3%) (16)
36,938,064
635,250 (121.0%) (14)
35,573,749
(104.8%) (15)
13,166,763
722,970 (145.0%) (12)
11,753,051
(47.0%) (13)
5,372,872
540,000 (117.7%)
4,194,227
(25.7%) (11)
2,938,875
530,974 (122.0%)
1,803,967
(13.4%) (10)
1,607,384
638,000
(76.1%)
(8)
430,695
(10.1%)
(9)
762,293
243,750
(42.4%)
(4)
—
(25.7%)
(6)
759,771
—
(0.0%)
(5)
178,289
(54.0%)
(7)
9,215,275
305,525 (101.0%)
8,347,750
(45.6%)
(7)

Notes to CEO remuneration table:
(1) The single total figure of remuneration, annual variable element and long-term incentive amounts for 2021 and 2020 are as reported
in the total, annual performance-related remuneration, and long-term performance-related remuneration columns, respectively, of the
single total figure of remuneration table on page 77. The notes to that table explain how these amounts have been calculated. Amounts
for previous years have been computed on the same basis. These amounts, therefore, represent the awards that achieved all performance
vesting conditions by the end of the relevant financial year (even if subject to further service conditions). The percentage vesting
compared to the maximum opportunity calculates the percentage that the amounts described above bear to the amounts that would
have been reported in these columns if the maximum award had vested.
(2) Comprises achievement of annual bonus incentive only unless otherwise specified.
(3) Comprises vesting of time-based share options only unless otherwise specified.
(4) Comprises 75% achievement of annual bonus incentive and 0% achievement of special incentive bonus.
(5) Comprises 0% awarded for annual bonus incentive and 0% vesting of performance-related share options.
(6) Comprises vesting of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting schedules and 0% achievement of long-term performance
incentives. 186,252 of share options vested out of a total maximum of 725,564; however, there is no cash value attributable to the
vested share options, due to the strike price being lower than the market rate throughout the current year.
(7) Comprises vesting of 100% share options per approved vesting schedules and 33% achievement of long-term performance incentives.
(8) Comprises 100% achievement of annual bonus incentive and 60% achievement in conjunction with special incentive bonuses.
(9) Comprises vesting of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting schedules and 0% achievement of long-term performance
incentives.
(10) Comprises vesting of 100% share options per approved vesting schedules and options vested upon 100% achievement of the 2016
Sales Milestone.
(11) Comprises vesting of 100% share options per approved vesting schedules and options vested upon 100% achievement of the 2017
Sales Milestone.
(12) Comprises 95% achievement of annual corporate bonus incentive plus 50% related to achievement of a pre-defined stretch goal.
(13) Comprises vesting of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting schedules and RSUs vested upon achievement of the
REDUCE-IT Milestone.
(14) Comprises 100% achievement of annual corporate bonus incentive plus 21% related to achievement of a pre-defined stretch goal.
(15) Comprises vesting of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting schedules and RSUs vested upon achievement of the Cash
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Flow Milestone.
(16) Comprises vesting of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting schedules and RSUs vested upon achievement of the $300M
Net Product Revenues Milestone and $400M Net Product Revenues Milestone.
(17) Mr. Thero served as CEO through 1 August 2021.
(18) Comprises 80% of all 2021 cash compensation as reported to taxing authorities less any amount attributed to his 2020 bonus, per Mr.
Thero's Transitional Services and Separation Agreement.
(19) Comprises vesting through 1 August 2021 (CEO retirement date) of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting schedules
and RSUs vested upon achievement of the $500M Net Product Revenues Milestone described on pages 76-77.
(20) Mr. Mikhail served as CEO beginning 1 August 2021.
(21) Comprises 83% achievement of annual bonus incentive plus an additional $50 thousand for significant achievements during 2021.
(22) Comprises vesting beginning 1 August 2021 (CEO appointment date) of 100% time-based share options per approved vesting
schedules and 0% achievement of long-term performance incentives.

Comparison of Directors’ remuneration to employee remuneration (Unaudited)
The table below sets out the percentage change in executive (CEO) and non-executive Directors’ salaries and fees, taxable
benefits and annual variable performance-related remuneration between 2020 and 2021, and how it compares to the
percentage change for the average employee of the company.
Salaries and fees Taxable benefits (3)
Executive directors (1)
Mr. K. Mikhail / Mr. J. Thero (CEO)
Non-executive directors (1)
Dr. L. Ekman
Mr. P. O’Sullivan
Ms. K. Peterson
Mr. D. Stack
Mr. J. van Heek
Mr. J. Zakrzewski
Average employee (2)

Annual variable performancerelated remuneration

-0.8%

147.6%

84.5%

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

30.1%

-3.8%

1.5%

Notes to Comparison of Directors’ remuneration to employee remuneration table:
(1) Executive and non-executive directors' percentage changes from 2020 to 2021 are derived from remuneration
reported in the single total figure of remuneration table on page 77. The combined total of Mr. Thero's and Mr.
Mikhail's remuneration was used for 2021.
(2) The % change in average remuneration for employees of the company taken as a whole is calculated using wages
and salaries (excluding share-based payments) of $106,582,000 (2020: $97,879,000), taxable benefits of
$15,381,000 (2020: $19,575,000), and annual variable performance-related remuneration of $38,573,000 (2020:
$45,387,000), as included in Note 7 to the group financial statements, analyzed into the three components in the
table, and the average number of employees of 813 (2020: 976). These figures for employees are considered
comparable with the components of remuneration required to be included for the CEO.
(3) The Company self-funds its employee health insurance benefits plan, subject to a stop loss, which premiums are
slightly variable from year to year. The percent increase for the CEO reflects the car allowance paid for Mr.
Mikhail in 2021, whereas no car allowance was paid in 2020.
The CEO’s remuneration attributable to salary, taxable benefits and annual variable performance-related remuneration in
2021 increased by 36.1%, primarily reflecting the fact that 1) both Mr. Mikhail's and Mr. Thero's full-year bonuses, the
entirety of which were earned and paid in connection with their services as CEO, were considered in 2021 compared to just
Mr. Thero's bonus in 2020, 2) Mr. Mikhail's taxable benefits in 2021 includes car allowance, and 3) salaries remained
relatively flat year over year, while total remuneration, which includes long-term performance-related remuneration and
pension-related benefits, decreased by 43.9%, primarily reflecting a decrease in the number of performance-based awards
vesting during the period coupled with lower share prices used to value the vested options and RSUs in 2021 compared to
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2020. Total average employee remuneration was $197,929 and $167,705 in 2021 and 2020, respectively, on a full-time
equivalent basis.
Remuneration Committee
Role and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee (Unaudited)
The Remuneration Committee, together with the Board, determines the framework for the compensation of the Company’s
executive officers. The Remuneration Committee also determines the corporate and individual performance goals under the
Company’s management incentive compensation plan and achievement of these goals, as well as determines the policy for
and scope of service agreements for the executive officers and termination payments. While the Remuneration Committee
draws on a number of resources, including input from the Chief Executive Officer and independent compensation consultants,
to make decisions regarding the Company’s executive compensation program, ultimate decision-making authority rests with
the Remuneration Committee, subject in key cases to ratification by the Board. The Remuneration Committee relies upon the
judgement of its members in making compensation decisions, after reviewing the performance of the Company and evaluating
an executive’s performance during the year against established goals, operational performance and business responsibilities.
In addition, the Remuneration Committee incorporates judgement in the assessment process to respond to and adjust for the
evolving business environment.
Members of the Remuneration Committee (Unaudited)
The Remuneration Committee consists exclusively of non-executive directors. The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the year were:
Mr. David Stack (Chairman)
Mr. Jan van Heek
Ms. Kristine Peterson
Each member of the Remuneration Committee attended at least 75% of the scheduled meetings in 2021.
Effective 1 January 2022, the members of the Remuneration Committee are:
Mr. David Stack (Chairman)
Mr. Jan van Heek
Ms. Kristine Peterson
Remuneration advisors to the Remuneration Committee (Unaudited)
The Remuneration Committee retains the services of Radford, an Aon Hewitt Company, or Radford, as independent external
compensation consultants. The mandate of the consultants includes assisting the Remuneration Committee in its review of
executive and director compensation practices, including the competitiveness of pay levels, executive compensation design
and benchmarking with the Company’s peers in the industry. The Remuneration Committee regularly evaluates the
performance of its compensation consultants, considers alternative compensation consultants and has the final authority to
engage and terminate such services.
The Remuneration Committee has assessed the independence of Radford and concluded that no conflict of interest exists that
would prevent Radford from serving as an independent consultant to the Remuneration Committee. The total fees paid or
payable to Radford in respect of its services to the Remuneration Committee during the year were approximately $63,000.
The fees charged for major projects are normally negotiated as fixed fees in advance (and this was the case in the financial
year) whereas fees associated with the ongoing support to the Remuneration Committee are charged on a “time spent” basis.
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Competitive market benchmarking (Unaudited)
The Remuneration Committee draws on a number of resources to assist in the evaluation of the various components of the
Company’s executive compensation program. While we do not establish compensation levels based solely on benchmarking,
pay practices at other companies are a factor that the Remuneration Committee considers in assessing the reasonableness of
compensation and ensuring that our compensation practices are competitive in the marketplace.
Our peer companies used in determining compensation actions in the 2021 fiscal year were selected by the Remuneration
Committee with the support of Radford, which beginning in 2011 has been retained to conduct comprehensive reviews of the
Company’s executive compensation practices. Our peer companies were selected in consultation with Radford on the basis
of their similarity to us in terms of competition for talent, their status as a commercial or near-commercial stage company,
phase of products in development, financial attributes, research and development expenditures, and market capitalization.
Radford also qualitatively evaluated each company based on business focus and corporate strategy.
The Remuneration Committee considered the foregoing analysis in selecting the following 17 publicly-traded peer companies
for use in determining compensation actions in the 2021 fiscal year:
ACADIA Pharmaceuticals
Akcea Therapeutics*
Akebia Therapeutics
Alkermes*
Emergent BioSolutions
Exelixis*

Halozyme Therapeutics*
Intercept Pharmaceuticals*
Ionis Pharmaceuticals*
Ironwood Pharmaceuticals*
Jazz Pharmaceuticals*
Neurocrine Biosciences*

Pacira Biosciences*
PTC Therapeutics*
Repligen Corporation*
Supernus Pharmaceuticals*
United Therapeutics

*Included in prior-year peer group.

In addition to the peer group above, the Remuneration Committee also reviews competitive compensation data from the
Radford Global Survey Suite. For 2021 compensation decisions, the Radford survey group included publicly traded
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies with between 300 and 3,000 employees. Radford assessed Amarin’s 2021
compensation against market pay elements such as base salary, target short-term incentives as a percentage of base salary,
target total cash compensation, long-term incentives and target total direct compensation. Additionally, Amarin’s incumbent
officers were matched to benchmark positions according to each officer’s primary responsibilities.
The Remuneration Committee reviews the Company’s list of peer companies periodically to reflect changes in market
capitalization, developments at the Company relative to its peer companies, and other factors.
Summary of the principal activity of the Remuneration Committee during 2021 (Unaudited)
The summary below provides a description of the Remuneration Committee’s activities during 2021:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Review of the 2020 Directors’ Remuneration Report;
Review of compensation trend analysis and assessment of competitive market benchmarking;
Review of outcomes of the annual performance evaluation;
Determination of annual bonus incentive and equity awards for performance during 2020;
Review of special incentive bonus award program;
Evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee as part of the overall Board
evaluation; and
Assessment of the Company’s overall compensation structure to determine effectiveness in retention of employees.

Matters for consideration in 2022 (Unaudited)
During 2022, the Remuneration Committee will focus on reviewing and assessing the appropriateness of current executive
remuneration packages and targets and reviewing remuneration arrangements and ensuring that they continue to attract and
retain talent.
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Statement of shareholder voting (Unaudited)
The table below sets out the voting by the Company’s shareholders on the resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration
Report (and included within the directors’ remuneration policy) at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on 9
July 2013, including votes for, against and withheld:
For
Against
Withheld*
Total votes cast

Total number of votes
57,475,361
2,104,038
598,950
60,178,349

% of votes cast
96.5
3.5
N/A

*A vote “withheld” is not counted in the calculation of the proportion of votes “for” and “against” a resolution
The Remuneration Committee is pleased to note that 96.5% of shareholders approved the 2012 Directors’ Remuneration
Report. We appreciate the continuing support of our shareholders and value their views.

On behalf of the board
/s/ David Stack
David Stack
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
May 2022
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare such financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards
(“IFRSs”) and the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”).
Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs (or in respect of the parent
company financial statements, FRS 101) is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial performance;
in respect of the group financial statements, state whether IFRSs have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
in respect of the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards, including
FRS 101, have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is appropriate to presume that the company and/
or the Group will not continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company
and group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a strategic report, directors’ report,
directors’ remuneration report that comply with that law and those regulations. The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s website. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
The Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge:
•
that the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit of the parent company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as
a whole;
•
that the annual report, including the strategic report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and
•
that they consider the annual report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the company’s position, performance, business model and strategy.
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Opinion
In our opinion:
•

Amarin Corporation plc’s Group financial statements and Parent company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2021 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

•

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting
standards;

•

the Parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Amarin Corporation plc (the ‘Parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise:
Group

Parent company

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December
2021

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2021

Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended
31 December 2021
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for
the year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31
December 2021

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year
ended 31 December 2021
Related notes 1 to 33 to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting
policies

Related notes B to M to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting
policies

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law
and UK adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the Parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and Parent company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as
applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group and Parent
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:
•

In conjunction with the performance of our risk assessment procedures we evaluated the design and implementation
of controls on management’s going concern assessment process. We confirmed our understanding of the process and
also engaged with management early to ensure key factors were considered in their assessment, including factors
which we determined from our own independent risk assessment and the evaluation of any operational and economic
impacts of COVID-19 on the Group.

•

We obtained management’s board approved forecast cash flows covering the period of assessment from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2023. Management considers cash flow on a monthly basis and the Board monitors and reviews
the forecast against actuals on a quarterly basis. We tested to ensure that the forecast was mathematically accurate.
As part of this assessment, the Group has modelled a downside scenario in their cash forecasts to incorporate
unexpected changes to the forecasted liquidity of the Group.

•

We assessed the reasonableness of the cash flow forecast by making an assessment of the Group’s historical
forecasting accuracy and understanding the anticipated impact of COVID-19 in the forecast. We evaluated the key
assumptions underpinning the Group’s assessment by (i) reviewing the downside scenario modelled by management
including the impact of generics and how these compare with principal risks and uncertainties of the Group, (ii)
testing the consistency of the key assumptions to existing market information, historical operating results and recent
experience.

•

We evaluated, based on our own analysis, what reverse stress testing scenarios could lead to liquidity shortfalls and
whether these scenarios were plausible.

•

Our analysis also considered the mitigating actions that management could undertake to respond to the effects of
conditions and events that raise any substantial doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
whether these were achievable and in control of management.

•

We considered whether management's going concern disclosures, in the financial statements, are appropriate and
sufficiently explain the impacts of COVID-19 through consideration of relevant disclosure requirements.

Our key observations
The Group’s operational activity was not significantly disrupted due to the COVID-19 pandemic given end customer (patient)
need for their prescriptions. The levels of inventory on hand at the balance sheet date provide the Group with adequate supply
in terms of meeting patient demand for prescriptions.
The Group had $223m of cash and $235m of short-term liquid investments as at 31 December 2021. There are no
commitments to underlying investments, no guarantees, no debt funding covenants or other obligations that could require
cash to be paid.
Conclusion
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and Parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least 12 months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Overview of our audit approach
Audit scope

•

We performed an audit of the consolidated Group accounts.

•

We also performed an audit of the complete financial information of the
standalone Parent company.

Key audit
matters

•

Gross-to-net revenue adjustments particularly in relation to the rebates and
estimated product return accruals.

Materiality

•

Overall Group materiality is $5.6m which represents approximately 1% of net
revenue as the group lacks a track record of profitability and is focused on revenue
and growth.

An overview of the scope of the Parent company and group audits
Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit
scope for the Group. This enables us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We take into account size,
risk profile, the organisation of the Group, effectiveness of controls, changes in the business environment and other factors
such as recent Internal Audit results when assessing the level of work to be performed.
In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative
coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, we have audited the Group at a consolidated level which includes
all reporting components of the Group, given that the Group finance function operates principally from Bridgewater, New
Jersey. The Group has centralised processes and controls over the key areas of our audit focus, with responsibility lying with
Group management for all estimation processes and significant risk areas. We have tailored our audit response accordingly
and thus all of our focus areas and audit procedures were undertaken directly by the core audit team with a coverage of 100%
on Revenue, Income before Tax and Total Assets.
Changes from the prior year
There are no changes in scope from the prior year.
Involvement with component teams
In establishing our overall approach to the group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be undertaken at each
of the components by us, EY Ireland, as the primary audit engagement team, or by the component auditor from EY New Jersey
operating under our instruction. For all components we determined the appropriate level of involvement to enable us to
determine that sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the group as a whole. The primary
team interacted with the EY New Jersey component team where appropriate during various stages of the audit, reviewed key
working papers and were responsible for the scope and direction of the audit process. This, together with the additional
procedures performed at a group level, gave us appropriate evidence for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
Climate change
There has been increasing interest from stakeholders as to how climate change will impact the Group. The Group has
determined that there is an expected low impact from climate change as explained on page 58 in the Carbon Emissions
Report, which forms part of the “Other information” rather than the audited financial statements. Our procedures on these
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disclosures therefore consisted solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appear to be materially misstated.
Our audit effort in considering climate change was focused on evaluating management’s assessment that there is expected to
be a low impact of climate change risk, the adequacy of the Company’s disclosures in note 1 to the financial statements and
the conclusion that no issues were identified that would impact the carrying value of the limited non-current assets with
indefinite or long lives or have any other impact on the financial statements as disclosed on page 111. We also challenged
the Directors’ considerations of climate change in their assessment of going concern and associated disclosures.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due
to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Gross-to-net revenue
adjustments particularly
in relation to therebates
and estimated product
return accruals. (2021
$850.5m, 2020
comparative $818.9m)

To address the areas of identified higher risk, we
have completed procedures as follows:

Our observations
included our assessment
of:

Rebates procedures:
•

Refer to the Accounting
policies on page 117); and
the significant judgements
and estimates made in
respect of recognising
revenue on page 126
Consolidated Financial
Statements.
We have identified a risk
in respect of improper
revenue recognition in
relation to under
recognition of gross-to-net
adjustments involving
accounting estimates that
have been identified as
having high estimation
uncertainty and
subjectivity particularly in
relation to the rebates (see
page 126) and estimated
product return accruals
(see page 126). We
recognised the risk of

•

We confirmed our understanding of rebates
to customers and other government
programmes process, performed a
walkthrough of this process and evaluated
the design, including the precision of
review controls. We tested relevant
controls over the identified risks, including
the controls over the data and assumptions
used in the analysis. These controls were
mainly manual controls and monthly
reconciliation detect controls as well as
management review controls.
We performed substantive audit
procedures, which included testing of the
key assumptions used in the calculation
and accrual of rebates due to Medicare,
Medicaid, MCOs and other third-party
customers:

 Obtained an understanding and tested
inputs to the Group’s rebate pricing
calculations;


Performed a look-back of actual rebates
remitted or invoiced after year-end as
compared to the estimates made at the
balance sheet date and also actual rebates
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Risk

pressure for management
to meet revenue targets
may result in
understatement of the
rebates and returns reserve
and therefore
overstatement of net
revenue.

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Our response to the risk

paid in the year compared to prior year
rebates accrual.


Vouched a sample of actual rebate
payments made in the year, evaluated
changes to legacy rebate programmes or
new rebate programmes and their overall
impact on the expense recognised in the
year and accrual at the balance sheet date;
and



Performed analytical procedures over
accrued rebate balances.



We performed test of journal entries to
identify evidence of management override
of controls recorded in the general ledger
and other adjustments made in the
preparation of the financial statements.



We evaluated the appropriateness of the
financial statement presentation and
disclosure.

Product returns procedures:
•

We obtained an understanding and
performed a walkthrough of the process
and evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectiveness of the selected
controls over the Group’s estimation
process for product returns including
inventory in the distribution channel.
These procedures included controls over
management’s review of the inputs used
and assumptions applied in the returns
reserve calculation and channel inventory
analysis.

•

We tested management’s historical
accuracy of return rate calculation and
tested the completeness and accuracy of
sales and returns data used in the
calculation.

•

We also performed analysis on daily sales
to identify any unusual trends or spikes that
are not in line with expectations, obtaining
evidence to corroborate explanations on the
identified movements.
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Risk

Key observations
communicated to the
Audit Committee

Our response to the risk

•

We compared product expiration dates in
the calculation to the related quality control
documentation.

•

We assessed the historical accuracy of
management’s estimate and performed
analytical procedures to assess the
correlation of monthly sales to distributors
and monthly patient prescriptions.

•

We analysed channel inventory data at the
end of each quarterly period (including
year-end) compared to actual prescription
date subsequent to each quarter-end to
identify any significant lag within the
channel, obtaining evidence to corroborate
explanations on the identified movements.

•

We directly and externally confirmed the
prescription data with third party
healthcare industry data provider, and
confirmed contract terms directly with
significant customers to determine that no
side arrangements or deals exist that would
indicate wholesaler would return products
back to the Company after fiscal year end.
Also tested credit memos issued
subsequent to year-end for recording in the
proper period.

•

We read significant customer contracts and
performed direct inquiries with
management including the sales, legal, and
contracting departments to identify the
existence of any terms, conditions or side
agreements not included in customer
contracts that could impact the estimate of
product returns.

•

We performed test of journal entries to
identify evidence of management override
of controls recorded in the general ledger
and other adjustments made in the
preparation of the financial statements.
We evaluated the appropriateness of the
financial statement presentation and
disclosure.
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements
on the audit and in forming our audit opinion.
Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and
extent of our audit procedures.
We determined materiality for the Group and the Company to be $5.6 million (2020: $6 million), being approximately 1% of
net revenue. We believe that net revenue provides us with appropriate basis for materiality as the Group lacks a track record
of profitability and based on our historical experience with the Group, we believe that investors are more focused on revenue
and growth.
During the course of our audit, we reassessed initial materiality and identified that no change is required.
Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately
low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.
On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our judgement
was that performance materiality was 75% (2020: 75%) of our planning materiality, namely $4.2 million (2020: $4.5 million).
We have set performance materiality at this percentage based on the judgment of factors including past history of
misstatements, our ability to assess likelihood of misstatements and the effectiveness of the internal control. This conclusion
is consistent with the 2020 audit.
Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of $280k (2020:
$300k), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds. This conclusion is consistent with the 2020 audit.
We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light
of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1-99, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual
report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:
o
o
o
o

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
the Parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 99, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and Parent company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the Parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by,
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. However, the
primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity
and management.
Our approach was as follows:


We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and
determined that the most significant are those related to the financial reporting frameworks, both under UK law and
under the Group’s US reporting obligations, and the relevant tax regulations in the US and the Republic of Ireland.
In addition, we conclude that there are certain laws and regulation which may have an effect on the determination of
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, being primarily the, UK Bribery Act 2010 and certain other
laws related to the Group’s geographic footprint.



We understood how the Group is complying with those frameworks by making inquiries of management, internal
audit, those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. We corroborated our enquiries through our review of
board minutes, review of internal audit reports, discussions with the Audit Committee, CFO and General Counsel
and any correspondence received from regulatory bodies.

•

We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud
might occur by meeting with management to understand where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, we
also obtained management’s fraud risk assessment for the year as it pertains to internal control over financial
reporting. We considered performance targets and their influence on efforts made by management to manage
earnings or influence the perceptions of analysts. Where this risk was considered to be higher, we performed audit
procedures to address the identified fraud risk. The key audit matters section above addresses procedures performed
in the area where we have concluded the risk of material misstatement is the highest (including due to the risk of
fraud).



Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and
regulations. Our procedures involve quarter-end enquiries to management, those charged with governance, the
internal Counsel and enquiries/legal confirmations sent to the retained external legal advisors. We also review board
minutes to identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations discussed. In respect of potential acts of noncompliance with laws and regulation identified, we liaised with management, the Audit Committee, and internal and
external legal Counsel in considering such.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

108

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF AMARIN CORPORATION PLC (continued)
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Breffni Maguire (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young, Statutory Auditor
Dublin, Ireland
6 May 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
(Amounts in US$, in thousands, except per share data)
Note

Continuing operations:
Product revenue
Licensing and royalty revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Finance income
Finance costs
Change in fair value & extinguishment of derivatives
Income (loss) before tax

5

6
10
10
21

Income tax charge

11

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

580,320
2,867
(121,327)
461,860

607,025
7,035
(131,444)
482,616

(29,265)
(417,996)
(447,261)
14,599
1,312
(1,952)
—
13,959

(39,300)
(467,181)
(506,481)
(23,865)
5,089
(6,058)
—
(24,834)

(3,561)

(745)

Income (loss) after tax for the financial year

10,398

(25,579)

Income (loss) attributable to owners of the Parent

10,398

(25,579)

12
12

0.03
0.03

(0.07)
(0.07)

12

395,992

381,759

12

402,480

381,759

Basic earnings (loss) per ordinary share
Diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share
Shares used in calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Parent
Shares used in calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Parent

There have been no recognized gains and losses for the current or the prior financial year other than as stated in the
consolidated income statement and, accordingly, no separate consolidated statement of comprehensive loss has been prepared.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(Amounts in US$, in thousands)
Note

Non-current assets
Long-Term Inventory
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Financial Investments
Other long-term assets
Total non-current assets
Current Assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Other current assets
Financial Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Provisions
Short-term debt, net
Total current liabilities
Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt, net
Provisions
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

31 December 2020

—

19
13
14
31
15
16

121,254
26,276
1,425
6,727
34,996
432
191,110

16,556
2,006
7,503
62,469
432
88,966

19
17
18
15

234,676
163,652
26,448
234,674
223,372
882,822
1,073,932

188,864
154,574
30,604
313,969
190,879
878,890
967,856

20
5
22
21

372,732
2,649
1,186

304,515
2,926

376,567
506,255

307,441
571,449

21
22
5
31

Equity
Share capital
Preference shares
Share premium account
Other capital reserves
Share-based payment reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Treasury shares
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Retained deficit
Total equity

31 December 2021

24
24

—

—

—
—

—

7,648
14,060
8,576
30,284
406,851
667,081

6,214
15,706
9,153
31,073
338,514
629,342

293,738

289,826

—

1,303,348
139,988
216,406
27,633
(60,726)
(2,572)
(1,250,734)
667,081

—

1,299,880
139,988
208,249
27,633
(51,082)
(2,572)
(1,282,580)
629,342

The financial statements of Amarin Corporation plc (registered number 2353920) were approved by the Board of Directors
and authorized for issue on 06 May 2022.
/s/ Karim Mikhail
Karim Mikhail
Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Amounts in US$, in thousands)

Share
capital
At 1 January 2020
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners:
Conversion of preferred shares
Share issuances
Share-based payments
Total transactions with owners
At 31 December 2020
Comprehensive loss:
Income for the period
Total comprehensive Income
Transactions with owners:
Share issuances
Share-based payments
Total transactions with owners
At 31 December 2021

Preferred
Stock

Other
Capital
Reserves

Share
premium

Share- based
payment
reserve

Capital
redemption
reserve

268,884

21,850

1,290,726

139,988

170,577

27,633

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

3,326
5,828
—
9,154

—
—
—
—

18,020
2,922
—
20,942

(21,850)
—
—
(21,850)

—
(12,870)
50,542
37,672

(51,082)

1,299,880

139,988

208,249

27,633

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

3,912
—
3,912

—
—
—

3,468
—
3,468

—
—
—

293,738

—

1,303,348

139,988

—
—

—
—
—

(9,644)
—
(9,644)

27,633

(60,726)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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—
—
—
(15,182)
—
(15,182)

—

216,406

(35,900)

—
—
—
—

289,826

(24,257)
32,414
8,157

Treasury
shares

Foreign
currency
transla-tion
reserve
(2,572)

Retained
deficit

Total

(1,268,237)

612,949

—
—

(25,579)
(25,579)

(25,579)
(25,579)

—
—
—
—

—
11,236
—
11,236

(504)
(8,066)
50,542
41,972

(2,572)

(1,282,580)

629,342

—
—

10,398
10,398

10,398
10,398

—
—
—

21,448
—
21,448

(5,073)
32,414
27,341

(2,572)

(1,250,734)

667,081

AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(Amounts in US$, in thousands)

Cash flow from operating activities
Income (loss) after tax for the year
Adjustments reconciling income (loss) after tax to operating cash
flows
Cash expended on operating activities
Taxation received (paid)
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Interest received
Disposal (purchase) of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of securities
Sale and maturities of securities
Purchase of intangibles
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities

Notes

9

14

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Payment of transaction costs for conversion of preferred stock
Expenses on issue of share capital
Repayments of debt
Acquisition of treasury stock
Principal element of lease payments
Interest paid
Net cash (outflow) from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

31 December
2021

31 December
2020

10,398

(25,579)

(82,311)

2,143

(71,913)
3,656
(68,257)

(23,436)
(207)
(23,643)

2,302
286
(290,195)
395,028
—
107,421

4,630
(253)
(678,700)
301,989
—
(372,334)

4,571
—
—
—
(9,644)
(1,475)
(123)
(6,671)

7,116
(504)
—
(49,963)
(15,182)
(334)
(2,772)
(61,639)

32,493
190,879
223,372

(457,616)
648,495
190,879

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 December 2021

1.

Presentation of the financial statements

Description of business
Amarin Corporation plc is a pharmaceutical company focused on developing and commercializing therapeutics to improve
cardiovascular health and reduce cardiovascular risk. Amarin’s lead product, VASCEPA® (or in Europe, VAZKEPA)
capsules, is available by prescription in the United States as well as in Germany, Canada, Lebanon and the United Arab
Emirates through collaborations and is also in development in other jurisdictions.
Compliance with applicable law and IFRS
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards (“IFRSs”).
Composition of financial statements
The consolidated financial statements are drawn up in USD, the functional currency of Amarin Corporation plc, and in
accordance with IFRS accounting presentation. The financial statements comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

Consolidated income statement
Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated cash flow statement
Notes to the financial statements.

Composition of the Group
A list of the subsidiaries is given in Note 32, ‘Group Companies’.
Financial period
These financial statements cover the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021, with comparative figures for the
financial years from 1 January to 31 December 2020 and, where appropriate, from 1 January to 31 December 2019.
Accounting principles and policies
The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of certain items,
as stated in the accounting policies, and on a going concern basis.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2,
‘Accounting policies’. Information on the application of these accounting policies, including areas of estimation and
judgement is given in Note 3, ‘Key accounting judgements and estimates’.
Going concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and subsidiaries have been prepared on a basis which
assumes that the Group will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business, as well as the ongoing pandemic, COVID-19. On 13 December
2019 the FDA approved another indication and label expansion for VASCEPA based on the landmark results of our
cardiovascular outcomes trial of VASCEPA, REDUCE-IT®, or Reduction of Cardiovascular Events with EPA – Intervention
Trial. VASCEPA is the first and only drug approved by the FDA as an adjunct to maximally tolerated statin therapy for
reducing persistent cardiovascular risk in select high risk patients. On 26 March 2021, the EC approved the marketing
authorization application for VAZKEPA to reduce the risk of cardiovascular events in high-risk, statin-treated adult patients
who have elevated triglycerides (≥150 mg/dL) and either established cardiovascular disease or diabetes and at least one
additional cardiovascular risk factor. On 13 September 2021, the Group launched VAZKEPA in Germany, representing the
first European launch. As a result, the Group’s focus is on the continued commercialization of VASCEPA under the additional
indication and expanded label as well as the commercialization of VAZKEPA in Germany and preparing for further
commercialization of VAZKEPA in Europe.
At 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents balances of approximately $223.4 million, short-term
investments of $234.7 million and long-term investments of $35.0 million. In addition, the Group has trade receivables of
$163.7 million and inventory of $234.7 million. The Group started making sales in 2013 and the additional indication and
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1.

Presentation of the financial statements (continued)

Going concern (continued)
expanded label will necessitate further expenditure by the Group to continue to commercialize the product and develop the
market.
Additionally, the Group has expenditures related to expanded promotion of VASCEPA (including a larger sales force and
increased marketing expenses) and expenditures related to inventory build. Furthermore, the Group has expenditures as a
result of preparing for approval in Europe, which was received on 26 March 2021, and commercialization of VAZKEPA in
Europe.
Management has considered downside scenario assessing the potential impact of differing market conditions on US
commercialization, including the continuing impact of the COVID-19 virus and the measures being adopted in much of the
world to address it and the launch of generic competition in the United States, as a result of our ANDA litigation.
The scenario, which used severe but plausible downside assumptions, included various assumptions on timing of additional
generic entry and related availability of generic supply in the market, research and development spend, launch of VAZKEPA
in Europe and reductions in sales growth due to COVID-19.
Further detail on COVID-19 impact that management has considered are on Group’s principal risks and uncertainties as set
out on pages 9 to 53 and the Review of business as set out on pages 2 to 7.
The Group expects as a result of these considerations, together with current planned expenditures, purchase commitments,
latest sales information, existing cash resources and forecast of future cashflows over the going concern assessment period
ndipendewhich covered through to 31 December 2023, that the Group has sufficient cash and investments to enable it to
continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due through the assessment period.
Therefore, after making inquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for a period through to 31 December 2023 being a period of at least 12 months from the
date of approval of these financial statements. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
accounts.
In preparing the financial statements, the Group has considered the impact of the physical and transition risks of climate
change and identified this as an emerging risk as set out on page 58, but have concluded that it does not have a material impact
on the carrying value of assets and the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities in these financial statements. As
basis for its conclusion, the Group considered the relative simplicity of its business model (for instance that it has no in-house
manufacturing operations), as well as the limited non-current assets with indefinite or long lives, and the absence of climate
change related liabilities requiring recognition or measurement.
New accounting standards adopted by the Group
The group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing
1 January 2021:
•

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 2) – amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 16 and IFRS 7

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2021
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Company. The Company believes that the impact of these recently
issued but not yet adopted accounting pronouncements will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in future periods, or do not apply to the Company’s operations.
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Accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (and its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income, or OCI, are attributed to the equity holders of the parent
of the Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. Certain numbers
presented throughout this document may not add precisely to the totals provided due to rounding. Absolute and percentage
changes are calculated using the underlying amounts in thousands.
Group undertakings during the year had the following nature of business:
Trading company: Amarin Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited
Research and development company: Amarin Pharma, Inc.
Support services companies: Amarin Switzerland GmbH; Amarin Germany GmbH; Amarin France SAS; Amarin
UK Limited & Amarin Italy S.r.l
Dormant companies: Ester Neurosciences Limited
All of the above listed companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries and included in the consolidated financial statements of
Amarin Corporation plc. Amarin Neuroscience Limited was placed into liquidation on 29 December 2020 and it was dissolved
in January 2021.
See Note 32 for further information on the investment of the Company in its subsidiaries.
(b) Intangible assets and research and development expenditure
In-process research and development
Acquired in-process research and development, or IPR&D, is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairments.
Acquired IPR&D arising on acquisitions is capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
economic life, which is the patent life of the intangible asset. The useful economic life commences upon generation of
economic benefits relating to the acquired IPR&D.
Cost is defined as the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid, or the fair value of other consideration given. When IPR&D
is acquired and the consideration is settled using the Group’s equity instruments, the IPR&D is stated at fair value at the date
of acquisition. In cases where the fair value of the IPR&D acquired cannot be measured reliably, the fair value capitalized at
the date of acquisition is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted as consideration.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(b) Intangible assets and research and development expenditure (continued)
In-process research and development (continued)
Intangible assets not yet available for use are not subject to amortization but are tested for impairment at least annually. An
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows obtainable as a result of the asset’s continued use.
Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s research and development activities conducted to provide
evidence of product efficacy is recognized only if all of the following conditions are met:
•
•
•

an asset is created that can be identified;
it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Where no internallygenerated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditure is recognized as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred. To date, all research and development costs have been written off as incurred and are included within operating
expenses. Research and development costs include staff costs, professional and contractor fees and external services.
Capitalization of technological rights
Technological rights arising from the Group’s research and development activities are recognized as it is probable that the
asset created will generate future economic benefits.
Impairment of intangible assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows
that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there
is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(b) Intangible assets and research and development expenditure (continued)
Amortization of intangible assets
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
Capitalized research and development costs are amortized over the period over which the company is expected to benefit.
This period has been estimated to be an average of 10.4 years. Computer software is also held as an intangible asset and has
an estimated economic life of three to five years. The company assesses the appropriateness of the economic life at each
reporting period.
Licenses and other intangible assets
Separately acquired licenses and other intangible assets are shown at historical cost. Licenses and other intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Licenses and other intangible assets
have a finite life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization commences when the asset is available
for use and is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.
(c) Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results
and financial position of each Group company are expressed in U.S. dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company,
and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance
sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
•

exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use,
which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

•

exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see below under financial
instruments/hedge accounting); and

•

exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation), which are
recognized initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss or partial disposal of
the net investment.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currencies (continued)
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (attributable to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a jointly controlled
entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that includes foreign operation), all
of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
(d) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to the
income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the value of
assets to their residual value over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Short leasehold
Fixtures and fittings
Computer equipment

2 to 5 years
5 years
3 to 5 years

(e) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, which
approximates to fair value given the short term nature of these liabilities.
(f) Leases
For any new contracts the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part
of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.
To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations:
•

whether the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group.

•

whether the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(f) Leases (continued)

•

whether the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use.

At lease commencement date, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The rightof-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease
payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).
The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for
impairment when such indicators exist. At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value
of the lease payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available
or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured
to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is
remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is
already reduced to zero.
The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead
of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been included as a separate category in non-current assets and
as a lease liability, under current and non-current liabilities.
(g) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through OCI, and
fair value through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.
Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
• Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
• Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (equity instruments)
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following
conditions are met:
•
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(g) Financial assets
•
•

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest, or EIR, method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.
The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost includes trade receivables and financial investments (long-term and shortterm).
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
Aside from this note, other disclosures relating to impairment of financial assets (trade receivables) are included in Note 2.
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses, or ECLs, for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. ECL risk on intercompany loans has been assessed as immaterial
probability of default.
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(h) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts.
Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
Loans and borrowings
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. This category
generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement
of profit or loss.
(i) Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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(i) Current and deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realized based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in
the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive income, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Uncertain Tax Position
Where an uncertain tax position is identified, management will make a judgement as to what the probable outcome will be.
Where it is assessed that an economic outflow is probable to arise a provision is made for the best estimate of the liability.
(j) Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the Group’s
obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or when
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes termination benefits at the
earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity
recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations benefits. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.
Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Details
regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in Note 26.
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(j) Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each balance sheet date,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-marketbased vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimate, if any, is recognized in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves.
Save As You Earn (SAYE) share options granted to employees are treated as cancelled when employees cease to contribute
to the scheme. This results in accelerated recognition of the expenses that would have arisen over the remainder of the original
vesting period.
For cash-settled shared-based payments, a liability is recognized for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the
fair value of the liability. At each balance sheet date until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of
the liability is re-measured, with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the year.
(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and, for the purposes of the cash flow statement, bank overdrafts are included
within cash and cash equivalents. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
(l) Provisions and contingencies
A provision is recognized in the balance sheet when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and it is reliably measured.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Included in provisions are onerous contracts.
A contingent liability is disclosed where the existence of the obligation is considered more than remote.
Contingent consideration payable under collaborative agreements is recognized when it is probable that any cash flow of
economic benefit will be required and can be measured reliably. Payments relating to the funding of research are expensed
and payments relating to the acquisition of an asset are capitalized. Provisions are re-measured at each balance sheet date
based on the best estimate of the settlement amount.
(m) Finance income and costs
Finance income comprises interest income on cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments and foreign
currency gains on financing activities. Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest
method.
Finance costs comprise foreign currency losses incurred on financing activity, impairment losses on financial assets and
borrowing costs. Borrowing costs are allocated to financial reporting periods over the effective life of the related borrowings
using the effective interest method.
(n) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share, or EPS, data for its own ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
124

AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
2.

Accounting policies (continued)

(n) Earnings per share (continued)
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise convertible debentures, share options and warrants granted. If the number of ordinary or potential
ordinary shares outstanding increases as a result of a capitalization, bonus issue or share split, or decreases as a result of a
reverse share split, the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all periods presented shall be adjusted
retrospectively. If these changes occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are authorized for issue,
the per share calculations for those and any prior period financial statements presented shall be based on the new number of
shares.
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in either providing related products or services which
is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Chief Operating Decision-Maker has been
identified as our Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined that commercialization of VASCEPA is the one
operating segment.
(p) Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve comprises deferred shares previously in issue which were cancelled.
(q) Patent costs
The Group undertakes to protect its intellectual property using patent applications. Costs associated with such applications
are written off as incurred where they relate to ongoing development expenditure that is also not capitalized. Acquired patent
costs arising on acquisitions are capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives.
The useful economic life commences upon generation of economic benefits relating to the acquired patent.
(r) Inventory
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The Company capitalizes inventory purchases of saleable
product from approved suppliers. Cost is determined based on actual cost. An allowance is established when management
determines that certain inventory may not be saleable. If inventory cost exceeds net realizable value due to obsolescence or
quantities in excess of expected demand, the Company will record a provision for the difference between cost and net
realizable value.
(s) Revenue recognition
The Company sells VASCEPA principally to a limited number of major wholesalers, as well as selected regional wholesalers
and specialty pharmacy providers, or collectively, its Distributors, that in turn resell VASCEPA to retail pharmacies for
subsequent resale to patients and healthcare providers. Patients are required to have a prescription in order to purchase
VASCEPA. In accordance with IFRS 15, revenue is recognized when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflect the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.
The Company has contracts with its primary Distributors and delivery occurs when a Distributor receives VASCEPA. The
Company evaluates the creditworthiness of each of its Distributors to determine whether revenues can be recognized upon
delivery, subject to satisfaction of the other requirements, or whether recognition is required to be delayed until receipt of
payment or when the product is utilized. In order to determine the transaction price, the Company must be able to (i) calculate
its gross product revenues from the sales to Distributors and (ii) reasonably estimate its net product revenues. The Company
calculates gross product revenues based on the wholesale acquisition cost that the Company charges its Distributors for
VASCEPA. The Company estimates its net product revenues by deducting from its gross product revenues (a) trade
allowances, such as invoice discounts for prompt payment and distributor fees, (b) estimated government and private payor
rebates, chargebacks and discounts, such as Medicaid reimbursements, (c) reserves for expected product returns and (d)
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(s) Revenue recognition (continued)
estimated costs of incentives offered to certain indirect customers, including patients.
Trade Allowances: The Company generally provides invoice discounts on VASCEPA sales to its Distributors for
prompt payment and pays fees for distribution services, such as fees for certain data that Distributors provide to the Company.
The payment terms for sales to Distributors generally include a 2-3% discount for payment within 30 days while the fees for
distribution services are based on contractual rates agreed with the respective Distributors. Based on judgement and
experience, the Company expects its Distributors to earn these discounts and fees, and deducts the full amount of these
discounts and fees from its gross product revenues and accounts receivable at the time such revenues are recognized.
Rebates, Chargebacks and Discounts: The Company contracts with Medicaid, Medicare, other government agencies
and various private organizations, or collectively, Third-party Payors, so that VASCEPA will be eligible for purchase by, or
partial or full reimbursement from, such Third-party Payors. The Company estimates the rebates, chargebacks and discounts
it will provide to Third-party Payors and deducts these estimated amounts from its gross product revenues at the time the
revenues are recognized. The Company estimates the rebates, chargebacks and discounts that it will provide to Third-party
Payors based upon (i) the Company’s contracts with these Third-party Payors, (ii) the government-mandated discounts
applicable to government-funded programs, (iii) information obtained from the Company’s Distributors and (iv) information
obtained from other third parties regarding the payor mix for VASCEPA.
Product Returns: The Company’s Distributors have the right to return unopened unprescribed VASCEPA during the
18-month period beginning six months prior to the labelled expiration date and ending twelve months after the labelled
expiration date. The expiration date for VASCEPA 1-gram and 0.5-gram size capsules is currently four years and three years,
respectively, after it has been converted into capsule form, which is the last step in the manufacturing process for VASCEPA
and generally occurs within a few months before VASCEPA is delivered to Distributors. As of 31 December 2021, the
Company had experienced a de minimis quantity of product returns.
The Company estimates future product returns on sales of VASCEPA based on: (i) data provided to the Company by its
Distributors (including weekly reporting of Distributors’ sales and inventory held by Distributors that provided the Company
with visibility into the distribution channel in order to determine what quantities were sold to retail pharmacies and other
providers), (ii) information provided to the Company from retail pharmacies, (iii) data provided to the Company by a thirdparty data provider which collects and publishes prescription data, and other third parties, (iv) historical industry information
regarding return rates for similar pharmaceutical products, (v) the estimated remaining shelf life of VASCEPA previously
shipped and currently being shipped to Distributors and (vi) contractual agreements intended to limit the amount of inventory
maintained by the Company’s Distributors.
Other Incentives: Other incentives that the Company offers to indirect customers include co-pay mitigation rebates
provided by the Company to commercially insured patients who have coverage for VASCEPA and who reside in states that
permit co-pay mitigation programs. The Company’s co-pay mitigation program is intended to reduce each participating
patient’s portion of the financial responsibility for VASCEPA’s purchase price to a specified dollar amount. Based upon the
terms of the program and information regarding programs provided for similar specialty pharmaceutical products, the
Company estimates the average co-pay mitigation amounts and the percentage of patients that it expects to participate in the
program in order to establish its accruals for co-pay mitigation rebates and deducts these estimated amounts from its gross
product revenues at the time the revenues are recognized. The Company adjusts its accruals for co-pay mitigation rebates
based on actual redemption activity and estimates regarding the portion of issued co-pay mitigation rebates that it estimates
will be redeemed.
The following table summarizes activity in each of the net product revenue allowance and reserve categories described
above for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:
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(s) Revenue recognition (continued)
Rebates,
Trade
Chargebacks
Allowances and Discounts
In thousands
Balance as of January 1, 2020
$
29,261 $
90,997
Provision related to current period sales
132,881
621,937
Provision related to prior period sales
—
(3,872)
Credits/payments made for current period sales
(96,834)
(482,254)
Credits/payments made for prior period sales
(29,066)
(85,608)
Balance as of December 31, 2020
36,242
141,200
Provision related to current period sales
121,378
684,010
Provision related to prior period sales
—
(2,034)
Credits/payments made for current period sales
(36,473)
(504,210)
Credits/payments made for prior period sales
(34,511)
(134,210)
Balance as of December 31, 2021
$
86,636 $
184,756

Product
Other
Returns Incentives
$ 4,579 $
3,720 $
3,543
64,452
—
—
—
(58,911)
(324)
(3,677)
7,798
5,584
1,531
45,501
—
—
—
(42,754)
(1,240)
(5,586)
$ 8,089 $
2,745 $

Total
128,557
822,813
(3,872)
(637,999)
(118,675)
190,824
852,420
(2,034)
(583,437)
(175,547)
282,226

Such net product revenue allowances and reserves are included within accrued expenses and other current liabilities within
the consolidated balance sheets, with the exception of trade allowances and chargebacks, which are included within accounts
receivable, net as discussed below.
Multiple-Element Arrangements and Licensing Revenue
When evaluating multiple-element arrangements, the Company identifies the deliverables included within the agreement and
evaluates which deliverables represent separate units of accounting based on whether the delivered element has stand-alone
value to the customer or if the arrangement includes a general right of return for delivered items.
The consideration received is allocated between each of the separable elements in the arrangement using the relative selling
price method. The selling price used for each separable element will be based on vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE,
if available, third-party evidence if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling price if neither VSOE nor third-party evidence
is available. Revenue is then recognized as each of the separable elements to which the revenue has been allocated is delivered.
The Company may receive up-front, non-refundable payments when licensing its intellectual property in conjunction with
research, development and commercialization agreements. In determining the units of accounting, management evaluates
whether the license has stand-alone value from the undelivered elements to the collaborative partner based on the
consideration of the relevant facts and circumstances for each arrangement. Factors considered in this determination include
the stage of development of the license delivered, research and development capabilities of the partner and the ability of
partners to develop and commercialize VASCEPA independent of the Company.
When management believes the license to its intellectual property does not have stand-alone value from the other deliverables
to be provided in the arrangement, the Company generally recognizes revenue attributable to the license over the Company’s
contractual or estimated performance period. Any unrecognized portion of license revenue is classified within contract
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. When management believes the license to its intellectual property
has stand-alone value, the Company recognizes revenue attributed to the license upon delivery. The periods over which
revenue is recognized is subject to estimates by management and may change over the course of the agreement. Such a change
could have a material impact on the amount of revenue the Company records in future periods.
Milestones
Contingent consideration from activities that is earned upon the achievement of a substantive milestone is recognized in its
entirety in the period in which the milestone is achieved. At the inception of each arrangement that includes milestone
payments, the Company evaluates whether each milestone is substantive. This evaluation includes an assessment of whether:
(a) the consideration is commensurate with either (1) the entity’s performance to achieve the milestone, or (2) the enhancement
of the value of the delivered item(s) as a result of a specific outcome resulting from the entity’s performance to achieve the
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(s) Revenue recognition (continued)
milestone, (b) the consideration relates solely to past performance and (c) the consideration is reasonable relative to all of the
deliverables and payment terms within the arrangement. The Company evaluates factors such as the scientific, clinical,
regulatory, commercial and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the respective milestone, the level of effort and
investment required and whether the milestone consideration is reasonable relative to all deliverables and payment terms in
the arrangement in making this assessment.
(t) Distribution Costs
The Company records distribution costs related to shipping product to its customers, primarily through the use of common
carriers or external distribution services, in cost of goods sold.
(u) Costs for Patent Litigation and Legal Proceedings
Costs for patent litigation or other legal proceedings are expensed as incurred and included in selling, general and
administrative expenses.
(v) Concentration of Suppliers
The Company has contractual freedom to source the API for VASCEPA and to procure other services supporting its supply
chain and has entered into long-term supply agreements with multiple FDA-approved API suppliers and encapsulators.
The Company cannot provide assurance that its efforts to procure uninterrupted supply of VASCEPA to meet market demand
will continue to be successful or that it will be able to renew current supply agreements on favorable terms or at all. Significant
alteration to or termination of the Company’s current supply chain or its failure to enter into new and similar agreements in a
timely fashion, if needed, could have a material adverse effect on its business, condition (financial and other), prospects or
results of operations.
The Company currently has manufacturing agreements with multiple independent FDA-approved API manufacturers and
several independent FDA-approved API encapsulators and packagers for VASCEPA manufacturing. Each of these companies
has qualified and validated its manufacturing processes and is capable of manufacturing VASCEPA. There can be no
guarantee that these or other suppliers with which the Company may contract in the future to manufacture VASCEPA will
remain qualified to do so to its specifications or that these and any future suppliers will have the manufacturing capacity to
meet anticipated demand for VASCEPA.
(w) Equity Reserves
The equity reserves recorded in the Group’s Statement of Financial Position include:
Share-based payment Reserves: This item includes reserves related to the issuance of shares related to the exercise of share
options.
Capital Redemption Reserve: This item includes deferred shares previously in issue, which were cancelled.
Foreign currency translation Reserve: This item is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations.
Preference shares: This item includes convertible preference shares in issue.
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(x) Classification as liability or equity
The fundamental principle of IAS 32 is that a financial instrument should be classified as either a financial liability or an
equity instrument according to the substance of the contract, not its legal form, and the definitions of financial liability and
equity instrument. The company makes the decision at the time the instrument is initially recognized. The classification is not
subsequently changed based on changed circumstances.
(y) Preference shares
Preference share can be classified as a financial liability or equity. If the company issues preference (preferred) shares that
pay a fixed rate of dividend and that have a mandatory redemption feature at a future date, the substance is that they are a
contractual obligation to deliver cash and, therefore, should be recognized as a liability. In contrast, preference shares that do
not have a fixed maturity, and where the issuer does not have a contractual obligation to make any payment are equity.
(z) Treasury shares
The cost of an entity's own equity instruments that it has reacquired ('treasury shares') is deducted from equity. Gain or loss
is not recognized on the purchase, sale, issue, or cancellation of treasury shares. Treasury shares may be acquired and held by
the entity or by other members of the consolidated group. Consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity.

3.

Key accounting judgements and estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements and notes,
which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. On an ongoing basis,
we evaluate our estimates and judgements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. A summary of our significant accounting policies is contained in
Note 2.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.
Accounting for revenue
The Group calculates gross product revenues based on the wholesale acquisition cost that the Group charges its Distributors
for VASCEPA. The Group estimates its net product revenues by deducting from its gross product revenues (a) trade
allowances, such as invoice discounts for prompt payment and distributor fees, (b) estimated government and private customer
rebates, chargebacks and discounts, such as Medicaid reimbursements, (c) reserves for expected product returns and (d)
estimated costs of incentives offered to certain indirect customers, including patients. The quantification of such gross to net
sales deductions requires the use of judgement. A hypothetical 5% change in estimated aggregate bottles of channel inventory
would result in a change of less than 1% in net product revenues reported during each of the three and twelve months ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.
Share-based payments
The cost of employee services received (compensation expenses) in exchange for awards of equity instruments are recognized
based upon the grant date fair value of stock options and stock. The grant date fair value of stock options is estimated using a
Binomial Lattice option valuation model. This valuation model requires the use of assumptions, including expected stock
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Share-based payments (continued)
price volatility, the estimated life of each award and the estimated dividend yield. The risk-free interest rate used in the model
is determined, based on a US treasury zero-coupon gilt yield with a life equal to the expected life of the equity-settled sharebased payments. Our current share-based payment plans do not provide for cash settlement of options and stock.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts
and tax bases of assets and liabilities and operating loss carryforwards and other attributes using enacted rates expected to be
in effect when those differences reverse.
We provide reserves for potential payments of tax to various tax authorities or do not recognize tax benefits related to uncertain
tax positions and other issues. Tax benefits for uncertain tax positions are based on a determination of whether a tax benefit
taken by us in our tax filings or positions is probable to be realized, assuming that the matter in question will be decided based
on its technical merits. Our policy is to record interest and penalties in the provision for income taxes.
We assess our ability to realize deferred tax assets at each reporting period. The realization of deferred tax assets depends on
generating future taxable income during the periods in which the tax benefits are deductible or creditable. When making our
assessment about the realization of our deferred tax assets as of 31 December 2021, we considered all available evidence,
placing particular weight on evidence that could be objectively verified. The evidence considered included the (i) historical
taxable profitability of our U.S. operations, (ii) historical pre-tax book loss position, (iii) sources of future taxable income,
giving weight to sources according to the extent to which they can be objectively verified, (iv) the provisions of the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act enacted in 2017 and their impact on our future taxable income, and (v) the risks to our business related to the
commercialization and development of VASCEPA. Based on our assessment, we concluded that all of our net deferred tax
assets are not probable to be realizable as of both 31 December 2021 and 2020.

4.

Segment information

The Chief Executive Officer reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined there is one operating segment based on these reports, which is commercialization of VASCEPA.
Revenue from the Company’s three largest customers, each representing more than 10% overall revenue, amounted to $397.1
million, $382.0 million, & $528.1 million (2020: $409.7 million, $354.2 million, & $536.4 million). A significant portion of
the Company’s sales are to wholesalers in the pharmaceutical industry. In addition, the Company’s revenues are
predominantly generated from operations within the United States of America.

5.

Development, commercialization and supply agreements
In-licences
Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

In June 2018, the Company entered into a collaboration with Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Mochida, related to the
development and commercialization of drug products and indications based on the active pharmaceutical ingredient in
VASCEPA, the omega-3 acid, EPA, or eicosapentaenoic acid. Among other terms in the agreement, the Company obtained
an exclusive license to certain Mochida intellectual property to advance the Company’s interests in the United States and
certain other territories and the parties will collaborate to research and develop new products and indications based on EPA
for the Company’s commercialization in the United States and certain other territories. The potential new product and
indication opportunities contemplated under this agreement are currently in early stages of development.
Upon closing of the collaboration agreement, the Company made a non-refundable, non-creditable upfront payment of
approximately $2.7 million. In addition, the agreement provides for the Company to pay milestone payments upon the
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achievement of certain product development milestones and royalties on net sales of future products arising from the
collaboration, if any.
In January 2021, the Company exercised certain rights under the agreement, resulting in a payment of $1.0 million to Mochida,
which was recorded as Research and development expense in the consolidated statement of operations. In January 2020 and
December 2020, the Company exercised certain rights under the agreement, resulting in payments of $1.0 million,
respectively, to Mochida, which were recorded as Research and development expense in the consolidated statement of
operations.
Out-licences:
Eddingpharm (Asia) Macao Commercial Offshore Limited
In February 2015, the Company entered into a Development, Commercialization and Supply Agreement, or the DCS
Agreement, with Eddingpharm (Asia) Macao Commercial Offshore Limited, or Edding, related to the development and
commercialization of VASCEPA in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan, or the China Territory. Under the
terms of the DCS Agreement, the Company granted to Edding an exclusive (including as to the Company) license with right
to sublicense to develop and commercialize VASCEPA in the China Territory for uses that are currently commercialized and
under development by the Company based on the Company’s MARINE, ANCHOR and REDUCE-IT clinical trials of
VASCEPA.
Under the DCS Agreement, Edding is solely responsible for development and commercialization activities in the China
Territory and associated expenses. The Company provides development assistance and is responsible for supplying finished
and later bulk drug product at defined prices under negotiated terms. The Company retains all VASCEPA manufacturing
rights. Edding agreed to certain restrictions regarding the commercialization of competitive products globally and the
Company agreed to certain restrictions regarding the commercialization of competitive products in the China Territory.
The Company and Edding agreed to form a joint development committee to oversee regulatory and development activities
for VASCEPA in the China Territory in accordance with a negotiated development plan and formed a separate joint
commercialization committee in advance of expected approval in the China Territory to oversee VASCEPA planning and
pre-launch commercialization activities in the China Territory. Development costs are paid by Edding to the extent such costs
are incurred in connection with the negotiated development plan or otherwise incurred by Edding. Edding is responsible for
preparing and filing regulatory applications in all countries of the China Territory at Edding’s cost with the Company’s
assistance. The DCS Agreement also contains customary provisions regarding indemnification, supply, record keeping, audit
rights, reporting obligations, and representations and warranties that are customary for an arrangement of this type.
The term of the DCS Agreement expires, on a product-by-product basis, upon the later of (i) the date on which such product
is no longer covered by a valid claim under a licensed patent in the China Territory, or (ii) the twelfth (12th) anniversary of
the first commercial sale of such product in Mainland China. The DCS Agreement may be terminated by either party in the
event of a bankruptcy of the other party and for material breach, subject to customary cure periods. In addition, at any time
following the third anniversary of the first commercial sale of a product in Mainland China, Edding has the right to terminate
the DCS Agreement for convenience with twelve months’ prior notice. Neither party may assign or transfer the DCS
Agreement without the prior consent of the other party, provided that the Company may assign the DCS Agreement in the
event of a change of control transaction.
Upon closing of the DCS Agreement, the Company received a non-refundable $15.0 million up-front payment. In March
2016, Edding submitted its clinical trial application, or CTA, with respect to the MARINE indication for VASCEPA to the
Chinese regulatory authority. Following the CTA submission, the Company received a non-refundable $1.0 million milestone
payment. In March 2017, the CTA was approved by the Chinese regulatory authority, and, in December 2017, Edding
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commenced a pivotal clinical trial aimed to support the regulatory approval of the first indication of VASCEPA in a patient
population with severe hypertriglyceridemia in Mainland China. In November 2020, the Company announced statistically
significant topline results from the Phase 3 clinical trial of VASCEPA conducted by Edding, which is being used to seek
regulatory approval in Mainland China. The Company received approval of VASCEPA under the REDUCE-IT indication in
Hong Kong in February 2022.
In addition to the non-refundable, up-front and regulatory milestone payments described above, the Company is entitled to
receive certain regulatory and sales-based milestone payments of up to an additional $153.0 million as well as tiered doubledigit percentage royalties on net sales of VASCEPA in the China Territory escalating to the high teens. The regulatory
milestone events relate to the submission and approval of certain applications to the applicable regulatory authority, such as
a clinical trial application, clinical trial exemption, or import drug license application. The amounts to be received upon
achievement of the regulatory milestone events relate to the submission and approval for three indications, and range from
$2.0 million to $15.0 million for a total of $33.0 million. The sales-based milestone events occur when annual aggregate net
sales of VASCEPA in the territory equals or exceeds certain specified thresholds, and range from $5.0 million to $50.0 million
for a total of $120.0 million. Each such milestone payment shall be payable only once regardless of how many times the sales
milestone event is achieved. Each such milestone payment is non-refundable and non-creditable against any other milestone
payments.
The Company assessed this arrangement in accordance with IFRS 15 and concluded that the contract counterparty, Edding,
is a customer. The Company identified the following performance obligations at the inception of the DCS Agreement: (1) the
exclusive license to develop and commercialize VASCEPA in the China Territory for uses that are currently commercialized
and under development by the Company, (2) the obligation to participate in various steering committees, and (3) ongoing
development and regulatory assistance. Based on the analysis performed, the Company concluded that the identified
performance obligations are not distinct and therefore a combined performance obligation.
The transaction price includes the $15.0 million up-front consideration received and the $1.0 million milestone payment
received related to the successful submission of the CTA for the MARINE indication. None of the other clinical or regulatory
milestones have been included in the transaction price, as all milestone amounts are fully constrained. As part of its evaluation
of the constraint, the Company considered numerous factors, including that receipt of the milestones is outside the control of
the Company and contingent upon success in future clinical trials and the licensee’s efforts. Any consideration related to
sales-based milestones (including royalties) will be recognized when the related sales occur and therefore have also been
excluded from the transaction price. The Company will re-evaluate the transaction price in each reporting period and as
uncertain events are resolved or other changes in circumstances occur.
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $1.1 million and $3.0 million, respectively,
as licensing revenue related to the up-front and milestone payments received in connection with the Edding agreement. From
contract inception to 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $7.1 million and $6.1 million, respectively, as
licensing revenue under the DCS Agreement concurrent with the input measure of support hours provided by Amarin to
Edding in achieving the combined development and regulatory performance obligation, which in the Company’s judgment is
the best measure of progress towards satisfying this performance obligation. The remaining transaction price of $9.8 million
and $10.8 million is recorded in deferred revenue as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively, on the consolidated balance
sheets and will be recognized as revenue over the remaining period of 13 years.
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Development, commercialization and supply agreements (continued)
Out-licences (continued):
Biologix FZCo

In March 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with Biologix FZCo, or Biologix, a company incorporated under the
laws of the United Arab Emirates, to register and commercialize VASCEPA in several Middle Eastern and North African
countries. Under the terms of the distribution agreement, the Company granted to Biologix a non-exclusive license to use its
trademarks in connection with the importation, distribution, promotion, marketing and sale of VASCEPA in the Middle East
and North Africa territory. Upon closing of the agreement, the Company received a non-refundable up-front payment, which
will be recognized as revenue over 10 years commencing upon first marketing approval of VASCEPA in the territory. The
Company is entitled to receive all payments based on total product sales and pays Biologix a service fee in exchange for its
services, whereby the service fee represents a percentage of gross selling price which is subject to a minimum floor price.
The Company received approval of VASCEPA under the MARINE and REDUCE-IT indications in the following
countries:
Country

Lebanon
United Arab Emirates
Qatar
Bahrain
Kuwait
Saudi Arabia

MARINE

March 2018
July 2018
December 2019
April 2021
December 2021
March 2022

REDUCE-IT

August 2021
October 2021
April 2021
—
—
—

Launch Date

June 2018
February 2019
—
—
—
—

The Company recognized net product revenue of approximately $1.4 million and $0.5 million as of 31 December 2021 and
2020, respectively, related to sales to Biologix.
HLS Therapeutics, Inc.
In September 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with HLS Therapeutics Inc., or HLS, a company incorporated
under the laws of Canada, to register, commercialize and distribute VASCEPA in Canada. Under the agreement, HLS will be
responsible for regulatory and commercialization activities and associated costs. The Company is responsible for providing
assistance towards local filings, supplying finished product under negotiated supply terms, maintaining intellectual property,
and continuing the development and funding of REDUCE-IT related activities.
Upon closing of the agreement, the Company received one-half of a non-refundable $5.0 million up-front payment, and
received the remaining half on the six-month anniversary of the closing. Following achievement of the REDUCE-IT trial
primary endpoint, which was announced in September 2018, the Company received a non-refundable $2.5 million milestone
payment. Following approval from Health Canada in December 2019, the Company received a non-refundable milestone
payment of $2.5 million in February 2020. In addition, in January 2020 HLS obtained regulatory exclusivity from the Office
of Patented Medicines and Liaison, or OPML, as a result the Company received a non-refundable $3.8 million milestone
payment. In addition to the non-refundable, up-front and regulatory milestone payments just described, the Company is
entitled to receive certain sales-based milestone payments of up to an additional $50.0 million, as well as tiered double-digit
royalties on net sales of VASCEPA in Canada.
The Company assessed this arrangement in accordance with IFRS 15 and concluded that the contract counterparty, HLS, is a
customer. The Company identified the following performance obligations at the inception of the contract: (1) license to HLS
to develop, register, and commercialize VASCEPA in Canada, (2) support general development and regulatory activities, and
(3) participate in various steering committees. Based on the analysis performed, the Company concluded that the identified
performance obligations in the agreement are not distinct and therefore a combined performance obligation.
The transaction price includes the $5.0 million up-front consideration, the $2.5 million milestone related to the achievement
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Development, commercialization and supply agreements (continued)
Out-licences (continued):
HLS Therapeutics, Inc. (continued)

of the REDUCE-IT trial primary endpoint, the $2.5 million milestone related to obtaining approval from Health Canada and
$3.8 million milestone related to obtaining regulatory exclusivity from the OPML. Any consideration related to sales-based
milestones (including royalties) will be recognized when the related sales occur and therefore have also been excluded from
the transaction price. The Company will re-evaluate the transaction price in each reporting period and as uncertain events are
resolved or other changes in circumstances occur.
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $0.9 million and $3.9 million, respectively,
as licensing revenue related to up-front and milestone payments received in connection with the HLS agreement. From the
contract’s inception through 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company has recognized $7.5 million and $6.6 million,
respectively, as licensing revenue is recognized under the agreement concurrent with the input measure of support hours
provided by Amarin to HLS in achieving this performance obligation, which in the Company’s judgment is the best measure
of progress towards satisfying the combined development and regulatory performance obligation. The remaining transaction
price of $6.2 million and $7.1 million is recorded in deferred revenue as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively, on the
consolidated balance sheets and will be recognized as revenue over the remaining period of 9 years.
The Company recognized net product revenue of nil and $8.5 million for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
respectively, related to sales to HLS.
Licensing and Contract Liabilities
Licensing and contract liabilities currently consist of revenue attributable to receipt of up-front, non-refundable payments and
milestone payments as described above. Up-front and milestone payments under such agreements are typically recognized as
licensing revenue over the estimated period in which the Company is required to provide regulatory and development support
and clinical and commercial supply pursuant to the agreements.
The 31 December 2021 following table presents changes in the balances of the Company’s contract assets and liabilities
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

In thousands

Year ended 31 December 2021:
Contract assets
Contract liabilities
Year ended 31 December 2020
Contract assets
Contract liabilities

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Additions

Deductions

Balance at
End of
Period

$
$

—
18,632

$
$

—
128

$
—
$ (2,051)

$
—
$ 16,709

$
$

—
20,846

$
$

—
4,608

$
—
$ (6,822)

$
—
$ 18,632

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company recognized the following revenues as a result of changes in the
contract asset and contract liability balances in the respective periods:
In thousands

Revenue recognized in the period from:
Amounts included in contract liability at the beginning of the period
Performance obligations satisfied in previous periods
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Year Ended
December 31,
2021
$
1,997
$
46

Year Ended
December 31,
2020
$
4,705
$
1,262

AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
6.

Loss for the year
Note

Loss for the year is stated after charging:
Employee costs
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of leased property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use lease assets
Amortization of software
Amortization of technology rights
Short term lease expenses
Restructuring costs
Research and development expenses

7
14
14
31
13
13
22

Fees payable to the company's auditor and its associates:
Audit of the company’s annual & subsidiary accounts
Other assurance services
Taxation compliance services
Taxation advisory services
Other services

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

198,219
277
18
776
10
2,270
2,237
13,717
29,265

216,567
404
174
775
19
1,441
548
0
39,300

1,594
300
7
110
160

1,428
250
7
201
160

In order to maintain the independence of the external auditor, the Board has determined policies as to what non-audit services
can be provided by the Group’s external auditor and the approval processes related to them.
Auditor’s remuneration includes fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP, Ireland and Ernst & Young LLP, United States for the
audits for the fiscal years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Policies for non-audit services
The Audit Committee is responsible for the development, implementation and monitoring of the Group’s policy on external
audit. The policy assigns oversight responsibility for monitoring the independence, objectivity and compliance with ethical
and regulatory requirements to the Audit Committee. It states that the external auditor is jointly responsible to the board and
the Audit Committee and that the Audit Committee is the primary contact. The policy also sets out the categories of non-audit
services which the external auditor will and will not be allowed to provide to the Group.

7.

Employee information

The average monthly number of persons, including Executive Directors, employed by the Group during the year was:
2021
Number
787
26
813

Marketing and administration
Research and development
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2020
Number
952
24
976
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Employee information (continued)

The costs incurred during the year in respect of these employees were:

Staff costs (for the above persons):
Wages and salaries
Post-retirement benefits
Termination payments
IFRS 2 share-based payment

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

163,893
1,911
—
32,415
198,219

164,192
1,702
131
50,542
216,567

The Company made contributions of $1.9 million to its defined contribution plan in 2021 (2020: $1.7 million).

8.

Directors’ emoluments

Salary, fees, and bonus
Share-based compensation
Gain on exercise of options
Aggregate emoluments

2021
$'000
2,337
7,417
5,708
15,462

2020
$'000
1,879
18,168
17,084
37,131

2021
$'000
1,027
1,680
5,670
8,377

2020
$'000
1,361
16,157
11,689
29,207

Total remuneration of Directors (including benefits in kind) includes amounts paid to:
Highest paid Director

Salary, fees, and bonus
Share-based compensation
Gain on exercise of options
Aggregate emoluments
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Adjustments reconciling loss after tax to operating cash flows
2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Income (loss) after tax for the year

10,398

(25,579)

Adjustments for:
Finance income and expense
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of technology rights
Amortization of investments
Increase in carrying value of short-term debt
Share-based payment expense
Income tax expense

640
305
2,270
1,930
—
32,414
3,561

969
597
1,441
1,602
—
50,542
745

(9,078)

(38,144)

3,171
—

(18,589)
642

(167,066)
49,754

(112,095)
114,634

(212)

(201)

Total adjustments

(82,311)

2,143

Cash expended on operating activities

(71,913)

(23,436)

Increase in trade receivables
Decrease/(Increase) in other current assets
Decrease in other non-current assets
Increase in inventory
Increase in current liabilities
Decrease in non-current liabilities

10.

Finance income and expense

Finance income

2021
$'000
1,312
1,312

Interest income on short-term bank deposits
Total finance income
Finance expense

2021
$'000
157
1,197
129
469
1,952

Other finance costs
Lease interest charge
Interest expense
Foreign exchange loss
Total finance costs
Foreign exchange losses and bank charges
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2020
$'000
5,089
5,089

2020
$'000
(10)
1,178
4,797
93
6,058
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Foreign exchange gains and losses incurred during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 resulted from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates on accounts payables.

11.

Taxation

Tax Charge:

2021
$'000

Tax on loss before taxation:
Current year tax expense
Deferred tax provision
Total tax charge

(3,561)
—
(3,561)

2020
$'000
(745)
—
(745)

The following items represent the principal reasons for the differences between corporate income taxes computed at the Irish
statutory tax rate and the total tax charge for the year.

Loss before taxation

2021
$'000
13,959

2020
$'000
(24,834)

Notional taxation charge at Irish corporation tax rate of 12.5% (2020: 12.5%)
State taxes
Tax effects of expenses that are not deductible
Tax effects of income that is not taxable
Tax effects of movement in relation to share based payments
Losses carried forward
Losses utilised
Unrecognised accelerated capital allowances and other timing differences
Other
Uncertain tax position
Change in deferred tax asset
Difference between Irish trading and passive tax rate
Difference between Irish and overseas tax rate
Total tax charge

(1,745)
(715)
(3,318)
130
(512)
(3,814)
7,918
(168)
223
(2,670)
—
163
947
(3,561)

3,104
(745)
(3,211)
2,094
(1,897)
(2,916)
4,462
2,024
216
(5,420)
—
632
912
(745)
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Tax Liability:
The Group balance sheet has zero corporate income tax liability as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
The Group had a provision for uncertain tax position at 31 December 2021 of $7.6 million (2020: $5.6 million) related to
R&D state tax credits for its US subsidiary and NOLs generated by its US subsidiary in previous years due its revised
methodology on stock-based compensation which have now been carried back and utilized.
As outlined under risks in the Strategic Report the rules regarding determination of tax residence changed effective 1 January
2020, when a modified Ireland-UK DTA came into effect pursuant to the OECD’s Multilateral Instrument, or MLI. Under
the modified Ireland-UK DTA, from 1 January 2020, we would be solely tax resident in Ireland and not tax resident in the
UK if we continued to be centrally managed and controlled in Ireland and if it were mutually agreed between the Irish and
UK tax authorities under the MLI “tie-breaker rule” that we are solely tax resident in Ireland. Having made the relevant
submission under the amended provisions, we received confirmation effective 1 January 2020 of the mutual agreement of
Irish and UK tax authorities that we are solely tax resident in Ireland for the purposes of the modified DTA.
Tax Rates:
The corporate tax rate in the UK is currently 19%. In March 2021, the UK Government announced a corporate tax rate increase
to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. The corporate tax rate in Ireland is 12.5% for profits on trading activities and 25% for
non-trading activities. For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company’s tax rate was 12.5%, which has
therefore been applied in the reconciliation above.
Tax Losses:
Tax losses carried forward for group companies at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
2021
$'000
239,038
563,612
—
—
12,552

Amarin Corporation plc
Amarin Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited
Amarin Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Amarin Neuroscience Limited
Ester Neurosciences Limited
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2020
$'000
203,455
639,106
26,744
44,094
12,513
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Deferred Tax Balances:
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances, which comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
Lease Asset
Other liabilities

Deferred tax assets (pursuant to set-off provisions)

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

(3,404)

(2,399)

(1,639)

(1,784)

(11)

(11)

(5,054)

(4,194)

5,054
-

Net deferred tax assets

4,194
-

Deferred Tax Assets:
The Group has not recognized deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The Group does not believe that there
will be future taxable profits against which deductible temporary differences may be offset.
The group has an unrecognized deferred tax asset as follows:
2021
$'000

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised
Potential tax benefit
Temporary timing differences

12.

815,203
135,760
(5,054)
130,706

2020
$'000
925,913
150,338
(4,194)
146,144

Earnings (loss) per ordinary share

Income (loss) for the financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders
Earnings (loss) per ordinary share, basic
Earnings (loss) per ordinary share, diluted
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) – basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options
Restricted stock and restricted stock units
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) – diluted
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2021
$'000
10,398

2020
$'000
(25,579)

U.S. cents
0.03
0.03

U.S. cents
(0.07)
(0.07)

Number
395,992

Number
381,759

4,420
2,068
402,480

—
—
381,759
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12. Earnings (loss) per ordinary share (continued)
Basic
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Group by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. In 2021 and 2020, 6,894,643 and 5,656,275 shares,
respectively, representing the weighted average number of treasury shares, have been deducted in arriving at the weighted
average number of ordinary shares.
Diluted
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) for the year by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all potentially dilutive shares. Potentially dilutive shares include share
options, warrants, convertible debt on an as-if-converted basis, and preference shares on an as-if-converted basis. Since the
Group reported a net loss from continuing operations in 2020, none of the Group’s contingently issuable shares were dilutive.
Of the Group's 29,754,604 contingently issuable shares at 31 December 2021, consisting of 18,493,303 options, 9,277,176
restricted stock units and 1,984,125 shares potentially issuable related to the first European approval Laxdale milestone,
9,925,891 options, 3,764,063 restricted stock units and 1,984,125 Laxdale shares were not included in the computation of
diluted earnings (loss) per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive or because performance criteria were not yet met for
awards contingent on such measures.

13.

Intangible assets

Cost
At 1 January 2020
Additions
At 31 December 2020
Additions
At 31 December 2021
Accumulated amortization and impairment
At 1 January 2020
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2020
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2021
Net book value at 31 December 2021
Net book value at 31 December 2020

Software
$'000
617
—
617
—
617

License
$'000
2,729
—
2,729
—
2,729

Technology
Rights
$'000
20,081
—
20,081
12,000
32,081

Total
$'000
23,427
—
23,427
12,000
35,427

Software
$'000
(588)
(19)
(607)
(10)
(617)

License
$'000
—
—
—
—
—

Technology
Rights
$'000
(4,823)
(1,441)
(6,264)
(2,270)
(8,534)

Total
$'000
(5,411)
(1,460)
(6,871)
(2,280)
(9,151)

—
10

2,729
2,729

23,547
13,817

26,276
16,556

In June 2018, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement related to the development and commercialization of drug
products and indications based on the active pharmaceutical ingredients in VASCEPA. The Company made an upfront
payment of approximately $2.7 million in exchange for obtaining an exclusive license to certain intellectual property to
advance the Company’s interest in the United States and certain other territories.
Upon approval by FDA on 13 December 2019 of a new indication of VASCEPA, a milestone for £5 million was achieved,
which resulted in the Intangible asset increasing by $8.5 million. Upon approval of the marketing authorization application
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for VAZKEPA in March 2021, a milestone for £7.5 million was achieved, which resulted in the Intangible asset increasing
by $12.0 million.

14.

Property, plant and equipment

Cost
At 1 January 2020
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
At 31 December 2020
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
At 31 December 2021

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2020
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2020
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2021
Net book value at 31 December 2021
Net book value at 31 December 2020

15.

Short
Leasehold
$'000
836
253
—
—
1,089
—
(157)
—
932

Fixtures and
Fittings
$'000
1,636
—
—
63
1,636
—
(66)
—
1,570

Computer
Equipment
$'000
290
—
—
—
290
—
(63)
—
227

Total
$'000
2,762
253
—
63
3,015
—
(286)
—
2,729

Short
Leasehold
$'000
184
174
358
18
376

Fixtures and
Fittings
$'000
155
332
487
265
752

Computer
Equipment
$'000
92
72
164
12
176

Total
$'000
431
578
1,009
295
1,304

556
731

818
1,149

51
126

1,425
2,006

Financial investments

The following table presents information about the Company’s financial investments.

Included within non-current assets:
Long-term financial investment
Included within current assets:
Short-term financial investments

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

34,996

62,469

234,674

313,969

We invest cash in excess of our immediate requirements, in accordance with our investment policy, which limits the amounts
we may invest in any one type of investment and requires all investments held by us to maintain minimum ratings from
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations so as to primarily achieve our goals of liquidity and capital
preservation.
Short -term financial investments are securities that have a maturity date that meets the standards and mature in over 90 days
and one year or less than 1 year.
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Long-term investments are securities that mature over a year from the trade (purchase) date.
The Company’s financial investments are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The Company does not
intend to sell these investment securities.
Those with maturities greater than 90 days and less than 12 months are included in short-term investments and those with
remaining maturities in excess of twelve months are included in long-term investments on its consolidated balance sheet.
Unrealized gains or losses on financial securities are not recognized until maturity, except other-than-temporary unrealized
losses which are recognized in earnings in the period incurred. The Company evaluates securities with unrealized losses to
determine whether such losses are other than temporary. Interest on investments is reported in interest income. The unrealized
gain or loss for the twelve months ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 was a loss of $0.2 million and a gain of $0.5 million,
respectively.

16.

Other long-term assets
2021
$'000
174
258
432

Investment in Chemport (1)
Deposits
Total

2020
$'000
174
258
432

(1)

Concurrent with our supply agreement with Chemport, we agreed to make a minority share equity investment in
Chemport.

17.

Trade receivables
2021
$'000
163,652

Trade Receivables at amortized cost

2020
$'000
154,574

Trade receivables disclosed above are measured at amortized cost. The trade receivable balances disclosed above include
amounts which were past due as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 of $72.4 million and $63.0 million, respectively. No material
allowances for expected credit losses have been made during 2021 or 2020. Additionally, the fair value of the trade receivables
is not materially different to their carrying value.
A significant portion of the Group’s sales are to wholesalers in the pharmaceutical industry. The Group monitors the
creditworthiness of customers to whom it grants credit terms and has not experienced any credit losses. The average credit
period taken on sales of goods is 30 days. The Group does not charge interest on its receivables. The Group does not require
collateral or any other security to support credit sales. The Group’s top three customers accounted for 91% and 92% of gross
product sales for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 and represented 96% and 86% of the gross accounts receivable
balance for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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18.

Other current assets
2021
$'000
21,642
4,806
26,448

Prepayments and other
Other taxation and social security
Total

19.

2020
$'000
23,905
6,699
30,604

Inventory

Inventories consist of the following:
2021
$'000
107,695
41,965
206,270
355,930

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

2020
$'000
50,657
30,388
107,819
188,864

As of 31 December 2021, we had $121.3 million (2020: none) of Long-term inventory, respectively, as consumption is
expected beyond our normal operating cycle.
Inventories recognized as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to $115.9 million (2020: $126.9
million). These were included in cost of goods sold.

20.

Trade and other payables
2021
$'000
113,517
1,774
257,441
372,732

Trade payables
Lease liabilities
Accruals and other payables

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company has not defaulted on any of its payables.
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2020
$'000
99,225
1,475
203,815
304,515
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21.

Debt

Debt instruments of the Group are as follows:
2012 Financing
$'000
47,938
4,441
(52,379)
—

Liability component at 1 January 2020
Interest charged
Repayment
Change in carrying value
Liability component at 31 December 2020
Interest charged
Repayment
Change in carrying value

—
—
—
—

Liability component at 31 December 2021

—

Interest charged above reflects both cash and non-cash interest.
Debt – December 2012 Financing
On 6 December 2012 the Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with BioPharma Secured Debt Fund II
Holdings Cayman LP, or BioPharma. Under this agreement, the Company granted to BioPharma a security interest in future
receivables associated with the VASCEPA patent rights, in exchange for $100.0 million received at the closing of the
agreement which occurred in December 2012. In the agreement, the Company agreed to repay BioPharma up to $150.0 million
with such repayment based on a portion of net revenues and receivables generated from VASCEPA. On 20 December 2017,
BioPharma assigned all rights under this agreement to CPPIB Credit Europe S.à r.l., or CPPIB.
As of 31 December 2021, the Company has no outstanding debt as the $150.0 million was previously repaid in full to CPPIB
with the final payment being made in November 2020. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company recorded $1.6
million and $0.6 million of cash and non-cash interest expense, respectively, in connection with the royalty-bearing instrument
(none during 2021).
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22.

Provisions

Provisions
$'000

Restructuring
$'000

Total
$'000

At 1 January 2020

3,711

—

3,711

Additions

5,556

—

5,556

(3,053)

—

(3,053)

At 31 December 2020

6,214

—

6,214

Additions

2,092

13,411

15,503

Amount Used

(658)

(12,225)

(12,883)

At 31 December 2021

7,648

1,186

8,834

Due within one year
Due after more than one year
Total

2021
$'000
1,186
7,648
8,834

2020
$'000
—
6,214
6,214

Amount Used

There are no provisions (2020: $0.7 million) due after more than one year included in payables relating to Kowa
Pharmaceuticals America, Inc. for co-promotion fees, including tail payments, net of reimbursable amounts incurred for
samples and other marketing expenses.
On 22 September 2021, the Company announced a Go-to-Market strategy for VASCEPA, or the Plan, which aims to expand
healthcare professional engagement through a new omnichannel platform, enhance managed care access and optimize
VASCEPA prescriptions for cardiovascular risk reduction. As part of the process, the Company completed a reduction of its
field force to approximately 300 sales representatives. During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Company recognized
approximately $13.7 million (2020: nil million) in charges related to the reduction in force, substantially all of which are
cash expenditures for one-time termination benefits and associated costs, within Restructuring expense in the consolidated
statements of operations.
The following table shows the change in restructuring liability, associated with the Plan:
Restructuring
$'000
—
14,115
(12,225)
(398)
(306)
1,186

At 31 December 2020
Costs incurred
Payments
Adjustments
Other (1)
At 31 December 2021
(1) - Represents the acceleration of expense associated with the vesting of certain equity awards.
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Provisions due after more than one year also include $7.6 million (2020: $5.6 million) of provision for uncertain tax position
related to R&D state tax credits for its US subsidiary and NOLs generated by its US subsidiary in previous years due its
revised methodology on stock-based compensation which have now been carried back and utilized.

23.

Financial instruments

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk),
liquidity and credit risk. Details of the Group’s financial instruments with regard to liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk are disclosed in the following sections to this note. It has been, and continues to be, the policy of the Board to
minimize the exposure of the Group to these risks.
The Group has available financial instruments including cash and other liquid resources, and various items, such as receivables
and trade payables that arise directly from its operations.
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to financial risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and
measured.
Capital risk management
The Group’s objective when managing its capital structure is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Group raises capital through the issuance of shares and debt. Please refer to Note 24 for further details on the Group’s
issued share capital and to Note 21 for further details on the Group’s issued debt.
The balance sheet position at 31 December 2021 is not representative of the position throughout the period as cash and shares
fluctuate considerably depending on sales levels and when fundraising activities have occurred.
Liquidity risk
Our aggregate sources of liquidity as of 31 December 2021 are approximately $490.0 million, with no debt. Our aggregate
sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents of $223.4 million, short-term investments of $234.7 million and longterm investments of $35.0 million. Our projected uses of cash include preparing for approval in Europe and commercialization
of VAZKEPA in Europe, as well as initiatives in the United States for marketing, including direct-to-consumer advertising,
medical education and market awareness following successful REDUCE-IT results, increasing inventory purchases, and
general corporate and working capital purposes. Our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are reflected
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
We believe that our cash will be sufficient to fund our projected operations for at least 12 months and is adequate to achieve
positive cash flow from VASCEPA based on our current plans. This belief is based on our current operational plans and
activities at normal levels, which includes the expected impact of COVID-19 and the launch of generic competition on
operations, and does not assume any cash inflows from partnerships or other dilutive or non-dilutive financings in the longerterm.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. The amounts disclosed for debt are the undiscounted cash flows including interest and hence will
not agree to the amount disclosed on the balance sheet.
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Liquidity risk (continued)
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total
At 31 December 2020
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total

< 1 year
$'000
372,732
1,186
373,918

1-2 years
$'000
—
7,648
7,648

2-5 years
$'000
—
—
—

>5 years
$'000
—
—
—

Total
$'000
372,732
8,834
381,566

< 1 year
$'000
304,515
—
304,515

1-2 years
$'000
—
6,214
6,214

2-5 years
$'000
—
—
—

>5 years
$'000
—
—
—

Total
$'000
304,515
6,214
310,729

Credit risk
The Group are exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by third parties to financial instruments. Credit
risk arises predominantly from cash and cash equivalents, including deposits with banks, as well as short and long-term
financial investments. For our principal banks and institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’
are accepted. At year-end, all principal banks used by the Group were ‘A’ rated.
Creditor payment policy
It is Amarin’s normal procedure to agree terms of transactions, including payment terms, with suppliers in advance. Payment
terms vary, reflecting local practice throughout the world. It is Amarin’s policy that payments be made in a timely manner,
provided suppliers perform in accordance with the agreed terms. Amarin’s policy follows the BEIS Better Payment Policy,
copies of which can be obtained from the Better Payments Group’s website.
Financial liabilities
The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are classified at amortized cost and comprise
trade and other payables, short-term and long-term debt.

Sterling
Euro
Swiss Franc
US$
Total

Floating
rate
—
—
—
—

31 December 2021 ($'000)
Noninterest
Fixed rate
bearing
—
395
—
3,048
—
59
177,549
—
181,051

Total
395
3,048
59
177,549
181,051
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31 December 2020 ($'000)
NonFloating
Fixed
interest
rate
rate
bearing
—
—
395
—
—
2,563
—
—
59
—
—
162,822
—
—
165,839

Total
395
2,563
59
162,822
165,839
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Market risk/interest rate risk profile of financial assets
The investment in Chemport described in Note 16 of $174,000 (2020: $174,000) is measured at fair value through profit or
loss. The Group’s other financial assets are all categorized as loans, financial investments and receivables and comprise cash,
other receivables, short-term and long-term investments.

Sterling
Euro
US$
Total

Floating
rate
—
9,908
127,440
137,348

31 December 2021 ($'000)
Noninterest
Fixed rate
bearing
—
1,528
—
15
225,249
418,852
225,249
420,395

Total
1,528
9,923
771,541
782,992

Floating
rate
—
188
101,634
101,822

31 December 2020 ($'000)
Noninterest
Fixed rate
bearing
—
1,545
—
15
324,044
368,181
324,044
369,741

Total
1,545
203
793,859
795,607

The Group’s principal currency is that of the United States (U.S. dollar), which is exposed to the currency of the UK (Sterling),
the currency of Europe (Euro) and the currency of Switzerland (Swiss Franc). The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a ten per cent increase and decrease in the U.S. dollar against the relevant foreign currencies. Ten per cent is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period-end for a ten per cent
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates a decrease in net loss where the U.S. dollar strengthens
ten per cent against the relevant currencies. For a ten per cent weakening of the U.S. dollar against the relevant currencies,
there would be a comparable impact on the net income (loss), and the balances below would be negative.
Sterling Impact ($'000)
2021
2020

Euro Impact ($'000)
2021
2020

Swiss Franc Impact ($'000)
2021
2020

Net (loss) gain

(113)

(115)

(688)

236

6

6

Total

(113)

(115)

(688)

236

6

6

The balances in the above table are mainly attributable to receivables and payables in the Group at the balance sheet date. The
Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency has increased during the current period mainly due to the increase in the volume of
foreign currency transactions in 2021 as compared to 2020.
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2021, the Group had cash balances, inclusive of investments, of approximately $493.0 million, and earned
$1.2 million in interest income during 2021. An interest rate sensitivity analysis was performed to see what the impact would
be should interest rates increase by 1%, and it was determined that interest income would increase to approximately $5.2
million, when using the Group’s average 2021 cash balance. At 31 December 2020, the Group had cash balances, inclusive
of investments, of approximately $567.3 million, and earned $4.9 million in interest income during 2020. An interest rate
sensitivity analysis was performed to see what the impact would be should interest rates increase by 1%, and it was determined
that interest income would increase to approximately $6.1 million, when using the Group's average 2020 cash balance.
Fair value measurements
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:
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Fair value measurements (continued)

•

Level 1—Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2—Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable

•

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities.

Group fair value measurements at 31 December 2021 using
Quoted prices
Significant
Significant
in active
observable
unobservable
31 December
markets (Level
inputs
inputs
2021
1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
$000
$000
$000
$000
Assets measured at fair value and those for which fair value is disclosed
Cash equivalents-money markets
95,063
95,063
—
—
U.S. Treasury Shares
23,219
23,219
—
—
Corporate Bonds
83,587
—
83,587
—
Commercial Paper
121,773
—
121,773
—
Repo Securities
8,000
—
8,000
—
Asset Backed Securities
8,816
—
8,816
—
Certificate of Deposit
21,553
—
21,553
—
Non-US Government
12,900
—
12,900
—
Total
374,911
118,282
256,629
—
Group fair value measurements at 31 December 2020 using
Quoted prices
Significant
Significant
in active
observable
unobservable
31 December
markets (Level
inputs
inputs
2020
1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
$000
$000
$000
$000
Assets measured at fair value and those for which fair value is disclosed
Cash equivalents-money markets
88,266
88,266
—
—
U.S. Treasury Shares
48,356
48,356
—
—
Corporate Bonds
179,864
—
179,864
—
Commercial Paper
106,650
—
106,650
—
Agency Securities
20,782
—
20,782
—
Repo Securities
10,000
—
10,000
—
Asset Backed Securities
8,599
—
8,599
—
Certificate of Deposit
6,125
—
6,125
—
Non-US Government
5,240
—
5,240
—
Total
473,882
136,622
337,260
—
The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of
their short-term nature.
The Company’s financial investments are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value.
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Fair value measurements (continued)
The carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of debt instruments and financial investments as of 31 December 2021
and 2020 are as follows:

Assets for which fair values are disclosed
(Note 23)
U.S. Treasury Shares
Corporate Bonds
Commercial Paper
Agency Securities
Asset Backed Securities
Certificate of Deposit
Non-US Government

24.

31 December 2021
Carrying
Estimated Fair
Value
Value
$000
$000
23,290
84,166
118,786
—
8,835
21,592
13,001

23,219
83,587
121,773
—
8,816
21,553
12,900

31 December 2020
Carrying
Estimated Fair
Value
Value
$000
$000
48,362
180,580
106,626
20,893
8,592
6,134
5,249

48,356
179,864
106,650
20,782
8,599
6,125
5,240

Equity

(a) Share Capital
Authorised
Unlimited ordinary shares of £0.50 each
Unlimited preference shares of £0.05 each

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares, £0.50 par; 404,084,775 issued, 396,598,008 outstanding as of
December 31, 2021; 398,425,000 issued, 392,538,081 outstanding as of
December 31, 2020

At 31 December
2021
$’000
—
—
—

At 31 December
2020
$’000
—
—
—

$’000

$’000

293,738

289,826

293,738

289,826

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group issued 5,659,775 ordinary shares (£0.50 par) through option exercises,
restricted stock unit vestings, and the employee stock purchase plan, of which 1,203,845 were options exercised, 4,056,644
were restricted stock units vested, and 399,286 were employee stock plan purchases. During the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group issued 4,478,361 ordinary shares (£0.50 par) through option exercises, restricted stock unit vestings, and the
employee stock purchase plan, of which 1,623,460 were options exercised, 2,507,748 were restricted stock units vested, and
347,153 were employee stock plan purchases. The option exercises resulted in cash proceeds of $0.8 million (2020:
$1.1 million) to share capital and $2.1 million (2020: $4.1 million) to share premium. In aggregate, this resulted in a total
share capital increase of $3.9 million (2020: $2.9 million) and share premium increase of $3.5 million (2020: $5.8 million), a
decrease in retained deficit of $21.4 million (2020: $11.2 million) and a transfer of $24.3 million (2020: $12.9 million) from
share-based payment reserves to share capital and share premium. The related tax-withholding on the restricted stock vesting
was funded through the repurchase of $9.6 million (1,599,848 shares) and $15.2 million (975,927 shares) recorded as treasury
shares during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, respectively. Also refer to the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity.
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(a) Principal Rights and Restrictions
The Company has one class of ordinary shares at £0.50 each which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right
to one vote at general meetings of the Company. Under its Articles of Association, the Company has authority to issue
unlimited ordinary shares.
There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general
provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors are not aware of any agreements between
holders of the Company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights. No person has
any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.
With regard to the appointment and replacement of Directors, the Company is governed by its Articles of Association, the
Companies Act 2006 and related legislation. The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the
shareholders. The powers of Directors are described in the Main Board Terms of Reference, copies of which are available on
request.
(b) Preference Shares
In March 2015, the Company entered into subscription agreements with both existing and new investors, or the Purchasers,
for the private placement of a total of 391,017,970 restricted American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, each representing one
share of Amarin’s Series A Convertible Preference Shares, par value £0.05 per share, in the capital of the Company, or Series
A Preference Shares. For each restricted ADS, the Purchasers paid a negotiated price of $0.15 (equating to $1.50 on an as-ifconverted-to-ordinary-shares basis), resulting in gross proceeds to the Company of approximately $58.6 million before
deducting estimated offering expenses of approximately $0.7 million. At the request of the holders and provided certain
conditions were met, each ten Series A Preference Shares were able to be consolidated and redesignated as one ordinary share,
par value £0.50 per share, in the capital of the Company, each ordinary share to be represented by ADSs. During the years
ended 31 December, 2020, 2018, and 2015, the Company issued 28,931,746, 3,886,718, and 6,283,333 ADSs, respectively,
upon consolidation and redesignation of Series A Preference Shares at the request of the holders, such that no Series A
Preference Shares remained outstanding as of 31 December 2021 and 2020. Refer to the Company’s Annual Report and
Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 for a more complete background.

25.

Options outstanding

Further explanations of the valuation of the share-based payments are provided in Note 26, below.
Options
Outstanding options to purchase ordinary shares at 31 December 2021 are as follows:
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Options (continued)

Year of
grant
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

Number
outstanding
217,000
174,596
837,975
2,260,738
1,683,595
1,703,105
2,849,731
2,031,097
2,565,151
4,170,315
18,493,303

Options outstanding
Weighted
average years
remaining
Weighted
contractual
average
life
exercise price
0.38
11.65
1.25
7.15
2.07
2.00
3.42
2.18
4.15
1.54
5.13
2.99
6.36
8.59
7.23
17.11
8.26
14.38
9.17
5.08
6.37
7.32

Options exercisable

Number
exercisable
217,000
174,596
837,975
2,260,738
1,683,595
1,703,105
2,645,599
1,522,268
1,315,253
126,500
12,486,629

Weighted
average
exercise price
11.65
7.15
2.00
2.18
1.54
2.99
8.16
17.06
14.24
5.18
6.81

Outstanding options to purchase ordinary shares at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Year of
grant
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

26.

Number
outstanding
192,366
217,000
176,596
869,231
2,690,013
2,030,441
1,906,642
3,193,409
2,404,177
2,984,385
16,664,260

Options outstanding
Weighted
average years
remaining
Weighted
contractual
average
life
exercise price
0.83
8.57
1.38
11.65
2.25
7.16
3.08
1.99
4.43
2.19
5.16
1.55
6.12
2.99
7.36
8.60
8.27
17.12
9.26
14.34
6.52
8.00

Options exercisable

Number
exercisable
192,366
217,000
176,596
869,231
2,690,013
2,030,441
1,833,445
2,111,618
1,026,903
385,332
11,532,945

Weighted
average
exercise price
8.57
11.65
7.16
1.99
2.19
1.55
2.98
7.98
17.06
18.00
5.46

Share-based payments

2020 Stock Incentive Plan and Stock Option Plan
On 16 March 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, adopted,
subject to shareholder approval, the 2020 Stock Incentive Plan, or 2020 Plan, which was subsequently approved by the
Company’s shareholders on 13 July 2020 at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. The 2020 Plan is the successor to
the Company’s 2011 Stock Option Plan, as amended, or the 2011 Plan, which was set to expire on 12 July 2021, and the
Company’s 2002 Stock Option Plan, as amended, or the 2002 Plan, and together with the 2020 Plan and 2011 Plan, the Plans.
The maximum number of the Company’s Ordinary Shares of £0.50 each or any ADS’s, as to be issued under the 2020 Plan
shall not exceed the sum of (i) 20,000,000 shares and (ii) the number of Shares that remained available for grants under the
153

AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
26. Share-based payments (continued)
2020 Stock Incentive Plan and Stock Option Plan (continued)
Company’s 2011 Plan as of 13 July 2020. If any award over shares granted and outstanding under the Plans expires or is
forfeited, surrendered, canceled or otherwise terminated, the shares may be made available for subsequent grants under the
Plan. The award of stock options (both incentive and non-qualified options) and restricted stock units, and awards of
unrestricted shares to Directors are permitted. The 2020 Plan is administered by the Remuneration Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors and expires on 13 July 2030.
A summary of activity under the Plans for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: Under the terms of the
Plans, options are exercisable at various periods and expire as set forth in the grant document. In the case where an incentive
stock option is granted, the maximum expiration date is not later than 10 years from the date of grant. The following table
summarizes all stock option activity for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Outstanding at 1 January
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at 31
December
Exercisable at 31 December

2021
Number of
options
Number
16,664,260
4,813,388
(1,203,845)
(1,780,500)

2021
Weighted
average exercise
price
$
8.00
5.12
2.43
11.07

18,493,303
12,486,629

7.32
6.81

2020
Number of
options
Number
15,619,123
3,101,214
(1,623,460)
(432,617)
16,664,260
11,532,945

2020
Weighted
average
exercise price
$
6.43
14.43
3.18
15.41
8.00
5.46

During the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, all options were granted at the market price. Options outstanding and
exercisable at the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 had the following attributes:

Outstanding at 31
December
Options granted at market
price
Exercisable at 31 December
Options granted at market
price

2021
Number of
options
Number

2021
Weighted
average
exercise price
$

2020
Number of
options
Number

2020
Weighted
average
exercise price
$

18,493,303

7.32

16,664,260

8.00

12,486,629

6.81

11,532,945

5.46

The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 was $3.80
and $9.67, respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company received $2.9 million in cash from the exercise of options, and 1,780,500
options lapsed. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company received $5.2 million in cash from the exercise of options,
and 432,617 options lapsed.
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2020 Stock Incentive Plan and Stock Option Plan (continued)
The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of options granted:
Years ended 31 December
2021
2020
0.4% to 1.3%
0.3% to 1.8%
104% to 105%
87% to 105%
5%
5%
—
—
5.00
5.00

Risk-free interest
Volatility
Expected forfeiture
Dividend yield
Expected option life (in years)

The fair values relating to all options granted were estimated on the date of grant using the Binomial Lattice option pricing
model. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of our stock and other factors, such as implied market volatility.
This is based on analysis of daily price changes over the most recent five-year measurement and used historical exercise data
based on the age at the grant of the option holder to estimate the option’s expected term, which represents the period of time
that the options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option
is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Estimated forfeitures are based on the Company’s
historical forfeiture activity. No dividend yield has been assumed as the Company does not currently pay dividends on its
common stock and does not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. We recognize compensation expense for the fair
values of those awards which have graded vesting on an accelerated recognition basis. Employee stock options generally vest
over a four-year service period. All employee stock options are settled by the issuance of new ordinary shares. Compensation
expense recognized for all option grants is net of estimated forfeitures and is recognized over the awards’ respective requisite
service periods. If the vesting of certain stock options is contingent upon the attainment of performance criteria, the probability
that such criteria will be achieved is assessed by management each reporting period and compensation expense for such
awards is only recorded to the extent that the attainment of the performance criteria is deemed to be probable.
Restricted Stock Units
The Plans also allows for granting of restricted stock unit awards under the terms of the Plans. The restricted stock units vest
based upon a time-based service condition, a performance condition, or both. The probability that any performance criteria
will be achieved is assessed by management each reporting period and compensation expense for such awards is only recorded
to the extent that the attainment of the performance criteria is deemed to be probable. Restricted stock units are recorded as
compensation expense based on fair value, representing the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of
grant. The fair value of restricted stock units is amortized on an accelerated recognition basis over the service period until the
shares have vested. The following table presents the restricted stock unit activity for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Outstanding at 1 January
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding at 31
December

2021
Weighted
average grant
date fair value
$
9.67
5.07
5.98
8.57

2021
Number of
RSUs
Number
7,710,388
7,724,500
(4,056,644)
(2,101,068)
9,277,176

$

155

7.70

2020
Number of
RSUs
Number
6,921,071
3,459,527
(2,507,748)
(162,462)
7,710,388

2020
Weighted
average grant
date fair value
$
6.34
13.12
5.12
11.72
9.67
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26. Share-based payments (continued)
Restricted Stock Units (continued)
The operating income (loss) for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 includes a non-cash charge for share-based
compensation as follows:
2021
2020
($'000)
($'000)
R&D
4,285
6,909
G&A
28,130
43,633
Total
32,415
50,542
The decrease in non-cash share-based compensation in 2021 compared to 2020 is due to the reversal of certain performancebased awards as it was no longer deemed probable that the performance criteria for vesting would be achieved within the
required timeframe and the reversal of expense associated with the reduction in U.S. field force.

27. Capital commitments
Purchase obligations that have been contractually committed to but have not been provided for in the financial statements as
of 31 December 2021and 2020 amounted to $196.1 million and $326.1 million, respectively. Purchase obligations relate
primarily to manufacturing agreements with multiple independent API manufacturers and several independent API
encapsulators and packagers for VASCEPA manufacturing.
Each of these API manufacturers, encapsulators and packagers is U.S. FDA-approved and certain of these API manufacturers,
encapsulators and packagers are also approved by the European Regulatory Authorities for manufacturing VAZKEPA in
Europe. These suppliers are also used by the Company to source supply to meet the clinical trial and commercial demands of
its partners in other countries. Each of these suppliers has qualified and validated its manufacturing processes. There can be
no guarantee that these or other suppliers with which the Company may contract in the future to manufacture VASCEPA or
VASCEPA API will remain qualified to do so to its specifications or that these and any future suppliers will have the
manufacturing capacity to meet potential global demand for VASCEPA.
These agreements include annual purchase levels enabling Amarin to maintain supply exclusivity with each respective
supplier, and to prevent potential termination of the agreements. The agreements also include a provision that any shortfall in
the minimum purchase commitments is payable in cash.
Under the 2004 share repurchase agreement with Laxdale Limited, or Laxdale, upon receipt of marketing approval in Europe
for the first indication for VASCEPA (or first indication of any product containing intellectual property acquired from Laxdale
in 2004), the Company must make an aggregate stock or cash payment to the former shareholders of Laxdale (at the sole
option of each of the sellers) of £7.5 million. On 26 March 2021, the EC approved the marketing authorization application
for VAZKEPA. The Company recorded a liability of $12.0 million in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2021. Also under the Laxdale agreement, upon receipt of a marketing approval
evidenced through pricing in a major market in Europe for a further indication of VASCEPA (or further indication of any
other product acquired from Laxdale in 2004), the Company must make an aggregate stock or cash payment (at the sole option
of each of the sellers) of £5.0 million (approximately $6.8 million as of 31 December 2021) for the potential market approval.
As of 31 December 2021, the Company had certain marketing commitments, consisting of communication costs related to
the direct-to-consumer activities, totaling approximately $0.3 million.
The Company has no provision, except as noted, for any of the obligations above since the amounts are either not probable
or estimable at 31 December 2021.
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28.

Financial commitments

(a) Short-term Leases
The Group had future minimum payments under non-cancellable short-term leases as follows:

Land and buildings
<1 year
> 1 year and < 5 years

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

242
—
242

295
19
314

(b) Royalty and Milestone Obligations
The Company is party to certain milestone and royalty obligations under several product development agreements, as follows:
The Company entered into long-term supply agreements with multiple FDA-approved API suppliers and encapsulators.
Certain supply agreements require annual minimum volume commitments by the Company and certain volume shortfalls may
require payments for such shortfalls. As of 31 December 2021, the Company has no royalty, milestone or shortfalls in the
minimum purchase commitments related to these supply agreements.
These agreements included requirements for the suppliers to meet certain product specifications and qualify their materials
and facilities with applicable regulatory authorities including the FDA. The Company has incurred certain costs associated
with the qualification of product produced by these suppliers.
(c) Litigation
Litigation – U.S. ANDAs
On 30 March 2020, the United States District Court for the District of Nevada, or the Nevada Court, ruled in favor of two
generics companies, Hikma and Dr. Reddy’s, in Amarin’s patent litigation related to its ANDAs that sought U.S. FDA
approval for sale of generic versions of VASCEPA for the original indication of VASCEPA as an adjunct to diet to reduce
TG levels in adult patients with severe (>500 mg/dL) hypertriglyceridemia. On 3 September 2020, the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit, or the Federal Circuit, upheld the March ruling by the Nevada Court in favor of the two generics
companies. On 2 October 2020, the Company filed a combined petition for panel rehearing or rehearing en banc. On 4
November 2020, the Company’s rehearing and en banc petitions were denied. On 11 February 2021, Amarin filed a petition
for a writ of certiorari with the United States Supreme Court to ask the Court to hear the Company’s appeal in this litigation,
which was denied on 18 June 2021.
On 22 May 2020 and 10 August 2020, Hikma and Dr. Reddy’s, respectively, received U.S. FDA approval to market its generic
versions of VASCEPA. During the ANDA litigation, the Company reached agreements with Teva and Apotex, under which
they received royalty-free license agreements to promote a generic version of icosapent ethyl in the U.S. under certain
circumstances, one of which circumstances was achieved when the Federal Circuit upheld the ruling by the Nevada Court and
Hikma launched its generic version of icosapent ethyl. On 11 September 2020, and 30 June 2021, Teva and Apotex,
respectively, received U.S. FDA approval to market their respective generic versions of icosapent ethyl. In November 2020,
Hikma priced and launched its generic version of icosapent ethyl. In June 2021, Dr. Reddy’s announced the price of its generic
version of icosapent ethyl and launched its generic version of icosapent ethyl. In January 2022, Apotex announced the price
of its generic version of icosapent ethyl and launched its generic version of icosapent ethyl. The generic versions of icosapent
ethyl as approved by the U.S. FDA for Hikma, Dr. Reddy’s and Apotex pertains to the MARINE indication of VASCEPA,
lowering of TG levels in patients with very high TG (>500 mg/dL). As of 31 December 2021, Teva had not announced pricing
or launched a generic version of icosapent ethyl. Current generic competition, together with past and on-going litigation
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(c) Litigation (continued)
Litigation – U.S. ANDAs (continued)
related to such generic versions of icosapent ethyl are applicable to the U.S. only. The Company did not seek, nor is
VAZKEPA approved in Europe for lowering of TG levels in patients with very high TG (>500 mg/dL).
The active pharmaceutical ingredient in VASCEPA is difficult and time consuming to manufacture, often requires
considerable advanced planning and long-term financial commitment, including to manufacturing infrastructure such as
dedicated facilities, to ensure sufficient capacity is available when needed. The Company has invested over a decade of
resources and expenses to develop with individual members of its third-party, active pharmaceutical ingredient supply chain
the technical knowhow, manufacturing processes and related regulatory approvals that have helped enable the Company’s
suppliers to supply the Company’s need for clinical and commercial supply globally. Based on statements made by generic
competitors, the active pharmaceutical ingredient of VASCEPA needed to manufacture their generic versions of VASCEPA
is in limited supply to them. The Company believes all icosapent ethyl generic manufacturers are similarly situated. The
Company believes the limited supply of generic icosapent ethyl may be due to such companies’ lack of adequate planning,
investment, knowhow and expertise regarding this fragile active ingredient.
In November 2020, the Company filed a patent infringement lawsuit against Hikma in the United States District Court in
Delaware. The complaint alleges that Hikma induced the infringement of VASCEPA-related cardiovascular risk reduction
U.S. Patent Nos. 9,700,537 (Composition for preventing the occurrence of cardiovascular event in multiple risk patient),
8,642,077 (Stable pharmaceutical composition and methods of using same), and 10,568,861 (Methods of reducing the risk of
a cardiovascular event in a subject at risk for cardiovascular disease) by making, selling, offering to sell and importing generic
icosapent ethyl capsules in or into the United States.
In January 2021, the Company expanded the scope of the VASCEPA CV risk reduction patent infringement lawsuit against
Hikma to include a health care insurance provider in the United States, Health Net, LLC or Health Net. Through insurance
coverage and economic incentives the Company alleges that Health Net has actively induced pharmacies to dispense, and
patients to use, Hikma generic icosapent ethyl capsules in infringement of the related patents. In the complaint, the Company
is seeking remedies including a permanent injunction against the unlawful inducement by Hikma and Health Net of infringing
uses of the Hikma generic product, i.e., uses to reduce cardiovascular risk as detailed in the patents, and monetary damages
in an amount sufficient to compensate the Company for such infringement. On 4 January 2022, the district court hearing the
case granted Hikma's motion to dismiss. The Company intends to appeal the decision of the district court when permitted and
also to continue to vigorously pursue its ongoing litigation with Health Net, but cannot predict the outcome or the impact on
its business. The Company will continue to consider its legal options against parties similarly situated to Health Net and
Hikma and acting in concert with either by making or selling any drug product or component thereof covered by the subject
patents, or inducing others to do the same. The Company intends to vigorously enforce its intellectual property rights relating
to VASCEPA, but cannot predict the outcome of these lawsuits or any subsequently filed lawsuits
As has been a practice in the generic pharmaceutical industry, on 27 April 2021, Dr. Reddy’s filed a complaint against the
Company in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey, Civil action No.21-cv-10309, alleging various
antitrust violations stemming from alleged anticompetitive practices related to the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredient
of VASCEPA. The complaint also includes a related state law tortious interference claim. Damages sought include recovery
for alleged economic harm to Dr. Reddy’s, payors and consumers, treble damages and other costs and fees. Injunctive relief
against the alleged violative activities is also being sought by Dr. Reddy’s. Amarin believes it has valid defenses and will
vigorously defend against the claims.
In March 2021, Amarin received a civil investigative demand, or CID, from the U.S. Federal Trade Commission and a
subpoena from the New York Attorney General with respect to information on the same antitrust topic covered in the Dr.
Reddy's litigation. Similarly, in June 2020, the Company received a CID from the U.S. Department of Justice, or the DOJ,
informing Amarin that the DOJ is investigating whether aspects of its promotional speaker programs and copayment waiver
program during the period from 1 January 2015 to the present violated the U.S. Anti-Kickback Statute and the U.S. Civil
False Claims Act, in relation to the sale and marketing of VASCEPA by the Company and its previous co-marketing partner,
158

AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
28. Financial commitments (continued)
(c) Litigation (continued)
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Kowa Pharmaceuticals America, Inc. The Company believes such contact from the governments may have been prompted
by a generic competitor. The inquiries require the Company to produce documents and answer written questions, or
interrogatories, relevant to specified time periods. Amarin is cooperating with the government agencies and cannot predict
when these investigations will be resolved, the outcome of the investigations or their potential impact on the Company’s
business.
As has been a practice of class action legal counsel following governmental investigations and litigation by generics
companies, Amarin is also named as a defendant in five antitrust class action lawsuits in the District Court for the District of
New Jersey. Amarin is a defendant in a class action lawsuit filed by Uniformed Fire Officers Association Family Protection
Plan Local 854 and the Uniformed Fire Officers Association for Retired Fire Officers Family Protection Plan, on behalf of
indirect purchasers, in the District Court for the District of New Jersey, Civil Action No. 21-12061, alleging Amarin and its
co-defendant suppliers violated state and federal antitrust laws by monopolizing and engaging in a conspiracy to restrain trade
in the icosapent ethyl drug and API markets. Amarin is a defendant in a class action lawsuit filed by The International Union
of Operating Engineers Locals 137, 137A, 137B, 137C, 137R, on behalf of indirect purchasers, in the District Court for the
District of New Jersey, Civil Action No. 21-12416, alleging Amarin violated state and federal antitrust laws by monopolizing
and engaging in a conspiracy to restrain trade in the icosapent ethyl drug and API markets. Amarin is a defendant in a class
action lawsuit filed by KPH Healthcare Services, Inc., on behalf of direct purchasers, in the District Court for the District of
New Jersey, Civil Action No. 21-12747, alleging Amarin and its co-defendant suppliers violated state and federal antitrust
laws by monopolizing and engaging in a conspiracy to restrain trade in the icosapent ethyl drug and API markets. Amarin is
a defendant in a class action lawsuit filed by Local 464A United Food and Commercial Workers Union Welfare Service
Benefit Fund, on behalf of direct purchasers, in the District Court for the District of New Jersey, Civil Action No. 21-13009.
Amarin is a defendant in a class action lawsuit filed by Teamsters Health & Welfare Fund of Philadelphia and Vicinity, on
behalf of indirect purchasers, in the District Court for the District of New Jersey, Civil Action No. 21-13406, alleging Amarin
violated state and federal antitrust laws by monopolizing and engaging in a conspiracy to restrain trade in the icosapent ethyl
drug and API markets.
Such antitrust litigation and investigations can be lengthy, costly and could materially affect and disrupt the Company’s
business. The Company cannot predict when these matters will be resolved, their outcome or their potential impact on the
Company’s business. If a government determines that Amarin has violated antitrust law, the Company could be subject to
significant civil fines and penalties.
The Company intends to vigorously enforce its intellectual property rights relating to VASCEPA, but cannot predict the
outcome of these lawsuits or any subsequently filed lawsuits.
Litigation – Other
On 22 February 2019, a purported investor in the Company’s publicly traded securities filed a putative class action lawsuit
against Amarin Corporation plc, the chief executive officer and chief scientific officer in the U.S. District Court for the District
of New Jersey, Debendra Sharma v. Amarin Corporation plc, John F. Thero and Steven Ketchum, No. 2:19-cv-06601 (D.N.J.
Feb. 22, 2019). On 12 March 2019, another purported investor filed a substantially similar lawsuit captioned Richard Borghesi
v. Amarin Corporation plc, John F. Thero and Steven Ketchum, No. 3:19-cv-08423 (D.N.J. March 12, 2019). On 14 May
2019 the court consolidated the cases under the caption In re Amarin Corporation PLC Securities Litigation, No. 3:19-cv06601 and appointed two other purported shareholders, Dan Kotecki and the Gaetano Cecchini Living Trust, as Co-Lead
Plaintiffs. Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint, or Amended Complaint, on 22 July 2019 that added as
defendants the Company’s former chief medical officer and the Company’s former chief executive officer. The Amended
Complaint alleged that from 24 September 2018 to 9 November 2018 the Company misled investors by releasing topline
results for the REDUCE-IT study without disclosing data on biomarker increases in the placebo group as compared with
baseline measurement. The Amended Complaint alleged that these data suggest that the mineral oil placebo used in the
REDUCE-IT study may have interfered with statin absorption in the placebo group, which they alleged may have increased
adverse outcomes in the placebo group. The Amended Complaint further alleged that these purported misrepresentations and
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omissions inflated the share price. Based on these allegations, the suit asserted claims under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and sought unspecified monetary damages and attorneys’ fees and costs.
On 29 March 2021, the court granted the Company’s motion to dismiss this litigation for failure to state a valid claim. The
litigation was dismissed without prejudice, giving the plaintiffs the right to file an amended complaint. Plaintiffs in this action
did not file an amended complaint within the permitted filing deadline. Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the motion to
dismiss ruling, which has been denominated In re: Amarin Corp. PLC, case number 21-2071 (3d Cir.). The Company intends
to vigorously defend against any future complaint in this matter. The Company is unable to reasonably estimate the loss
exposure, if any, associated with these claims. The Company has insurance coverage that is anticipated to cover any significant
loss exposure that may arise from this action after payment by the Company of the associated deductible obligation.
On October 21, 2021, a purported investor in the Company's publicly traded securities filed a putative class action lawsuit
against Amarin Corporation plc, the former chief executive officer and the chief financial officer in the U.S. District Court
for the District of New Jersey, Vincent Dang v. Amarin Corporation plc, John F. Thero and Michael W. Kalb, No. 1:21-cv19212 (D.N.J. Oct. 21, 2021) and a subsequent case, Dorfman v. Amarin Corporation plc, et al., No. 3:21-cv-19911 (D.N.J.
filed Nov. 10, 2021), was filed in November 2021. In December 2021, several Amarin shareholders moved to consolidate the
cases and appoint a lead plaintiff and lead counsel pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act. The complaints
in these actions are nearly identical and allege that the Company misled investors by allegedly downplaying the risk associated
with the ANDA litigation described above and the risk that certain of the Company's patents would be invalidated. Based on
these allegations, plaintiff alleges that he purchased securities at an inflated share price and brings claims under the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934 seeking unspecified monetary damages and attorneys' fees and costs. The Company believes it has
valid defenses and will vigorously defend against the claims but cannot predict the outcome. The Company is unable to
reasonably estimate the loss exposure, if any, associated with these claims.
On April 7, 2022, a purported investor in the Company's publicly traded securities filed a derivative lawsuit naming the
same officer defendants from the Securities Litigation, the Officer Defendants, and also the members of the Company's
board of directors, and the Company as nominal defendant in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey, Gary
Schader v. Amarin Corporation plc, John F. Thero, Michael W. Kalb, Lars G. Ekman, Jan Van Heek, Karim Mikhail,
Patrick J. O'Sullivan, Per Wold-Olsen, Kristine Peterson, David Stack, and Joseph S. Zakrzewski, No. 3:22-cv-02017
(D.N.J. Apr. 7, 2022). The complaint alleges, like the Securities Litigation, that the defendants allegedly downplayed the
risk associated with the ANDA litigation and the risk that certain of the Company's patents would be invalidated. Based on
the allegations, plaintiffs allege that the directors breached their fiduciary duties and that the Officer Defendants were
unjustly enriched, and plaintiffs seek contribution from the Officer Defendants for any liability they incur in the Securities
Litigation and for which they are indemnified by the Company. The Company cannot predict the outcome and is unable to
reasonably estimate the loss exposure, if any, associated with these claims.
In addition to the above, in the ordinary course of business, the Company is from time to time involved in lawsuits, claims,
investigations, proceedings, and threats of litigation relating to intellectual property, commercial arrangements and other
matters.
While the outcome of these proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, as of 31 December 2021, the Company
was not party to any legal or arbitration proceedings that may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the
Company’s financial position or profitability. No governmental proceedings are pending or, to our knowledge, contemplated
against the Company. The Company is not a party to any material proceedings in which any Director, member of senior
management or affiliate of ours is either a party adverse to the Company or its subsidiaries or has a material interest adverse
to the Company or its subsidiaries.
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29.

Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2021 or 2020 and is not presently subject to any litigation
where the potential risk of significant liability arising from such litigation is considered to be more than remote.

30.

Related party transactions

All related party transactions are approved in accordance with our policy for related party transactions, which requires Audit
Committee review and approval, followed by the approval of a majority of the Board of Directors who do not have a material
interest in the transaction.
Transactions with Directors and Executive officers
The total compensation of our key management, defined as Directors and executive officers, was as follows:
Year ended 31
December 2021
$'000
5,490
16,767
22,257

Short-term employee benefits
Share-based compensation
Total

Year ended 31
December 2020
$'000
4,685
32,458
37,143

The share-based compensation amount referenced in the above table represents the total fair value of share options and
Restricted Stock Units granted to key Directors and executive officers, during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

31.

Right-of-use lease assets and liabilities

On 5 February 2019, the Company entered into a lease agreement for new office space in Bridgewater, New Jersey, or the
Lease. The Lease commenced on 15 August 2019, or the Commencement Date, for an 11 year period, with two five year
renewal options. Subject to the terms of the Lease, Amarin will have a one-time option to terminate the agreement effective
on the first day of the 97th month after the Commencement Date upon advance written notice and a termination payment
specified in the Lease. Under the Lease, the Company paid monthly rent of approximately $0.1 million for the first year
following the Commencement Date, and such rent increases by a nominal percentage every year following the first
anniversary of the Commencement Date. In addition, Amarin receives certain abatements subject to the limitations in the
Lease.
The carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is $6.7 million and $7.5 million and the lease liability is $10.3 million and $10.6
million as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, respectively. The right-of-use lease asset depreciation charge was
$0.8 million for the twelve months ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, respectively. The lease interest charge,
included in Finance costs (Note 10), was $1.2 million for the twelve months ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020, respectively.
The table below contains information on the right-of-use assets by class of asset. It also contains a maturity analysis of the
Company’s undiscounted payments for its lease liabilities and their reconciliation with the carrying amount of lease liability
presented in the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2021:
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Right-of-use assets
Carrying amount (CU)

Right-of-use
Office Building
$'000
8,278
—
(775)
—
7,503
—
(776)
—
6,727

Total
$'000
8,278
—
(775)
—
7,503
—
(776)
—
6,727

Year ended 31
December 2021
$'000
1,774
8,576
10,350

Year ended 31
December 2020
$'000
1,475
9,153
10,628

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than one year
One to five years
More than five years
Total undiscounted lease liabilities

1,774
7,435
7,201
16,410

1,495
7,305
9,032
17,832

Discount Adjustments
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position

(6,060)
10,350

(7,204)
10,628

At 1 January 2020
Additions
Depreciation
Impairment
At 31 December 2020
Additions
Depreciation
Impairment
At 31 December 2021
Right-of-use
Lease liabilities
Current (in Trade and other payables)
Non-current
Total

The Company entered into a lease agreement for new office space in Zug, Switzerland. The lease commenced on 1 February
2022 for a five year period. Under the lease, the Company will pay rent of approximately $0.2 million per year.
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32.

Group companies

In accordance with section 409 of the Companies Act 2006 a full list of subsidiaries, partnerships, associates, joint ventures
and joint arrangements, the country of incorporation, registered office address, and the effective percentage of equity owned
as at 31 December 2021 are disclosed below. The accounting year end of all subsidiaries is 31 December. The Group
Financial Statements consolidate the Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at 31 December 2021.
Wholly owned
subsidiaries

Country of Registered Address
incorporation
or
registration
Amarin Pharma, Inc.
USA
2 Pembroke House,
Upper Pembroke
Street 28-32, Dublin
2 Ireland
Amarin Pharmaceuticals Ireland
88 Harcourt Street
Ireland Limited
Dublin 2 Ireland
Ester Neuroscience
Israel
2 Kaufmann
Limited
Yehezkel
Tel Aviv-Jaffo
6801294 Israel

Amarin Germany GmbH Germany
Amarin Switzerland
GmbH

Switzerland

Amarin France SAS

France

Amarin Italy S.r.l.

Italy

Amarin UK Limited

United
Kingdom

Description of shares held

Group Holding
Interest (Direct /
Indirect)

100 $0.01 ordinary shares

100%

Direct

100 €1 ordinary shares

100%

Direct

1,320,264 NIS 0.01 ordinary shares

100%

Direct

440,526 NIS 0.01 “A” redeemable
convertible preference shares

100%

Direct

100%

Direct

100%

Indirect

100%

Indirect

100%

Indirect

100%

Indirect

100%

Indirect

1,212,145 NIS 0.01 “B” redeemable
convertible preference shares
Maximilianstraße 54 25,000 €1 ordinary shares
80538 München
Germany
Spaces Grafenauweg 200 CHF 100 ordinary shares
Grafenauweg 8
CH-6300 Zug
Switzerland
3- 5 rue Saint1,000 €1 ordinary shares
Georges
75009 Paris
France
Corso Vercelli, 40 10,000 €1 ordinary shares
20145 Milano MI
Italy
8th Floor, 20
100 £0.01 ordinary shares
Farringdon Street,
London,EC4A 4AB,
United Kingdom

Amarin Neuroscience Limited was in liquidation as of 31 December 2020 and it was dissolved in January 2021.
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33.

Events occurring after the reporting period

No subsequent events having material impact on the financial statements were identified after the balance sheet date.
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(Amounts in US$, in thousands)
31 December
2021

31 December
2020

C
D

809,194
34,996
844,190

715,210
62,469
777,679

Current Assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial investments

F
E
D

997
114,382
234,674
350,053

1,053
106,546
313,969
421,568

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

G

Note

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Financial investments

Net current assets

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Preference shares
Share premium account
Other capital reserves
Share-based payment reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Treasure shares
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Retained deficit

I
I

Total shareholders' equity

(228)
(228)

(129)
(129)

349,825

421,439

1,194,015

1,199,118

293,738
—
1,303,348
139,988
199,446
27,633
(60,726)
832
(710,244)

1,194,015

289,826
—
1,299,880
139,988
191,289
27,633
(51,082)
832
(699,248)

1,199,118

The company incurred a loss of $32.4 million (2020: loss of $26.7 million). Please see the statement of changes in equity
for details of the Parent’s results.
The financial statements of Amarin Corporation plc (registered number 2353920) were approved by the Board of Directors
on 06 May 2022 and were signed on its behalf by
/s/ Karim Mikhail
Karim Mikhail
Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Amounts in US$, in thousands)

At 1 January 2020
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of common stock, net of transaction costs
Share issuances
Share-based payments
Total transactions with owners
At 31 December 2020
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the period
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners:
Share issuances
Share-based payments
Total transactions with owners
At 31 December 2021

Share
Preferred
capital
Stock
268,884
21,850
—
—
18,020
2,922
—
20,942

Share
premium
1,290,726

Other
Capital
Reserves
139,988

—
—

—
—

3,326
5,828
—
9,154

—
—
—
—

—
—
(21,850)
—
—
(21,850)

Sharebased
Capital
payment
redempreserve
tion reserve
153,617
27,633
—
—
—
(12,870)
50,542
37,672

—
—

—
—

(26,703)
(26,703)

(26,703)
(26,703)
(504)
(8,066)
50,542
41,972

—
—
—
—

—
11,236
—
11,236

(51,082)

832

(699,248)

—
—

(32,444)
(32,444)

(32,444)
(32,444)
(5,073)
32,414
27,341

1,299,880

139,988

191,289

27,633

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

3,912
—
3,912

—
—
—

3,468
—
3,468

—
—
—

293,738

—

1,303,348

139,988

—
—

—
—
—

(9,644)
—
(9,644)

—
—
—

21,448
—
21,448

27,633

(60,726)

832

(710,244)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Total
1,183,849

—
(15,182)
—
(15,182)

-

199,446

—
—

Retained
deficit
(683,781)

—
—
—
—

289,826

(24,257)
32,414
8,157

Foreign
currency
Treasury transla-tion
shares
reserve
(35,900)
832

1,199,118

1,194,015

AMARIN CORPORATION PLCrevenue
NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’)
A. Presentation of the financial statements
Description of business
Amarin Corporation plc is the parent company of Amarin, a pharmaceutical company focused on developing and
commercializing therapeutics to improve cardiovascular health and reduce cardiovascular risk. Amarin’s lead product,
VASCEPA® (icosapent ethyl) capsules, is available by prescription in the United States as well as in Canada, Lebanon and
the United Arab Emirates through collaborations and is also in development in other jurisdictions.
Preparation of financial statements
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’.
In preparing these financial statements, the Company applied the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
UK-adopted international accounting standards ("IFRSs") but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with
the Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.
In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following
disclosures:






Statement of Cash Flows and related notes
Transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries
Capital management
The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs
Compensation of Key Management Personnel.

As the Group Financial Statements (presented on pages 165 to 166) include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:
 IAS 7 ‘Cash flow statement’
 IAS 24 ‘Related party disclosures’
 IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ in respect of Group settled share-based payments
 IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instrument Disclosures’
 IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’
Accounting convention and standards
The balance sheet has been prepared using the historical cost convention and complies with applicable UK accounting
standards. No individual profit and loss account is prepared as provided by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.
Accounting principles and policies
The preparation of the balance sheet in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the balance sheet. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.
The balance sheet has been prepared in accordance with the company’s accounting policies approved by the Board and
described in Note B. These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
Key accounting judgements and estimates
Impairment of investments
Determining whether investments for the Company are impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows associated
with each investment. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

167

AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
PARENT COMPANY NOTES TO THE COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’)
A.

Presentation of the financial statements (continued)

Key accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Share-based payments
The cost of employee services received (compensation expenses) in exchange for awards of equity instruments are recognized
based upon the grant date fair value of stock options and stock. The grant date fair value of stock options is estimated using a
Binomial Lattice option valuation model. This valuation model requires the use of assumptions, including expected stock
price volatility, the estimated life of each award and the estimated dividend yield. The risk-free interest rate used in the model
is determined, based on a US treasury zero-coupon gilt yield with a life equal to the expected life of the equity-settled sharebased payments. Our current share-based payment plans do not provide for cash settlement of options and stock.
No other key accounting judgements or estimates were required in the current year.
B. Accounting policies
Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the exchange rate ruling on the date of transaction. Foreign currency assets and
liabilities are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Dividends paid and received
Dividends paid and received are included in the financial statements in the period in which the related dividends are actually
paid or received.
Expenditure
Expenditure is recognized in respect of goods and services received when supplied in accordance with contractual terms.
Provision is made when an obligation exists for a future liability in respect of a past event and where the amount of the
obligation can be reliably estimated.
Investments in subsidiary companies
Investments in subsidiary companies are held at cost less any required provision for impairment. Cost includes loans advanced
to/received from subsidiary undertakings that are considered to form part of the net investment in the subsidiary undertakings.
Investments in subsidiaries also include the cost of recharges to subsidiary undertakings for share-based payment expense
incurred by the Parent company.
Impairment of investments
The carrying value of investments are reviewed for impairment when there is an indication that the investment might be
impaired. Any provision resulting from an impairment review is charged to the income statement in the year concerned.
Share-based payments
The issuance by the company to its subsidiaries of a grant over the company’s shares, represents additional capital
contributions by the company in its subsidiaries. An additional investment in subsidiaries results in a corresponding increase
in shareholders’ equity. The additional capital contribution is based on the fair value of the grant issued, allocated over the
underlying grant’s vesting period.
Taxation
Current tax is provided at the amounts expected to be paid applying tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that
they are considered recoverable against future taxable profits.
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AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
PARENT COMPANY NOTES TO THE COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’)
B.

Accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the temporary differences
are expected to be realized or settled. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not discounted.
Financial assets
All financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through
profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as amortized cost. Bills of exchange and debentures with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity dates that the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as financial
investments. They are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment, with revenue
recognized on an effective yield basis.
C. Investments in subsidiaries
Long-term
receivables from
subsidiaries
$'000

Investment in
subsidiaries

Total
Assets

$'000

$'000

456,934

159,343

616,277

—

49,151

49,151

49,782

—

49,782

—

—

—

506,716

208,494

715,210

Investment in subsidiaries - share-based compensation

—

30,410

30,410

Inter-company loan interest receivable

—

—

—

63,574

—

63,574

570,290

238,904

809,194

Cost

At 1 January 2020
Investment in subsidiaries - share-based compensation
Inter-company movements during the year
Inter-company loan interest receivable
At 31 December 2020

Inter-company movements during the year
At 31 December 2021
Fair Value Assessment:

The Parent Company assessed if any allowance for expected credit losses, or ECL’s, was required for its long-term receivable
inter-company loans. The Parent Company assessed the likelihood of a default event within the next 12 months (a 12 month
ECL) as well as credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure.
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AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
PARENT COMPANY NOTES TO THE COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’)
C.

Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

Fair Value Assessment: (continued)
Having assessed the current value of the forecast cash flows, including the expected expansion into Europe, management
determined for the year ended 31 December 2021 that no provision in Amarin Corporation plc against the inter-company
receivable from Amarin Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited (APIL) was required (2020: nil) as the risk of default is deemed low
and not material. The Company will continue to reassess the ECL’s and likelihood of default events of this inter-company
receivable in future periods. The fair value of the Long-term receivables above approximated the carrying value in all material
aspects.
D. Financial investments
The Company’s financial investments are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. The Company does not
intend to sell these investment securities. More details on the determination of ELC for the Company's financial investments
are available in note 2 of the Group Financial Statements.
Those with maturities greater than 90 days and less than twelve months are included in short-term investments and those with
remaining maturities in excess of twelve months are included in long-term investments on its balance sheet. More details are
available in note 15 of the Group Financial Statements.
E. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The carrying amount of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value because of their short-term nature.
The cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid money market instruments
with remaining maturities at the date of purchase of 90 days or less.
F. Other current assets
Prepayments and other
Other taxation and social security
Total

2021
$'000
980
17
997

2020
$'000
1,052
1
1,053

2021
$'000
90
138
228

2020
$'000
—
129
129

G. Trade and other payables

Amounts owed to subsidiaries
Other payables
Total
I.

Share Capital

Details of share capital movements in the year are included in Note 24 to the Group Financial Statements.
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AMARIN CORPORATION PLC
PARENT COMPANY NOTES TO THE COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021
(including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’)
J.

Legal proceedings

Details regarding certain legal actions which involve the Company are set out in Note 28 to the Group Financial Statements.
K. Contingent liabilities
The Company will guarantee the debts and liabilities of some of its subsidiaries at the balance sheet date. The Company has
assessed the probability of loss under these guarantees as remote.
L. Other information
The auditor’s remuneration for the current year in respect of audit and audit-related services for the Group is detailed in Note
6 “Loss for the year” to the financial statements.
The Directors are remunerated for their services to the Group as a whole. No remuneration was paid to them specifically in
respect of their services to Amarin Corporation PLC for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. Full
details of the Directors’ remuneration are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 63 to 98.
Amarin Corporation PLC is incorporated in England and Wales with registration number 2353920. Our registered office is
One New Change, London, EC4M 9AF, England.
Amarin Corporation PLC is tax resident in Ireland. The rules regarding determination of tax residence changed effective 1
January 2020, when a modified Ireland-UK DTA came into effect pursuant to the OECD’s Multilateral Instrument, or MLI.
Under the modified Ireland-UK DTA, from 1 January 2020, the Company would be solely tax resident in Ireland and not tax
resident in the UK if it continued to be centrally managed and controlled in Ireland and if it were mutually agreed between
the Irish and UK tax authorities under the MLI “tie-breaker rule” that it is solely tax resident in Ireland. Having made the
relevant submission under the amended provisions, the Company received confirmation effective 1 January 2020 of the
mutual agreement of Irish and UK tax authorities that the Company is solely tax resident in Ireland for the purposes of the
modified DTA.
The Company, excluding its wholly-owned subsidiaries, had no employees throughout the year.
M. Subsequent events
No subsequent events having material impact on the financial statements were identified after the balance sheet date.
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